Effects of Internal and External Processes on Water Quality and the Composition of Bottom Sediments in a Reservoir under Monsoon Climate

Dissertation

to attain the academic degree of Doctor of Natural Science (Dr. rer. nat.) of the Bayreuth Graduate School of Mathematical and Natural Sciences (BayNAT) of the University of Bayreuth

presented by

Kiyong Kim

born 12th July 1982

in Namyangju-si, Republic of Korea

Bayreuth, June 2016

This doctoral thesis was prepared at the Department of Hydrology, University of Bayreuth between October 2011 and June 2016. The thesis was supervised by Prof. Dr. Stefan Peiffer, Prof. Dr. Bomchul Kim, and Dr. Klaus H. Knorr.

This is a full reprint of the dissertation submitted to obtain the academic degree of Doctor of Natural Sciences (Dr. rer. nat.) and approved by the Bayreuth Graduate School of Mathematical and Natural Sciences (BayNAT) of the University of Bayreuth.

Date of submission: 24. 06. 2016 Date of defence: 18. 10. 2016

Acting director: Prof. Dr. Stephan Kümmel

Doctoral committee:

Prof. Dr. Stefan Peiffer (1st reviewer)
Prof. Dr. Gerhard Gebauer (2nd reviewer)
Prof. Dr. Werner Borken (chariman)
Prof. Dr. Bernd Huwe

Summary

Lately a large number of artificial reservoirs have been constructed worldwide which lead to growing interest in understanding reservoir watershed systems. This study focuses on the role of in-reservoir and external watershed processes on water quality and bottom sediment geochemistry in a reservoir (Soyang Reservoir), which is located in a monsoon climate area and is strongly affected by nutrient loads from agriculturally used catchments.

In the first study non-point source (NPS) exports under monsoonal climate of nutrients, organic matter, and suspended solids from the agriculturally used Haean catchment, a sub-catchment in the Soyang watershed, were quantified. NPS pollution from Haean catchment is the main driver for water quality in the Soyang Reservoir. Stream water samples were collected at the outlet of Haean catchment and analyzed of nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus), organic matter, and suspended solids from the study catchment for 2 years (2009-2010). The stream water samples were taken separately in the dry and rainy seasons for evaluating the effect of monsoonal rainfall on pollutant export into the streams. Discharge was estimated using a stage/discharge rating curve at each study site. Concentrations of total phosphorus (TP), suspended solid (SS), biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), and chemical oxygen demand (COD) showed peaks during intense rainfall conditions. The annual TP and SS loadings decreased in the streams in 2010 (3,601,173 kg km⁻² y⁻¹ and 3,676 kgP km⁻² y⁻¹, respectively) compared to the loadings in 2009 (24,380,657 kg km⁻² y⁻¹ and 10,741 kgP km⁻² y⁻¹, respectively). The result implies that the decreased intensity of rainfall in 2010, reducing soil erosion processes, is the main reason for the decreased SS and TP loadings. It proves that monsoon rainfalls are the main drivers for export of nutrients into the streams. We also found that government driven measures to prevent soil erosion from the catchment (including dramatic change of land uses) contributed to reducing TP and SS exports into the streams.

Sediment processes and their effect on water quality of the Soyang Reservoir were studied in the second study. The reservoir water, the main inflowing stream (Soyang River), bottom sediment, and pore water of the lake sediments were studied for 2 years (2012–2013). After intensive monsoon rain events, particulate organic carbon (POC), TP, and turbid material were abundant in the inflowing water and in the metalimnion as well as iron (Fe) and manganese (Mn). A turbid metalimnetic layer with high concentrations of suspended particles established during the summer monsoon season. During the summer stratification period, the hypolimnion and sediment became anoxic. Diffusion leads to substantial release of dissolved inorganic P and ammonia from the sediment to the hypolimnion. Sulfate and reduced sulfur concentrations were higher in the pore water of the top sediment layers compared to the deeper layers of the sediment core suggesting that substantial amounts of inorganic nutrients and minerals were supplied to the lake in the last years.

The third study deals with the effects of changes in land use on reservoir water quality under monsoon climate. To these ends the chemical composition of sediments (C, N, P, Fe, Mn, S, and isotopes of C and N) was studied and water quality parameters (suspended solid, chlorophyll *a*, and Secchi disk depth) were monitored. Sediment cores were taken along a transect from the inlet to the dam in the Soyang Reservoir and water samples were collected in the deepest part of the reservoir. Additionally, water quality data from previous studies were used to track historical water quality changes of the reservoir water. The changes of the trophic state and of activities in the watershed were well preserved in the bottom sediments in the Soyang Reservoir. C and N deposition was mainly autochthonous along with eutrophication driven by fish farming in 1990s. The terrestrial input has clearly increased after fish-farm business was terminated as indicated by an increase in soil-borne elements (Fe, Mn, S, and P) as well as terrestrial C. Such increase coincides with an increase in loads of nutrients and suspended solids following changes in land use (agricultural expansion) in the watershed.

Recently, the increased agricultural activity has the most impact on the water quality of Soyang Reservoir under monsoon climate and the effect was well recorded in the bottom sediment of the reservoir.

Zusammenfassung

Seit vielen Jahren wird weltweit eine große Anzahl an Stauseen gebaut. Dies führt zu einem wachsenden Interesse an der Entwicklung von Stauseen im Hinblick auf ihre Wasserqualität. Von besonderer Bedeutung ist hierbei die Wechselwirkung mit den Einzugsgebieten. Diese Studie konzentriert sich auf geochemische Prozesse bei der Wasserqualität und der Sedimente, welche im Stausee und im umliegenden Wassereinzugsgebiet, des Soyang Stausees untersucht wurden. Der Stausee liegt in Südkorea in einer Gegend, die vom Monsunklima geprägt ist und stark von Nährstofffrachten aus dem Haean-Einzugsgebiet, einem stark landwirtschaftlich geprägten Gebiet, beeinflusst wird.

In der ersten Studie wurden Einträge aus diffusen Quellen in das Soyang Reservoir quantifiziert wie z.B. Nährstoffe, organisches Material und Schwebstoffe. Zu diesem Zweck wurden Wasserproben in den Zuflüssen in den Jahre 2009 und 2010 untersucht um die Frachten für Nährstoffe (Stickstoff und Phosphor), organischem Material und Schwebstoffe von dem Einzugsgebiet (Haean Einzugsgebiet) abzuschätzen. Die Zuflüsse wurden sowohl in der Trockenzeit als auch während der Monsunzeit beprobt um den Monsunregeneffekt für die Schadstoffzufuhr in die Zuflüsse auszuwerten. Der Abfluss wurde an jeder Messstelle anhand einer Flusswasserpegels/ Abfluss- Bewertungskurve abgeschätzt. Die Konzentrationen von Gesamtphosphor, Schwebstoffen, biologischem Sauerstoffverbrauch und dem chemischem Sauerstoffverbrauch zeigten erhöhte Werte während der intensiven Regenzeit. Die jährlichen Gesamtphosphor- und Schwebstofffrachten nahmen in 2010 (3,601,173 kg km⁻² y⁻¹ und 3,676 kgP km⁻² y⁻¹ in 2010) im Vergleich zu den Frachten in 2009 ab (24,380,657 kg km⁻² y⁻¹ und 10,741 kgP km⁻² y⁻¹ in 2009). Diese Ergebnisse weisen darauf hin, dass im Jahr 2010 die geringere Intensität der Regenfälle der Hauptgrund für die Reduzierung der Bodenerosionsprozesse war. Dies wiederum ist der Grund für die Verringerung der Schwebstoffund Gesamtphosphorfrachten. Monsunregenfälle sind demnach die Hauptursache für die Auswaschung von Nährstoffen in die Zuflüsse. Ein weiterer Grund für die Verringerung von Gesamtphosphor- und Schwebstofffrachten ist in den Maßnahmen der Regierung zur Prävention von Bodenerosion in dem Einzugsgebiet zusehen sowie dem starken Landnutzugswechsel innerhalb des Beobachtungszeitraum.

Bei der zweiten Studie wurden die Prozesse im Sediment und deren Auswirkung auf die Wasserqualität des Soyang Stausees untersucht. Zwei Jahre lang (2012-2013) wurde das Wasser im Stausee, das Wasser des Hauptzuflusses (Soyang Fluss), die Seesedimente und das Porenwasser der Seesedimente untersucht. Nach intensiven Monsunregenereignissen wurde besonders viel partikulärer organischer Kohlenstoff, Gesamtphosphor, Trübstoffe, sowie Eisen und Mangan, in den zuströmenden Flüssen als auch im Metalimnion vorgefunden. Während der Zeit des Sommermonsuns bildete sich eine trübe metalimnische Schicht, welche eine hohe Konzentration an Schwebstoffen hatte. Das Hypolimnion und die Sedimente waren während der Sommerschichtung anoxisch. Aufgrund dessen kam es zu einer erhöhten Freisetzung von gelöstem anorganischem Phosphor und Ammoniak vom Sediment ins Hypolimnion. Sulfat und reduzierte Schwefelkonzentrationen wurden in größeren Mengen in den Porenwassern der oberen Sedimentkerne im Vergleich zu dem Porenwasser der unteren Teile der Sedimentkerne gefunden. Dies zeigt, dass bedeutende Mengen von anorganischen Nährstoffen und Mineralien dem Stausee bei starkem Regenabfluss während des Monsuns der letzten Jahre beigefügt wurden.

Bei der dritten Studie geht es um die Auswirkungen der Wechsel der Landnutzung auf die Wasserqualität des Stausees in dem Monsun geprägtem Klima. Dabei wurden die chemische Zusammensetzung von Sedimentkernen (C, N, P, Fe, Mn, S, und Isotope von C und N) und Wasserqualitätsparameter (Schwebstoffe, Chlorophyll *a*, and Secchi-Tiefe) untersucht. Die Sedimentkerne wurden entlang eines Transekts vom Hauptzufluss bis zur Stauseemauer des Soyang Stausees entnommen. Wasserproben wurde an der tiefsten Stelle im Stausee

entnommen. Zusätzlich wurden Wasserqualitätsdaten von früheren Untersuchungen benutzt um die Veränderungen in der Wasserqualität in vergangenen Jahren nachvollziehen zu können. Die Veränderungen des trophischen Zustandes des Stausees und die Veränderungen innerhalb des Einzugsgebietes sind in den Sedimenten des Soyang Stausees gut erhalten.

Während der 1990er Jahre wurden im Stausee intensive Fischfarmen betrieben. Dabei kam es zu einer Ablagerung von Kohlenstoff und Stickstoff, welche die Eutrophierung im See ankurbelte. Der Eintrag an bodenbürtigen Elementen (Fe, Mn, S, and P) sowie auch an terrestrischem Kohlenstoff in den Stausee nahm deutlich zu nachdem die Fischfarmen aufgelöst wurden. Dies geht einher mit einem erhöhten Eintrag von Nährstoffen und Schwebstoffen, welche auf die Ausdehnung der landwirtschaftlichen Nutzflächen im Einzugsgebiet zurückzuführen sind. Seit kurzem hat die erhöhte landwirtschaftliche Aktivität den größten Einfluss auf die Sedimentzusammensetzung und Wasserqualität des Stausees im Monsun geprägten Klima.

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out in the framework of the International Research Training Group TERRECO (GRK 1565/2), funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) at the University of Bayreuth (Germany) and the Korean Research Foundation (KRF) at Kangwon National University (South Korea).

Table of Contents

Summary IV
ZusammenfassungVII
AcknowledgementsX
Table of ContentsXI
List of FiguresXV
List of Tables XVIII
List of AbbreviationsXIX
Chapter 1 General introduction1
1.1 Introduction and research summaries1
1.1.1 The concept of watershed process linkages between upland areas and receiving water
bodies1
1.1.2 Non-point source (NPS) pollution in agricultural areas under a monsoon climate2
1.1.3 The influence of released materials from bottom sediments on water quality in a
reservoir5
1.1.4 The use of sediment cores as archives of changes in water quality and watershed
activity7
1.1.5 Research hypotheses and objectives9
1.2 Materials and methods12
1.2.1 Study sites
1.2.2 Sampling and analyses methods18
1.3 Results and discussion21
1.3.1 Extent of non-point source (NPS) pollution throughout an agricultural catchment21

1.3.2 Effects of a monsoonal climate and the release of materials from sediment	to the water
column in a reservoir	23
1.3.3 Potential of sediment core samples as a tool for historical archives	26
1.4 Conclusions	
1.5 References	
Chapter 2 Impacts of land use change and summer monsoon climate or	nutrients
and sediment exports in stream water quality in an agricultural catchm	ent 41
2.1 Abstract	41
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Materials and methods	44
2.3.1 Land use map survey	
2.3.2 Study site and sampling description	45
2.3.3 Laboratory analyses	47
2.3.4 Calculation for discharges, event mean concentration (EMC), and pollutan	t loading.48
2.3.5 Principal component analysis (PCA)	
2.4 Results	50
2.4.1 Precipitation variations	50
2.4.2 Land use changes	51
2.4.3 Variations of water quality parameters	54
2.4.4 EMC and pollutant loading	
2.4.5 Statistical analysis - principal components analysis (PCA)	61
2.5 Discussion	63
2.5.1 Characteristics of agricultural NPS pollution in the catchment	63
2.5.2 Monsoonal climate effects on the watershed	71
2.5.3 Land use change effect	72
2.6 Conclusions	75

2.7 References	76
Chapter 3 Potential effects of sediment processes on water quality of an artific	ial
reservoir in the Asian monsoon region	84
3.1 Abstract	84
3.2 Introduction	85
3.3 Study site	87
3.4 Methods	89
3.5 Results	91
3.5.1 Seasonal changes in water quality parameters of lake and inflowing stream	.91
3.5.2 Porewater and sediment analysis	.98
3.6 Discussion	03
3.6.1 Material input from the watershed during the summer monsoon season1	.03
3.6.2 Stratification and formation of anoxia1	.05
3.6.3 Processes in the sediment1	.05
3.7 Acknowledgements 1	10
3.8 References1	11
Chapter 4 Reflected changes of watershed activities in sediment compostion	of
reservoir system under monsoon climate1	18
4.1 Abstract1	18
4.2 Introduction	19
4.3 Materials and methods1	21
4.3.1 Study site	.21
4.3.2 Methods1	.22
4.4 Results and discussion 1	25
4.4.1 Sediment age1	.25
4.4.2 Lateral differences in Sediment composition1	.30

(Eidesstattliche) Versicherungen and Erklärungen151
Contribution to the studies148
4.6 References
4.5 Acknowledgement
composition and future water quality138
4.4.4 Indicators for a growing influence of external watershed-based processes on sediment
4.4.3 Sediments matching changes in Soyang Reservoir water quality

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Differences of discharge and pollutants in a stream between dry and rainy seasons (photos were taken
in an outlet of the study catchment)4
Figure 1.2 Processes of sequential decompositions under anaerobic conditions (structured based on texts in
Wetzel 2001)
Figure 1.3 Sulfur cycle n an interface between reservoir water and bottom sediment (modified from Holmer and
Storkholm 2001)7
Figure 1.4 Photos at study sites and a satellite image of Soyang watershed (Map data: Google, DigitalGlobe)12
Figure 1.5 A land use map of Soyang Reservoir watershed
Figure 1.6 A contour map of the Haean catchment (with study sites indicated in the first study)15
Figure 1.7 A map of Soyang Reservoir (with study sites for the second and the third study)
Figure 1.8 Vertical profiles of dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), and turbidity (Turb.) in Soyang
Reservoir during a stratification period
Figure 1.9 Profiles of P, S, Fe, Mn, C, N, δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, and C/N ratio in core at site 1 (dash lines divide the
reconstructed periods)
Figure 2.1 Study area and sites (maps of the Northeast Asia; A, the Korean Peninsula: B, Soyang watershed; C,
and Haean catchment including study sites (green circles); D)46
Figure 2.2 Variations of hourly precipitation for 2 years (2009–2010)
Figure 2.3 Land use changes in Haean catchment for 2 years (2009–2010)
Figure 2.4 Land use changes in a watershed of Site N for 2 years (2009–2010)
Figure 2.5 Average concentrations of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD),
total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO ₃ ⁻), suspended solid (SS), and total phosphorus (TP) at Site N during dry
seasons for 2 years (2009–2010)
Figure 2.6 Variations of water quality parameters (turbidity, TN, nitrate, TP, DIP, and precipitation) at Site M
during the 1 st rain event
Figure 2.7 Variations of water quality parameters (turbidity, TN, nitrate, TP, DIP, and precipitation) at Site N
during the 1 st rain event
Figure 2.8 Loadings of two principal components from water quality parameters during rain events
Figure 2.9 Scatter plots and correlation coefficients among water quality parameters at all study sites during rain
events for 2 years (2009–2010)
21 7

Figure 2.10 Scatter plots and correlation coefficients among water quality parameters at Site N during rain
events for 2 years (2009–2010)
Figure 2.11 Variations of TN and nitrate concentrations at Site N during 8 th rain event
Figure 2.12 Areal loading averages of BOD and SS per rainfall amounts in 2009 and 2010
Figure 2.13 Variations of areal loadings of BOD and SS per rainfall amounts during rain events for 2 years74
Figure 3.1 Lake Soyang watershed in South Korea (up) and study sites (down)
Figure 3.2 Vertical variations of temperature, DO, and pH in the Lake Soyang in 2012
Figure 3.3 Vertical variations of temperature, DO, and pH in the Lake Soyang in 2013
Figure 3.4 Records of daily precipitation in Lake Soyang watershed and seasonal variations of DOC, POC,
turbidity, TN, and TP in a metalimnion (20-50m) of the lake for 2 study years (2012-2013)95
Figure 3.5 Scatter plots with correlation coefficient values among water quality parameters in the metalimnion
in 2012–2013
Figure 3.6 Distributions of Fe and Mn in Lake Soyang water during monsoon season in 2013
Figure 3.7 Distributions of DIP and ammonia in porewater samples of the core at St. 1 in 2013
Figure 3.8 Distributions of chloride, nitrate, and sulfate ions in porewater of sediments samples at St. 1 and St. 5
in 2012100
Figure 3.9 Vertical profiles of Fe and Mn in porewater at St. 1 before and after monsoon season in 2012101
Figure 3.10 Vertical profiles of TRIS in sediment samples from St.1 to St. 5 before and after monsoon season in
2012
Figure 3.11 Fractions and amounts of Fe^{2+} and Fe^{3+} in sediments samples from St. 1 to St. 5 in 2012
Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
 Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
 Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
 Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
 Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
 Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012
 Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012

Figure 4.7 Vertical profiles of P, S, Fe, Mn, C/N ratio, C, N, and its isotopes in core at St. 1 (dotted-lines	
indicates presumed dam construction point (lower line) and an assumed boundary line between before ar	nd
after agricultural lands expansion starting point (upper line))12	29
Figure 4.8 Vertical profiles of D 10, D 50, and D 90 values of grain size distributions from cores at St.1 to 5.13	30
Figure 4.9 Variations of precipitation amounts in Soyang Reservoir watershed (Chuncheon Si) and suspended	
solids (SS) distributions of Soyang Reservoir for 2 years	36
Figure 4.10 Vertical profiles of N contents in cores from St. 1 to 5 and St. F	38
Figure 4.11 Annual variations of TN and TP concentrations in a main inflow stream to Soyang Reservoir	
(Soyang River) since 1996 (source: www.water.nier.go.kr)12	39

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Event mean concentrations (EMC) of suspended solid (SS), total nitrogen (TN), and total	
phosphorous (TP) at an outlet stream during rain events in Haean catchment (unit: mg L^{-1})	22
Table 1.2 History of trophic state changes in Soyang Reservoir	27
Table 2.1 Dates, rainfall amounts, and rainfall intensities for each rain event	47
Table 2.2 Percentages of main land uses of Haean catchment in 2009 and 2010	52
Table 2.3 Event mean concentrations (EMCs) at Site M during rain events (unit: mg L ⁻¹)	60
Table 2.4 Areal loadings of pollutants (BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP) at study sites during rain events (unit: k	cg
$km^{-2} yr^{-1}$)	61
Table 2.5 Results of principal component analysis with water quality parameters	63
Table 2.6 Average concentrations (with standard deviations) of BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP during dry seas	ons
	64
Table 2.7 Classification of water quality levels by Korean standards	64
Table 2.8 Event mean concentrations (EMCs) of BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP of streams in South Korea	
(literature reviews)	67
Table 2.9 Event mean concentrations (EMCs) of BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP in streams in oversea countries	S
(literature reviews)	69
Table 2.10 Comparisons with EMCs of pollutants in between the 2 nd and the 10 th event	72
Table 4.1 Sedimentation rates of PON and POC in three layers of Soyang Reservoir	132
Table 4.2 Average values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in various sources in Soyang reservoir and the watershed	
environment – literature reviews and referring personal data (S.D.: standard deviation)	133
Table 4.3 History of trophic state changes and important events in Soyang Reservoir since the dam	
construction in 1976 - literature reviews	134

List of Abbreviations

Р	phosphorus
TP	total phosphorus
DTP	dissolved total phosphorus
DIP	dissolved inorganic phosphorus
PO_4^{3-}	phosphate
Ν	nitrogen
NO ₃ ⁻	nitrate
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	ammonium
С	carbon
TOC	total organic carbon
DOC	dissolved organic carbon
POC	particulate organic carbon
S	sulfur
SO_4^{2-}	sulfate
TRIS	total reduced inorganic sulfur
Fe	iron
Mn	manganese
Al	aluminum
Ca	calcium
Κ	potassium
CL	chloride ion
OM	organic matter
SS	suspended solid
Chl a	chlorophyll <i>a</i>
SD	Secchi disk
DO	dissolved oxygen
BOD	biochemical oxygen demand
NTU	Nephelometric turbidity unit
NPS	non-point source
PS	point source
EMC	event mean concentration
BMP	best management practice
SRB	sulfate reducing bacteria
ORP	oxidation redox potential
ICD OES	inductively coupled plasma
ICP-OES	optical emission spectrometry
XRF	X-ray fluorescence
PCA	principal component analysis
s.d.	standard deviation
d	day
yr	year
hr	hour
t	ton

Chapter 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 INTRODUCTION AND RESEARCH SUMMARIES

1.1.1 *The concept of watershed process linkages between upland areas and receiving water bodies*

Many studies have investigated a variety of inland waters, such as streams, natural lakes, artificial reservoirs, and wetlands in regard to water quality management, water resource preservation, and ecological views (Wetzel 2001, Allan and Castillo 2007). However, many of these studies examined individual water resource components separately rather than looking into them as closely linked, although these components are interlinked with each other. Therefore, these studies underestimated the importance of understanding the entire watershed system concurrently and holistically. This oversight dismisses the realization that streams, lakes, reservoirs, and watershed activities (i.e. agriculture type, land use changes and other anthropogenic activities) are closely interrelated as pollutant sources and reactive environments. Therefore, an integrated watershed evaluation is required to depict the systematic interactions within a watershed. For instance, land use/cover changes in upper watersheds that control soil erosion and pollutant exports from the watershed to streams can alter not only stream water quality within the upper watersheds but can also significantly impact downstream water quality of reservoirs and lakes (Huang et al. 2013, Yesuf et al. 2015). Specifically, the identification of the interactions governing water quality at the watershed scale is required to precisely characterize water quality degradation processes and to construct an integrated water quality management plan at the watershed scale. To better understand lake and reservoir system processes and the effect of bottom sediments on water bodies, analysis of historical watershed modifications and management activities are necessary since watershed processes are intricately linked and integrated across scales.

1.1.2 Non-point source (NPS) pollution in agricultural areas under a monsoon climate

Sources of pollutants are derived from diverse sources in watershed systems, mostly originated from non-point sources (NPS) compared to point sources (PS) (Hu and Huang 2014). For decades, agricultural NPS pollution has been the primary challenge in order to preserve water quality in many developing countries and also in South Korea (Cruz et al. 2012, Sun et al. 2012). Nutrients and eroded sediment from agricultural fields cause deterioration of water quality in agricultural watersheds (Heathcote et al. 2013).

Phosphorus (P) and Nitrogen (N), which are primary nutrients for algal growth, result in algal abundance and high growth rates depending on the amounts (Wetzel 2001). The algal overgrowth can harmfully cause undesirable symptoms in freshwater systems such as algal toxin release, oxygen depletion, and negative economic impacts (Smith 2003). The nutrients easily enter into water bodies through surface runoff on agricultural fields either in a dissolved form or particulates attached to sediment (Bartley et al. 2003). P and N are common constituents of fertilizers applied in agricultural croplands (Vitousek et al. 2009). The excess P and N not used during plant growth processes on the agricultural fields is flushed from the landscape during rainfall dominated seasons after fertilizers are applied on the fields (Gao et al. 2014). The increasing fertilizer overuse beyond crop uptake influences water quality by transporting nutrients from the croplands to water bodies (Kim et al. 2011, Thorburn et al. 2013, Guo et al. 2014).

Eroded sediments are transported from agricultural and forested areas into streams through frequent soil disturbances and land use changes (Miller et al. 2011, Glendell and Brazier 2014, Smith et al. 2015). The transported sediments to inland waters have been considered a major

problem for the management of water quality, causing severe economic implications (Chaiechi et al. 2016). In particular, disturbed soils are susceptible to erosion in mountainous areas with high elevation gradients under a variety of circumstances including: deforestation and high-elevation cultivation vulnerable to agricultural expansion (Vezina et al. 2006, Otero et al. 2011). Construction activities can also cause significant sediment loss (Jahantigh and Pessarakli 2011, Shangguan et al. 2014). Sediments eroded from terrestrial watersheds and transported into water systems deteriorates water quality in a number of ways, including: destroying aquatic organisms by disordering feeding and degrading habitat (Zehrer et al. 2002), undermining recreational uses, limiting light penetration (Tamayo-Zafaralla et al. 2002), transporting heavy metal loads and toxic materials (Bibi et al. 2007, Begy et al. 2016) and attached P (Yuan et al. 2013), and also increasing drinking water purification processes (Mueller-Warrant et al. 2012).

Organic matter (OM) is also an important parameter controlling NPS pollution and water quality management (Molinero and Burke 2009). Human agricultural practices impact the OM content in soils; for example, repetitive tillage and burning of vegetation affect microorganism activity in the OM decomposition process, which results in the change of the OM decomposition rates in soil (Beare et al. 1994, Mills and Fey 2003). Residual OM in soil is eventually introduced to water bodies by flushing through runoff events (Dalzell et al. 2007). Most of the NPS pollutants from agricultural fields are directly transported to stream reaches through surface runoff during rainfall events and the amount of pollutants increases with rainfall amount and intensity (Fig. 1.1).



Figure 1.1 Differences of discharge and pollutants in a stream between dry and rainy seasons (photos were taken in an outlet of the study catchment)

In the Asian monsoon climate region, rainfall intensity and precipitation volume is severe and is concentrated over short time periods in the summer season. In extreme cases, the rainfall intensity is as high as 100 mm d⁻¹ or 20 mm hr⁻¹ causing significant runoff, transporting increased nutrients (Gao et al. 2012), OM, and sediment loads, during the summer monsoonal season. Recently, increased rainfall frequency and intensity as an effect of global climate change are becoming a critical factor to be considered for NPS pollution control.

Recent studies have focused on finding practical and efficient agricultural practices that reduce agricultural NPS pollutant yields under the guise of best management practices (BMPs) (Chiang et al. 2012, Dechim and Skhiri 2013). Among the BMP methods, land use/cover changes have been considered one of the most effective ways to improve NPS pollution problems in agricultural lands because land use changes clearly influence stream discharge and pollutant exports (Liu et al. 2013). Crop changes can also impact water quality by altering management practices such as, the amount of fertilizer used, varying harvest periods, and alternating crops (perennial or annual) (Cosentino et al. 2015).

1.1.3 The influence of released materials from bottom sediments on water quality in a reservoir

Reservoirs have long been considered as depositional storage locations that contain pollutants and sediment from upland watersheds that settle to the bottom of the reservoir. Therefore, reservoirs have been regarded as environmentally friendly and the construction of artificial reservoirs thereby has increased around the world for multiple purposes (WCD 2000). However, studies have recently revealed the role of bottom sediments as internal sources of pollutants and nutrients in reservoirs (Linnik and Zubenko 2000, Komatsu et al. 2006). Studies have also proved that sediments directly impact water quality by releasing internal nutrients at the interface between bottom sediments and the hypolimnion in reservoirs (Istvanovics 1994, Beutel 2003). The fate of these internal pollutants to water bodies depends on the physical water movement within reservoirs (Nowlin et al. 2005). Internal diffusion of nutrients occurs under conditions in which the dissolved oxygen content is depleted and simultaneously a large amount of organic matter is available in the bottom sediments. Under these anaerobic conditions, various substances act as electron acceptors in an OM decomposition process. Normally the anaerobic decomposition process take places in a sequence with reduction of nitrate, manganese, iron, sulfate, and carbon dioxide as the final process utilizing organic substrates in methanogenesis process (Fig. 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Processes of sequential decompositions under anaerobic conditions (structured based on texts in Wetzel 2001)

In the case of N, particulate organic N is mineralized to ammonium (NH_4^+) in both the oxic and anoxic states in the bottom sediments. NH_4^+ can then be oxidized under oxic conditions in the sediment through assimilation processes by benthic organisms; otherwise it diffuses into the water column from the sediments. Nitrate can be reduced by nitrification to NH_4^+ by bacteria in the sediment and can be released from sediment to the water.

Certain interests have focused on the internal supply of P from sediments to the water column due to the clear importance of P as a limiting nutrient in most lacustrine systems (Søndergaad et al. 2003). Under anaerobic conditions, inorganic exchange between the bottom sediment and hypolimnion water is strongly influenced by redox conditions. Diffusion of phosphate from Fe (III) oxides in the sediment to the overlying water column occurred as the compounds are reduced under anoxic conditions in sediments and the overlying water (Perkins and Underwood 2001). Iron sulfide formation coupled to sulfate reduction under anoxic conditions can also suppress the abundance of Fe compounds that can retain the phosphate ion and eventually initiate release of phosphate into water. The transformation of Fe compounds to iron sulfides by sulfate reducing bacteria (SRB) is a main pathway that releases Fe-associated phosphate.

Sulfate reduction in the process of OM decomposition by bacteria can produce H_2S , which is toxic for aquatic organisms (Fig. 1. 3).



Figure 1.3 Sulfur cycle n an interface between reservoir water and bottom sediment (modified from Holmer and Storkholm 2001)

1.1.4 *The use of sediment cores as archives of changes in water quality and watershed activity*

Climate change and anthropogenic activities play an important role in aquatic system changes both ecologically and hydrologically. These changes have altered conditions of the drainage basins, water budgets, nutrients loadings, and water quality in streams and receiving water bodies. For many decades, reservoirs and lakes have been considered as storage locations, which capture sediments, nutrients, and organic matter after the materials are deposited in the bottom sediments from the watershed. Due to sedimentation of external and internal materials, chronologic records of climate change and the history of watershed changes within a watershed are stored in the bottom sediments of lakes and reservoirs (Szarlowicz and Kubica 2014). Generally, reservoirs incorporate a relatively short history in the equivalent sediment depths compared to natural lakes due to faster sedimentation rate in many cases. The record in the sediments ultimately can help us to obtain insight into the history of past water quality conditions, productivity, and human activity effects. The record also provides information about the main causes that governed the water quality in a watershed during certain periods. In addition, the information from the sediment record can be used for prediction of environmental changes in a watershed and can contribute to making efficient plans and policies for expected future problems in watersheds (Navas et al. 2009). Reservoir sediments are composed of both internal and external sources. Autochthonous materials deposit to the bottom sediment through a sedimentation process after it is generated within the reservoirs while allochthonous materials are transported mostly from the watershed. Rainfall, which generates runoff and transported pollutants in watersheds, is the main factor to govern the amount of allochthonous materials to lacustrine systems. Evaluation of historical changes in a watershed system through sediment studies requires an accurate determination of sedimentation rates. Sediment dating techniques are a useful tool to reconstruct the historical changes within bottom sediment cores. Several methods have been used and tested to determine the precise age of sediment for decades. Recently, many studies have been conducted to date the sediment cores by analyses of lead-210 (²¹⁰Pb) (Aranud et al. 2006, Tošić et al. 2012). Cautious interpretations are certainly required because different accumulation rates and resuspension of sediments can alter the contents of lead in the sediments. Stable isotope analyses have been considered as useful tools to determine sources of materials in lakes and reservoirs. Carbon (C) isotopes have been used for distinguishing OM sources since each source has different proportionated C isotopes (Kendall et al. 2001, Ogrinc et al. 2005). C isotopes show distinctive concentrations for the various sources, plankton, macrophyte, soil OM, and terrestrial plants (Kendall et al. 2001). N isotopes are also considered as a good indicator to show watershed activity (Filstrup et al. 2010). C/N ratios are one of the most powerful tools available and show clear differences between terrestrial soils and lacustrine sediments (Usui et al. 2006, Tue et al. 2011, Zhao et al. 2015).

1.1.5 Research hypotheses and objectives

The goal of the studies performed for this dissertation is to elaborate on flow and transport processes of a reservoir watershed system in South Korea under the Asian monsoon climate. Specifically, we divided the system into two sections: (1) a catchment in an upper part of the watershed and (2) a reservoir body in a lower part of the watershed. The studies focus on understanding how components interact among each other within the watershed and how they are related in terms of change in water quality in streams and in the reservoir. The three studies were conducted in the upland streams of the watershed, the reservoir, and the bottom sediments of the reservoir in order to understand processes affecting the whole watershed system. From these considerations, the following hypotheses were derived, which will be studied in each chapter of this thesis:

- The nutrients, turbid materials, and organic matters (OM) from non-point sources (NPS) cause water quality problem of streams in an agricultural catchment under monsoon climate.
- 2) Under anoxic conditions at the sediment-water interface, substantial release of dissolved phosphorus (P), nitrogen (N), and sulfur (S) occurs depending on the amounts of P, N, S, iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), and organic matter (OM) in the bottom sediment.
- 3) The changes of trophic state and activities in the watershed are well preserved in the bottom sediment and the chronological changes can be reconstructed by analyzing sediment features and elements of the sediment.

Based on the hypotheses the following objectives of each chapter in this thesis arise:

- To understand the effect of agricultural NPS pollution on stream water quality in a catchment under monsoon climate.
- To understand the sediment process in a reservoir in regard to influence on water quality by internal loads.
- To reconstruct history of trophic state changes and watershed activities based on analyses of the bottom sediments in a reservoir.

With these hypotheses and objectives, the following three studies were conducted in this thesis.

Chapter 1 (Study 1):

The agricultural NPS pollution, affecting on the water quality of streams in a catchment, was evaluated as the primary contributing source of pollutant materials into streams and eventually into reservoir water. In the Asian monsoon climate area, agricultural NPS pollution levels are enhanced by monsoonal rainfalls. In this context, intensive field work during rainy and dry seasons was conducted to identify the scale of the NPS pollution in a small agricultural catchment. The impact of land use changes on pollutant exports into streams was also assessed as a way to mitigate the water quality deterioration from NPS pollution.

Chapter 2 (Study 2):

The importance of studies on bottom sediments in reservoir systems has increased with an increase in internal sources of pollutants into reservoirs. The increased pollutants transported by heavy runoff from agricultural watersheds enter receiving water bodies and settle to the bottom. Nutrient ions such as PO_4^{3-} , NH_4^+ , and S^{2-} then diffuse into the water column under anoxic conditions, which is dependent on the amount of P, N, S, OM, and other elements in the bottom sediments. In this study, the effects of intensive rainfall events on lake water quality

were assessed during the monsoon season and the potential effects of sediment processes to water quality were evaluated by determining the distribution of elements in the bottom sediments and pore-water of the reservoir.

Chapter 3 (Study 3):

Sediment cores are considered as a powerful tool to reconstruct the chronological history of water quality and management activity changes in a watershed. Sediment incorporates materials from the watershed and the water body implying the potential possibility of delineating the change of activities in a watershed (such as agricultural activity, land use changes, construction events) and the history of reservoir water quality. The bottom sediment cores were evaluated as a tool that reflects the change in trophic state and watershed activities in the Soyang Reservoir. Parameters of water quality including Fe, Mn, S, P, Chlorophyll- *a* (Chl. *a*), Secchi depth (SD), and suspended solids (SS) were investigated. C and N concentration and sedimentation rates and sediment age were estimated. Stable isotopes were analysed. Finally, grain size variability in sediment cores was analysed for the historical reconstruction in the Soyang watershed.

1.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS



Figure 1.4 Photos at study sites and a satellite image of Soyang watershed (Map data: Google, DigitalGlobe)

Soyang watershed was chosen for studies in this thesis (Fig. 1.4)

1.2.1 Study sites



Figure 1.5 A land use map of Soyang Reservoir watershed

Soyang Reservoir watershed The Soyang Reservoir watershed is located in northeastern part of South Korea. The average annual air temperature is approximately 10 °C, with the temperature ranging between approximately -30 °C and 40 °C. The average annual precipitation is 1,300 mm with more than half of the annual precipitation falling during the summer monsoon period (June – Sep.) (Water Resources Management Information System; www.wamis.go.kr). The total area of the watershed is 2,675 km². Most of the Soyang watershed area is covered by forest (over 85 %) and urban areas have steadily increased around Chuncheon-si (Fig. 1.5). Agricultural lands have decreased due to urbanization within the

watershed, while the highland agricultural areas have been increased with local government support, inducing agricultural land expansion in the watershed since the 1990s. Despite the relatively small area compared to forested land use, the agricultural area (especially highland farming area) accounts for the most abundant pollutant contribution to the Soyang Reservoir. Governmental policies and management directives have attempted to diminish turbidity levels in streams of South Korea. Since 2004, the Ministry of Environment of South Korea has established comprehensive NPS pollution management measures for the four major rivers: the Han, the Nakdong, the Geum, and the Yeongsan/Sumjin Rivers and has designated the Lake Soyang watershed as a special management area (Jun 2015).



Figure 1.6 A contour map of the Haean catchment (with study sites indicated in the first study)

Haean catchment The Haean catchment is located in Yanggu Province, northeastern South Korea in the upper elevation headwater area of the Soyang Reservoir watershed along the demilitarized zone (DMZ) between North and South Korea (Shope et al. 2013). An important land use in the region is highland agriculture. The elevation of the catchment ranges from approximately 400 to 1,300 m with an average slope of 28.4 % and maximum slope of 84 % (Fig. 1.6, Jung et al. 2012, Shope et al. 2013). The punchbowl shaped catchment is composed of Precambrian gneiss at higher elevations with Jurassic biotite granite intrusions, which eroded and deposited in the central part of the catchment (Kwon et al. 1990). The catchment is

divided into six regions including; Oyu-Ri, Hyun-Ri, Yihyun-Ri, Hu-Ri, Wolsan-Ri, and Mandae-Ri administrative districts. The area is surrounded by forested mountains including Mt. Daeam and the summit of Gachil. The climate has an annual average air temperature around 9 °C with winter temperatures often below 0 °C (Kettering et al. 2012, Shope et al. 2013). The average annual precipitation determined by the Korea Meteorological Administration (KMA) is approximately 1,400 mm. The area of the Haean catchment is approximately 61.52 km² supporting a population of 1,454. The population has decreased since the 1980s. The catchment is largely forested, covering about 36.0 km^2 of the total catchment area. The forest consists of a diverse species of trees but is dominated by oak. The remaining area is comprised mostly of dry field, rice field, and other agriculture crops. Potato, radish, and cabbage are the main dry field crops and recently, ginseng and orchard fields have increased under local government encouragement. Several streams, including the Naedong, the Dunjunggol, the Kunjigol, and the Sunghwang streams flow through the Haean catchment contributing to the Mandae stream (an outlet of Haean catchment), which continues toward Inbuk stream. Inbuk stream is a tributary to the Soyang River flowing into the Soyang Reservoir, which is the primary drinking water source for the metropolitan area of Seoul (Bartsch et al. 2014). The dominant nutrient sources in the Haean catchment are fertilizers and livestock manure applications to cropland. The catchment is considered to be a nutrient hotspot, accounting for high levels of NPS export (especially, nutrients and sediment) into the Soyang Reservoir.



Figure 1.7 A map of Soyang Reservoir (with study sites for the second and the third study)

Soyang Reservoir The Soyang Reservoir (also known as Lake Soyang) was constructed on the North Han River system in 1973 for the purposes of electricity production, drinking water supply, and flood control (Kim and Kim 2006). The reservoir is located in the upper part of the Bukhan River, which is a major tributary of the Han River, in the central area of the Korean Peninsula. The reservoir is the largest reservoir with a volume of 2.9 billion m³, which has stimulated a large body of work on water quality and monitoring research (Water Resources Management Information System; www.wamis.go.kr). The maximum depth of the reservoir is 120 m at the outlet and its average width is approximately 0.5 km. The reservoir mean depth and average residence time are 42 m and 0.7 yr, respectively. The reservoir is a warm
monomictic lake with a mixing period in winter seasons. Ice cover only forms around the inlet area in the winter seasons due to the relatively shallow depth in the area. The reservoir has a dendrictic shape as surrounded by mountainous areas, which suppresses the wind mixing effect (Fig 1.7). The Soyang Reservoir receives most of its pollutants through the Soyang River, which is the main contributing stream. Most nutrient and organic matter loads are derived from the agricultural areas of the watershed during the summer monsoon season (usually May to Aug.) (Kim et al. 2000). More than half of the annual precipitation falls during the summer monsoon season with occasionally intensive rain events (> 100 mm d⁻¹) every year.

1.2.2 Sampling and analyses methods

Stream Water quality and discharge at study sites throughout the Haean catchment were regularly monitored. Water samples were collected at seven stream sites (Site N, D, C, K, W, S, and M; Fig. 1.6) during rainfall periods and dry conditions from June to December in 2009 and in the whole twelve months of 2010. During eleven storm events, with total precipitation exceeding 100 mm, at least 10 water samples were collected during individual events. Surface discharge was also measured at each of the sites. Precipitation data were obtained from the KMA.

Collected water samples were kept cool during transport to the laboratory and preserved by acidifying (with HCl or H_2SO_4) or refrigerated. Water samples were filtered through Whatman GF/C glass fiber filters (pore size 1.0 µm) to measure the concentration of suspended solids (SS) and dissolved N and P. Unfiltered water samples for total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN) were preserved by acidifying with H_2SO_4 to pH<2. TP was analyzed using the ascorbic acid method after persulfate digestion. TN was measured using the cadmium reduction method after digestion with potassium persulfate. Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration of the first bottle was determined. The second bottle was incubated

under 20 °C for 5 days and the BOD value was calculated as the difference between the initial and final DO values. The KMnO₄ method was used for Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD). All of analysis methods for water samples were referred from Standard Methods 20^{th} Ed. (APHA 2012).

To estimate discharge at each of the studied sites, the velocity-area method was used with an electronic flow meter (Shope et al. 2013). Stream discharge during both wet and dry conditions was measured at each of the stream monitoring sites and rating curves were developed to describe the relationship between discharge and water level for each stream. The discharges were estimated with measured water levels in the sites on the basis of the stage/discharge rating curve.

Lake water One sampling point was chosen for water samples in order to characterize the reservoir water quality. The deepest part of the reservoir adjacent to the dam site was hypothesized to reflect the mean water quality in the reservoir as well as the outflow water quality and therefore chosen for the monitoring site. Water samples were collected bi-monthly to monthly during the study period from a boat. Sampling was performed at 10 m depth intervals to the maximum depth, and at 0, 2, and 5 m below the water surface using a water sampler. Basic limnological in-situ parameters (pH, temperature, and DO) were determined during each sampling campaign with a portable multi-parameter sensor (Hydrolab Quanta, provided by CLMR-KNU). Collected samples were stored below 4 °C before each analysis. Secchi disk (SD) depth was measured monthly from the boat with a 30 cm SD round slide. Water samples were filtered through glass fiber filters (Whatmann GF/F) for dissolved total phosphorus (DTP), dissolved inorganic phosphorus (DIP), organic carbon (OC), nitrate (NO_3^-) , sulfate $(SO_4^{2^-})$, and other major and trace elements. Before filtration, TP of water samples was analyzed by the ascorbic method after persulfate digestion (APHA 2012). Filtered

water samples were used for the measurement of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) with a total organic carbon (TOC) analyzer (Shimadzu TOC 5000, Kyoto, Japan). Particulate organic carbon (POC) measurements were conducted by combusting the dried glass fiber filters using a Yanoco MT-5 CHN analyzer. NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} , and Chloride ion (Cl⁻) concentrations of all water samples were measured by ion chromatography (Metrohm modular IC system 762, Herisau, Switzerland). Iron (Fe) and manganese (Mn) concentrations in water samples were measured through inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES, Optima 3200XL, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, USA). Chlorophyll *a* (Chl. *a*) concentrations in water samples was calculated by measuring the differences in weight of GF/F filter paper before filtration and the dried filter paper (1hr, 105°C) after filtration of samples (APHA 2012).

Sediment Sediment core samples were collected with a gravity core (UWITEC, Mondsee, Austria) along the distance from a dam site to an inlet area of an inflow. Five sampling sites (St. 1 to 5) were selected for the sediment samples in 2012 and 2013 and additional sediment samples were collected in a former fish farm area (St. F) in 2013 (Fig. 1.7). Pore-water samples were extracted by centrifuge from the sliced sediment core samples. Sediment traps were deployed 5 times from July to October in 2013 and were installed at three depths (20, 50, and 80 m) at the dam site. Trap samplers were made of stainless material to prevent physical damage. The sediment samples in the trap were collected to calculate the distributed sedimentation rate of C and N in the water column of the reservoir.

Sediment core samples were sliced with a customized core cutting device at 1, 2, or 5 cm intervals according to visual identification of the structured layering. From these sliced samples, we measured TP, Fe, total reduced inorganic sulfur (TRIS), and other elements (Aluminum (Al), Calcium (Ca), Potassium (K), and S) after freeze-drying. Fe was measured

after HCL extraction using the Phenantroline assay (Tamura et al. 1974) to differentiate ferric (Fe³⁺) and ferrous (Fe²⁺) iron in the sediment samples. TRIS species were extracted (S₂²⁻, S²⁻, and S⁰) from freeze-dried and sectioned sediment core samples following chromium reduction (Canfield et al. 1986), trapped as H₂S in NaOH. Reduced sulfur species were measured by the methylene blue assay (Williams 1979) and using an UV-VIS-photometer. Further elements in the sediment samples were measured by ICP-OES method after 1 N HCl extraction. Sediment grain size was analyzed using Mastersizer 2000 (Malvern, UK) after sonication. C, N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N were analyzed with sliced sediment samples after freeze-drying. Relative C and N isotope abundances of sectioned sediment samples were measured with an elemental analyzer in a dual-element analysis mode (Carlo Erba 1108, Milano, Italy) for Dumas combustion followed by gas chromatographic separation of the gaseous combustion products. The other elemental compositions (P, S, Fe, Mn, Ca, Cd, Cu, and Pb) were detected by energy-dispersive X-ray fluorescence (XRF) spectrometry (Rigaku, Japan). Sediment dating analysis was conducted using the ²¹⁰Pb dating technique.

1.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1.3.1 Extent of non-point source (NPS) pollution throughout an agricultural catchment

The average concentrations of SS, turbidity, and TP of each stream under dry conditions were significantly lower than the concentrations of the water quality parameters during rain events and the transported sediment and associated nutrient concentrations generally increased with increasing discharge in the all of streams for all of the rain events as indicated in previous studies (Jain 2002, Wu et al. 2012). The exported TP and SS into the streams were influenced most among the water quality parameters by the rainfall (Fraser et al. 1999). The SS concentration in streams during rainfall in the Haean catchment was generally higher than the results of previous studies conducted in other main river systems in South Korea (Park et al.

2005, Kwak et al. 2008) and also at the same site in the past (Jung 2012). Highland agriculture in the catchment under high slopes is considered as one of the reasons that caused high annual SS loading to the streams in this region (Arnhold et al. 2014). The SS remained low at Site W with the lowest concentration during rainfall events because forested land use mitigated soil disturbance from the watershed of the Site W. The average EMCs of TN increased while the average EMCs of TP and SS decreased in 2010 compared to the EMCs in 2009 (Table 1.1).

Table 1.1 Event mean concentrations (EMC) of suspended solid (SS), total nitrogen (TN), and total phosphorous (TP) at an outlet stream during rain events in Haean catchment (unit: $mg L^{-1}$)

Year	Event no.	SS	TN	TP
2009	1	2954	2.24	1.27
	2	1837	2.08	1.37
	3	1587	1.76	0.81
	4	3804	3.43	1.62
	5	1281	5.08	1.45
	6	304	3.90	0.49
	7	427	3.77	0.46
2010	8	661	3.54	0.71
	9	738	3.04	0.95
	10	332	3.16	0.46
	11	313	3.25	0.48

The decreased intensity of rainfall in 2010 seemed to mitigate the amount of SS and TP in runoff, which are usually exported together as attached forms on sediment derived from the agricultural fields (Kim et al. 2014). The government has driven construction of new facilities to contain turbid water generation in the catchment, which influenced on decreased soil loss from the catchment. BOD increased in the watershed for 2 years while COD decreased, which can be interpreted as biodegradable organic matter increasing in the catchment but non-biodegradable (recalcitrant) organic matter were produced less in 2010 relative to 2009. The EMC of TP at an outlet of the Haean catchment was much higher compared to other streams in other regions of Korea (Park et al. 2005, Kwak et al. 2008), which have similar summer monsoon rainfall characteristic such as rainfall intensity and periods. Also, compared to the

results from locations in other countries, the EMCs of SS and TP were higher (Gentry et al. 2007, Hu and Huang 2014). These results imply that runoff into the stream through the Haean catchment transported significant amounts of suspended sediment with attached P into the Lake Soyang receiving reservoir.

The EMCs of SS and TP decreased for 2 years at Site N in which the land use had been dramatically changed from dry fields to orchard and ginseng fields. The decreased EMCs of TP and SS at Site N were assumed to be derived from decreased sediment and P exports as a function of land use changes. However, the other water quality parameters (BOD, COD, TN and NO_3^-) showed no clear discrepancies between 2009 and 2010. The results imply that migrating soil disturbance and erosion by land use changes efficiently reduced the P export (Ouyang et al. 2014) but EMCs of nitrate and TN increased minimally showing that land use changes did not mitigate those parameters because these pollutants are less related to soil erosion compared to TP and SS.

1.3.2 Effects of a monsoonal climate and the release of materials from sediment to the water column in a reservoir

The high POC values (4.0 mgC L⁻¹ in the hypolimnion and 2.8 mgC L⁻¹ in the metalimnion) in the reservoir emerged after heavy rainfall, stressing the relevance of POC loading during high flow conditions. The highest POC concentration in the reservoir is a result of intensive summer rainfall, which causes a large amount of particulate organic matter to enter the lake via storm runoff as shown in Lake Soyang (Kim et al. 2000) and other reservoirs (Aryal et al. 2014). The transported C was eventually deposited in the bottom sediment. The calculated C sedimentation rate in Lake Soyang (453 mg POC m⁻² d⁻¹) was lower than the sedimentation rates in the other reservoirs, but higher than in natural lakes (Teodoru et al. 2013, Clow et al. 2015). The TP concentrations in the metalimnion (17.6 μ gP L⁻¹ at 30 m water depth and 19.5

 μ gP L⁻¹ at 40 m water depth) were increased after summer monsoon rainfall. A previous study reported that the load of TP was highest (approximately, 1,200 tP yr⁻¹) in 2006 during the intensive rainfall of the summer monsoon season (Kim and Jung 2007). This input was increased by the disturbances in forested areas and agricultural practices with the overuse of P fertilizer and frequent soil disturbances (Park et al. 2010). The high amount of P load is also eventually deposited into the sediment in such reservoir systems. The input of Fe and Mn were also increased by an inflow of high amounts of Fe and Mn (137 µgFe L⁻¹ and 25 µgMn L⁻¹, respectively). The high amounts of Fe, Mn, and S entered the lake along with high amounts of P adsorbed to these particles after rainfall. Hypolimnetic anoxia has emerged since the eutrophication period in 1980s in Lake Soyang (Fig. 1.8).

DO (mgO₂ L⁻¹), Temp. (°C), and Turb. (NTU)



Figure 1.8 Vertical profiles of dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), and turbidity (Turb.) in Soyang Reservoir during a stratification period

The oxidation redox potential (ORP) in sediment at site 1 was negative for the entire depth indicating anoxic conditions in the sediments. Under anoxic conditions, sulfate reduction is the main respiratory pathway as sulfate is used as the primary electron acceptor in decomposition processes (D'Hondt et al. 2002). The fact was well deflected in the observed high concentrations of TRIS (exceeded 20 mmol g^{-1}) in the upper layers of Lake Soyang sediment cores. Therefore, it appears that significant amounts of iron oxides are not reduced and P remains trapped in the sediment. High amounts of Fe in the sediment can act as P traps by strong adsorption. The decreased sulfate in the pore-water toward the top of the sediment and higher TRIS concentrations in this region imply the occurrence of sulfate reduction in the

sediment, which leads to high amounts of reduced sulfur. The sedimentation of Fe, Mn, S and C and its interactions in the sediment seem to control the diffusion of nutrients from the sediment with the redox condition. Higher concentrations of DIP and ammonia were observed in pore water than in bottom water. This mobile P and N can diffuse to the water column as previously observed in eutrophic conditions (Reddy et al. 1996, Yang et al. 2015). However, despite the high concentrations of DIP and ammonia in the lower water column during stratification, the average concentration of DIP and ammonia remained constantly low after the monsoon season. We assumed that DIP can be resettled and ammonia can be oxidized when they contact the oxic layer around the time of the water mixing period (Beutel et al. 2008). In addition to that, the released N and P can be removed when the intermediate density current is discharged out of the dam through the outlet at the middle depth of the dam before the mixing period in the winter season. We found that heavy rainfall caused acute increases of C, P, Fe, and Mn in the lake by turbid density currents during the monsoon seasons. Such increased materials are eventually deposited to bottom sediments and control the diffusion process of mobile P and N at the interface between the bottom water and sediment under anoxic condition. This finding implies that sediment processes and internal loads are an important subject to monitor together with inflowing water quality change for effective reservoir management, especially in Asian monsoon climate areas.

1.3.3 Potential of sediment core samples as a tool for historical archives

The estimated sedimentation rate (0.2 cm yr⁻¹) of Soyang Reservoir by the Pb dating technique was much lower than observed in other reservoirs and seems to be similar to natural lakes (e. g. 6 cm yr–1 in the Danube Iron Gate Dam; Vukovic et al. 2014, 4 cm yr–1 in the Partoon Reservoir; Arnason and Fletcher 2003, between 2 to 7 cm yr–1 in the Conowingo reservoir; McLean et al. 1991, ranging from 0.01 to 0.32 cm yr–1 in Lake Superior; Evans et al. 1981).

The sedimentation rate also contrasts a previous estimate of 1.0 cm yr⁻¹ in Lake Soyang (Cheong and Jung 2006). The limitations about ²¹⁰Pb dating have been reported in other reservoirs due to sediment disturbance by frequent water fluctuations and the relatively younger ages compared to natural lakes (Filstrup et al. 2010, Winston et al. 2014). To overcome the limitations of the Pb dating technique, we attempted to independently estimate sediment age with our sediment composition data. The reservoir has experienced different trophic states with specific events during each time period (Table 1.2).

Period	Trophic state	Year	Events (year)	References
1 st	Oligo-	1973- 1985	Dam construction completed (1973) Onset of Fish farms setup (1980)	
2 nd	-	1986- 1999	Massive blue green algae growth with SD only 0.7 m in 1990	Kim and Jung 2007
	Eutro-		Fish farm eliminations since 1998 and anabaena cells decreased in 3 year, 1996-1998	Kim et al. 1999
3 rd	Meso/ Oligo-	2000- 2005	Phytoplankton species change (cyanobacteria to dinoflagellates and chrysophytes) Oligotrophication sign based on nutrient concentrations, phytoplankton species and transparency data. Increase in P load since 2000 from watershed	Kim's personal communication Kim and Jung 2007
4 th	Meso/ Eutro-	2006- 2012	After typhoon, Turbid water out released from the dam to the downstream for over 6 months in 2006 Frequent turbid water inflow from watershed after monsoon climate summer rainfall	Kim and Jung 2007

Table 1.2 History of trophic state changes in Soyang Reservoir

Since the dam construction in 1973, the reservoir had its last oligotrophic state from 1973 through 1985 (1st period). The reservoir had been eutrophic with frequent algal blooms during the late summer seasons in 1986 through 1999 (2nd period), after fish farming had started. This trophic state recovered into meso/eutrophic states from 2000 to 2005 (3rd period), after fish farm businesses were completely removed from the reservoir. However, the reservoir recently turned into a eutrophic state between 2006 and 2012 (4th period), since the reservoir water quality has been the worst observed in history due to massive turbid water inflow from the

watershed in 2006. The chronological history reflected in sediment compositions of cores is presented in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.9 Profiles of P, S, Fe, Mn, C, N, δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, and C/N ratio in core at site 1 (dash lines divide the reconstructed periods)

The elemental distributions clearly show the discrepancy between pre- and post-construction periods. The C/N ratio profile at site 1 was the primary evidence, which increased to 40.0 at a depth of 14 cm and they remained constant with an average ratio of 40.1 ± 1.4 (n=10) below showing similar values from land-derived plants (Meyers 1994, Mayers and Ishiwatari 1993). On the other hand, the low C/N ratios observed in the upper region are similar to the values from lacustrine sediments (average 8.9; Murase and Sakamoto 2000, approximately 10; Koszelnik et al. 2008). In the second period, C and N increased, which results from the eutrophic condition caused by fish farming. During the 3^{rd} and the 4^{th} periods, the P, S, Fe, and Mn increased relative to the 1^{st} and 2^{nd} periods, as well as the C and N concentrations, which can be proof of increased exports from the watershed by increased agricultural activity and intensified rainfall characteristic in the watershed since the 2000s (Kim and Jung 2007). Decreased Chl *a* concentrations in the lake since the 2000s compared to the concentrations in

1990s led to less contributions of autochthonous organic matter than the contribution of allochthonous organic matter to the bottom sediment. The SS increased in the metalimnion after heavy rainfall, forming turbid current inflow and the SS remained high in the hypolimnion after the monsoon season with the maximum concentration of SS in 2 years (49.1 mg L^{-1} in July 2013). The turbid current emerged more often in the reservoir because of the increased agricultural area in the watershed and intensified rainfall characteristics since 2000 (Kim and Jung 2007). The turbid current inflow seemed to carry significant amounts of C sources from the watershed to the reservoir water and it led to increased contributions of allochthonous C into the reservoir sediment in the years since the 2000s.

1.4 CONCLUSIONS

A watershed of a reservoir (Soyang watershed) in South Korea was studied from an upland catchment (Haean catchment) to the bottom sediment of Soyang Reservoir. Three studies for this thesis were conducted to understand the interactions between each component in the watershed. First, we examined watershed activity effects on the stream water quality in the watershed by studying the pollution of agricultural NPS in the Haean catchment, which is a primary source of pollutants to Soyang Reservoir. The second study moved to the Soyang Reservoir to evaluate the water quality under monsoon climate characteristics and the role of the bottom sediment as an internal source of pollutants and nutrients to the water column. Finally, we reconstructed the history of trophic state changes in the reservoir and watershed activity changes in the watershed by interpreting the data from bottom sediment cores of the reservoir. The conclusions are summarized under three categories.

1) In the Haean catchment, significant amounts of pollutant exports entered into streams during the summer monsoon. Asian summer monsoonal rainfall enhanced the extent of agricultural NPS pollution by flushing terrestrial pollutants in the catchment. EMCs of TP and SS were higher than findings of previous studies, which were conducted in South Korea and other overseas countries. Governmental driven land use changes were implemented for 2 years (2009–2010) as a way to reduce the soil erosion from the agricultural land and the policy led to conversion of large scales of land use (mostly dry fields and rice paddies to orchard and ginseng fields). The SS loads from the catchment into streams clearly decreased in 2010 as well as TP.

2) Heavy rainfall also caused dramatic increases of C, P, Fe, and Mn of the water in the reservoir by turbid density currents during monsoon seasons. The elements composed the bottom sediments in Soyang Reservoir. The increased organic matter and elements controlled the internal loads of PO_4^{3-} , NH_4^+ , and S released from the sediment. However, the effects of diffused nutrients and toxic material were not significant because of the physical reservoir characteristics (deep water depth and an outflow from the middle layer) hampered the diffusion of materials into the entire reservoir water body. Regular investigations of sediment processes and internal loading with constant monitoring of inflow water quality are requisite for an effective management of reservoirs.

3) Sediment cores can be used as an archive, which includes the history of trophic states and watershed activity changes, through analyses of sediment dating and the composition of cores. The reconstructed sediment ages where highly correlated with the vertical profiles of elements in the sediment cores. Soyang Reservoir has received OM and nutrients through two sources, autochthonous and allochthonous source, since the dam construction. The composition of cores and the water quality parameter changes indicated that the main OM and pollutants sources have been changed from autochthonous matter to allochthonous matter.

1.5 REFERENCES

Allan JD, Castillo MM. 2007. Stream ecology: structure and function of running waters. Springer Science & Business Media.

Arnason JG, Fletcher BA. 2003. A 40+ year record of Cd, Hg, Pb, and U deposition in sediments of Patroon Reservoir, Albany County, NY, USA. Environmental Pollution 123(3):383-391.

Arnaud F, Magand O, Chapron E, Bertrand S, Boës X, Charlet F, Mélières M-A. 2006. Radionuclide dating (210 Pb, 137 Cs, 241 Am) of recent lake sediments in a highly active geodynamic setting (Lakes Puyehue and Icalma— Chilean Lake District). Science of the Total Environment 366(2):837-850.

Arnhold S, Lindner S, Lee B, Martin E, Kettering J, Nguyen TT, Koellner T, Ok YS, Huwe B. 2014. Conventional and organic farming: Soil erosion and conservation potential for row crop cultivation. Geoderma 219:89-105.

Aryal R, Grinham A, Beecham S. 2014. Tracking Inflows in Lake Wivenhoe during a Major Flood Using Optical Spectroscopy. Water 6(8):2339-2352.

American Public Health Association [APHA], American Water Works Association, and Water Environment Federation. 2012. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 22nd ed. Washington (DC).

Bartley R, Henderson A, Prosser I, Hughes A, McKergow L, Lu H, Brodie J, Bainbridge Z, Roth C. 2003. Patterns of erosion and sediment and nutrient transport in the Herbert River catchment, Queensland. CSIRO Land and Water.

Bartsch S, Frei S, Ruidisch M, Shope CL, Peiffer S, Kim B, Fleckenstein JH. 2014. River-aquifer exchange fluxes under monsoonal climate conditions. Journal of Hydrology 509:601-614.

Beare M, Hendrix P, Coleman D. 1994. Water-stable aggregates and organic matter fractions in conventional-and no-tillage soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58(3):777-786

Begy R-C, Preoteasa L, Timar-Gabor A, Mihăiescu R, Tănăselia C, Kelemen S, Simon H. 2016. Sediment dynamics and heavy metal pollution history of the Cruhlig Lake (Danube Delta, Romania). Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 153:167-175.

Beutel MW. 2003. Hypolimnetic anoxia and sediment oxygen demand in California drinking water reservoirs. Lake and Reservoir Management 19(3):208-221.

Beutel MW, Horne AJ, Taylor WD, Losee RF, Whitney RD. 2008. Effects of oxygen and nitrate on nutrient release from profundal sediments of a large, oligo-mesotrophic reservoir, Lake Mathews, California. Lake and Reservoir Management 24(1):18-29.

Bibi MH, Ahmed F, Ishiga H. 2007. Assessment of metal concentrations in lake sediments of southwest Japan based on sediment quality guidelines. Environmental Geology 52(4):625-639.

Canfield DE, Raiswell R, Westrich JT, Reaves CM, Berner RA. 1986. The use of chromium reduction in the analysis of reduced inorganic sulfur in sediments and shales. Chemical Geology 54(1):149-155.

Chaiechi T, Stoeckl N, Jarvis D, Lewis S, Brodie J. 2016. Assessing the impact of price changes and extreme climatic events on sediment loads in a large river catchment near the Great Barrier Reef. Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics.

Cheong D, Jung HM. 2006. Change fo sedimentary facies of the Soyang Lake sediment and its effects on the environmental sedimentology sicne the construction of the Soyang River Dam. Journal of the Geological Society of Korea 42(2):199-234, Korean

Chiang L-C, Chaubey I, Hong N-M, Lin Y-P, Huang T. 2012. Implementation of BMP strategies for adaptation to climate change and land use change in a pasture-dominated watershed. International journal of environmental research and public health 9(10):3654-3684.

Clow DW, Stackpoole SM, Verdin KL, Butman DE, Zhu Z, Krabbenhoft DP, Striegl RG. 2015. Organic carbon burial in lakes and reservoirs of the conterminous United States. Environmental science & technology 49(13):7614-7622.

Cosentino SL, Copani V, Scalici G, Scordia D, Testa G. 2015. Soil Erosion Mitigation by Perennial Species Under Mediterranean Environment. BioEnergy Research 8(4):1538-1547.

Cruz R, Pillas M, Castillo H, Hernandez E. 2012. Pagsanjan-Lumban catchment, Philippines: Summary of biophysical characteristics of the catchment, background to site selection and instrumentation. Agricultural Water Management 106:3-7.

Dalzell BJ, Filley TR, Harbor JM. 2007. The role of hydrology in annual organic carbon loads and terrestrial organic matter export from a midwestern agricultural watershed. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 71(6):1448-1462.

D'Hondt S, Rutherford S, Spivack AJ. 2002. Metabolic activity of subsurface life in deep-sea sediments. Science 295(5562):2067-2070.

Dechmi F, Skhiri A. 2013. Evaluation of best management practices under intensive irrigation using SWAT model. Agricultural Water Management 123:55-64.

Evans JE, Johnson TC, Alexander E, Lively RS, Eisenreich SJ. 1981. Sedimentation rates and depositional processes in Lake Superior from 210 Pb geochronology. Journal of Great Lakes Research 7(3):299-310.

Filstrup CT, Thad Scott J, White JD, Lind OT. 2010. Use of sediment elemental and isotopic compositions to record the eutrophication of a polymictic reservoir in central Texas, USA. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management 15(1):25-39.

Fraser A, Harrod T, Haygarth P. 1999. The effect of rainfall intensity on soil erosion and particulate phosphorus transfer from arable soils. Water Science and Technology 39(12):41-45.

Gao Y, Zhu B, Wang T, Wang Y. 2012. Seasonal change of non-point source pollution-induced bioavailable phosphorus loss: a case study of Southwestern China. Journal of Hydrology 420:373-379.

Gao Y, Zhu B, Yu G, Chen W, He N, Wang T, Miao C. 2014. Coupled effects of biogeochemical and hydrological processes on C, N, and P export during extreme rainfall events in a purple soil watershed in southwestern China. Journal of Hydrology 511:692-702.

Gentry L, David M, Royer T, Mitchell C, Starks K. 2007. Phosphorus transport pathways to streams in tile-drained agricultural watersheds. Journal of Environmental Quality 36(2):408-415.

Glendell M, Brazier R. 2014. Accelerated export of sediment and carbon from a landscape under intensive agriculture. Science of the Total Environment 476:643-656.

Gleyzes C, Tellier S, Astruc M. 2002. Fractionation studies of trace elements in contaminated soils and sediments: a review of sequential extraction procedures. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry 21(6):451-467.

Guo W, Fu Y, Ruan B, Ge H, Zhao N. 2014. Agricultural non-point source pollution in the Yongding River Basin. Ecological Indicators 36:254-261.

Heathcote AJ, Filstrup CT, Downing JA. 2013. Watershed sediment losses to lakes accelerating despite agricultural soil conservation efforts. PLoS One 8(1):e53554.

Holmer M, Storkholm P. 2001. Sulphate reduction and sulphur cycling in lake sediments: a review. Freshwater Biology 46(4):431-451.

Hu H, Huang G. 2014. Monitoring of Non-Point Source Pollutions from an Agriculture Watershed in South China. Water:3828-3840.

Huang J, Zhan J, Yan H, Wu F, Deng X. 2013. Evaluation of the impacts of land use on water quality: a case study in the Chaohu Lake basin. The Scientific World Journal 2013.

Istvanovics V. 1994. Fractional composition, adsorption and release of sediment phosphorus in the Kis-Balaton reservoir. Water Research 28(3):717-726.

Jahantigh M, Pessarakli M. 2011. Causes and Effects of Gully Erosion on Agricultural Lands and the Environment. Communications in soil science and plant analysis 42(18):2250-2255.

Jain C. 2002. A hydro-chemical study of a mountainous watershed: the Ganga, India. Water Research 36(5):1262-1274.

Jun M-S. 2015. An institutional plan to manage areas in Gangwon province that are vulnerable to nonpoint source pollution. Research Institute for Gangwon. Korean

Jung B-J, Lee H-J, Jeong J-J, Owen J, Kim B, Meusburger K, Alewell C, Gebauer G, Shope C, Park J-H. 2012. Storm pulses and varying sources of hydrologic carbon export from a mountainous watershed. Journal of Hydrology 440:90-101.

Jung S-M. 2012. Characteristics of nonpoint source pollution in the Han River and effects of turbid water on aquatic ecosystem [PhD dissertation].Kangwon National University. Korean

Kendall C, Silva SR, Kelly VJ. 2001. Carbon and nitrogen isotopic compositions of particulate organic matter in four large river systems across the United States. Hydrological processes 15(7):1301-1346.

Kettering J, Park J-H, Lindner S, Lee B, Tenhunen J, Kuzyakov Y. 2012. N fluxes in an agricultural catchment under monsoon climate: a budget approach at different scales. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 161:101-111.

Kim B, Choi K, Kim C, Lee U-H, Kim Y-H. 2000. Effects of the summer monsoon on the distribution and loading of organic carbon in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang, Korea. Water Research 34(14):3495-3504.

Kim B, Jung S. 2007. Turbid storm runoff in Lake Soyang and their environmental effect. Korean Society of Environmental Engineers Special Feature: 1185-1190. Korean

Kim B, Kim J-O, Jun M-S, Hwang S-J. 1999. Seasonal Dynamics of Phytoplankton and Zooplankton Community in Lake Soyang. Korean Journal of Limnology 32(2):127-134, Korean

Kim M-K, Kwon S-I, Jung G-B, Kim M-Y, Lee S-B, Lee D-B. 2011. Phosphorus losses from agricultural soils to surface waters in a small agricultural watershed. Biosystems engineering 109(1):10-14.

Kim S-W, Park J-S, Kim D, Oh J-M. 2014. Runoff characteristics of non-point pollutants caused by different land uses and a spatial overlay analysis with spatial distribution of industrial cluster: a case study of the Lake Sihwa watershed. Environmental Earth Sciences 71(1):483-496.

Kim Y, Kim B. 2006. Application of a 2-dimensional water quality model (CE-QUAL-W2) to the turbidity interflow in a deep reservoir (Lake Soyang, Korea). Lake and Reservoir Management 22(3):213-222.

Korean Meteorological Administration [KMA] [Internet] http://www.kma.go.kr/

Komatsu E, Fukushima T, Shiraishi H. 2006. Modeling of P-dynamics and algal growth in a stratified reservoir mechanisms of P-cycle in water and interaction between overlying water and sediment. Ecological modelling 197(3):331-349.

Koszelnik P, Tomaszek J, Gruca-Rokosz R. 2008. Carbon and nitrogen and their elemental and isotopic ratios in the bottom sediment of the Solina-Myczkowce complex of reservoirs. Oceanological and Hydrobiological Studies 37(3):71-78.

Kwak D-H, Yoo S-J, Kim J-H, Lim I-H, Kwon J-Y and Paul-Gene C. 2008. Characteristics of non-point pollutant discharges from upper watershed of Seomjin Dam during rainy season. Journal of Korean Society of Water and Wastewater 22(1):39-48, Korean

Kwon Y-S, Lee H-Y, Han J, Youm S-J. 1990. Terrain analysis of Haean Basin in terms of earth science. Journal of Korea Earth Science Society 11:236–241

Linnik PM, Zubenko IB. 2000. Role of bottom sediments in the secondary pollution of aquatic environments by heavy-metal compounds. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management 5(1):11-21.

Liu R, Zhang P, Wang X, Chen Y, Shen Z. 2013. Assessment of effects of best management practices on agricultural non-point source pollution in Xiangxi River watershed. Agricultural Water Management 117:9-18.

McLean R, Summers J, Olsen C, Domotor S, Larsen I, Wilson H. 1991. Sediment accumulation rates in Conowingo Reservoir as determined by man-made and natural radionuclides. Estuaries 14(2):148-156.

Meyers PA. 1994. Preservation of elemental and isotopic source identification of sedimentary organic matter. Chemical Geology 114(3-4):289-302.

Meyers PA, Ishiwatari R. 1993. Lacustrine organic geochemistry—an overview of indicators of organic matter sources and diagenesis in lake sediments. Organic geochemistry 20(7):867-900.

Miller JD, Schoonover JE, Williard KW, Hwang CR. 2011. Whole catchment land cover effects on water quality in the Lower Kaskaskia River watershed. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 221(1-4):337-350.

Mills A, Fey M. 2003. Declining soil quality in South Africa: effects of land use on soil organic matter and surface crusting. South African Journal of Science 99(9):429-436.

Molinero J, Burke RA. 2009. Effects of land use on dissolved organic matter biogeochemistry in piedmont headwater streams of the Southeastern United States. Hydrobiologia 635(1):289-308.

Mueller-Warrant G, Griffith S, Whittaker G, Banowetz G, Pfender W, Garcia T, Giannico G. 2012. Impact of land use patterns and agricultural practices on water quality in the Calapooia River Basin of western Oregon. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 67(3):183-201.

Murase J, Sakamoto M. 2000. Horizontal distribution of carbon and nitrogen and their isotopic compositions in the surface sediment of Lake Biwa. Limnology 1(3):177-184

Navas A, Valero-Garcés B, Gaspar L, Machín J. 2009. Reconstructing the history of sediment accumulation in the Yesa reservoir: an approach for management of mountain reservoirs. Lake and Reservoir Management 25(1):15-27.

Nowlin WH, Evarts JL, Vanni MJ. 2005. Release rates and potential fates of nitrogen and phosphorus from sediments in a eutrophic reservoir. Freshwater Biology 50(2):301-322.

Ogrinc N, Fontolan G, Faganeli J, Covelli S. 2005. Carbon and nitrogen isotope compositions of organic matter in coastal marine sediments (the Gulf of Trieste, N Adriatic Sea): indicators of sources and preservation. Marine Chemistry 95(3):163-181.

Otero J, Figueroa A, Munoz F, Pena M. 2011. Loss of soil and nutrients by surface runoff in two agro-ecosystems within an Andean paramo area. Ecological Engineering 37(12):2035-2043.

Ouyang W, Song K, Wang X, Hao F. 2014. Non-point source pollution dynamics under long-term agricultural development and relationship with landscape dynamics. Ecological Indicators 45:579-589.

Park J-H, Duan L, Kim B, Mitchell MJ, Shibata H. 2010. Potential effects of climate change and variability on watershed biogeochemical processes and water quality in Northeast Asia. Environment International 36(2):212-225.

Park S-C, Oh C-R, Jin Y-H and Kim D-S. 2005. Study on runoff characteristics of non-point source in rural area of Seomjin watershed. Journal of the Environmental Sciences 14(11):1057-1062, Korean

Perkins R, Underwood G. 2001. The potential for phosphorus release across the sediment–water interface in an eutrophic reservoir dosed with ferric sulphate. Water Research 35(6):1399-1406.

Reddy K, Fisher M, Ivanoff D. 1996. Resuspension and diffusive flux of nitrogen and phosphorus in a hypereutrophic lake. Journal of Environmental Quality 25(2):363-371.

Shangguan W, Gong P, Liang L, Dai Y, Zhang K. 2014. Soil diversity as affected by land use in China: consequences for soil protection. The Scientific World Journal 2014.

Shope C, Maharjan G, Tenhunen J, Seo B, Kim K, Riley J, Arnhold S, Koellner T, Ok Y, Peiffer S. 2013. An interdisciplinary swat ecohydrological model to define catchment-scale hydrologic partitioning. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 10:7235-7290.

Smith P, House JI, Bustamante M, Sobocká J, Harper R, Pan G, West PC, Clark JM, Adhya T, Rumpel C. 2015. Global change pressures on soils from land use and management. Global change biology 22(3):1008-1028.

Smith VH. 2003. Eutrophication of freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems a global problem. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 10(2):126-139.

Søndergaard M, Jensen JP, Jeppesen E. 2003. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. Hydrobiologia 506(1-3):135-145.

Stewart J, Tiessen H. 1987. Dynamics of soil organic phosphorus. Biogeochemistry 4(1):41-60.

Sun B, Zhang L, Yang L, Zhang F, Norse D, Zhu Z. 2012. Agricultural non-point source pollution in China: causes and mitigation measures. Ambio 41(4):370-379.

Szarlowicz K, Kubica B. 2014. 137Cs and 210Pb radionuclides in open and closed water ecosystems. Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry 299(3):1321-1328.

Tamayo-Zafaralla M, Santos R, Orozco R, Elegado G. 2002. The ecological status of lake Laguna de Bay, philippines. Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 5(2):127-138.

Tamura H, Goto K, Yotsuyanagi T, Nagayama M. 1974. Spectrophotometric determination of iron (II) with 1, 10-phenanthroline in the presence of large amounts of iron (III). Talanta. 21:314–318.

Teodoru CR, Del Giorgio PA, Prairie YT, St-Pierre A. 2013. Depositional fluxes and sources of particulate carbon and nitrogen in natural lakes and a young boreal reservoir in Northern Québec. Biogeochemistry 113(1-3):323-339.

Thorburn P, Wilkinson S, Silburn D. 2013. Water quality in agricultural lands draining to the Great Barrier Reef: a review of causes, management and priorities. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 180:4-20. Tošić R, Todorović DJ, Dragićević SS, Bikit IS, Forkapić S, Blagojević B. 2012. Radioactivity and measurements of sediment deposition rate of the Drenova reservoir (B&H). Nuclear Technology and Radiation Protection 27(1):52-56.

Tue NT, Hamaoka H, Sogabe A, Quy TD, Nhuan MT, Omori K. 2011. The application of δ13C and C/N ratios as indicators of organic carbon sources and paleoenvironmental change of the mangrove ecosystem from Ba Lat Estuary, Red River, Vietnam. Environmental Earth Sciences 64(5):1475-1486.

Usui T, Nagao S, Yamamoto M, Suzuki K, Kudo I, Montani S, Noda A, Minagawa M. 2006. Distribution and sources of organic matter in surficial sediments on the shelf and slope off Tokachi, western North Pacific, inferred from C and N stable isotopes and C/N ratios. Marine Chemistry 98(2):241-259.

Vezina K, Bonn F, Van CP. 2006. Agricultural land-use patterns and soil erosion vulnerability of watershed units in Vietnam's northern highlands. Landscape ecology 21(8):1311-1325.

Vitousek PM, Naylor R, Crews T, David M, Drinkwater L, Holland E, Johnes P, Katzenberger J, Martinelli L, Matson P. 2009. Nutrient imbalances in agricultural development. Science 324(5934):1519.

Vukovic D, Vukovic Z, Stankovic S. 2014. The impact of the Danube Iron Gate Dam on heavy metal storage and sediment flux within the reservoir. Catena 113:18-23.

Water Management Information System [WAMIS] [Internet] http://www.wamis.go.kr/

World Commission on Dams [WCD]. 2000. Dams and development: a new framework for decision-making. Earthscan ^ eLondon London.

Wetzel RG. 2001. Limnology: lake and river ecosystems. Gulf Professional Publishing.

Winston B, Hausmann S, Escobar J, Kenney WF. 2014. A sediment record of trophic state change in an Arkansas (USA) reservoir. Journal of Paleolimnology 51(3):393-403.

Wu L, Long T-y, Liu X, Guo J-s. 2012. Impacts of climate and land-use changes on the migration of non-point source nitrogen and phosphorus during rainfall-runoff in the Jialing River Watershed, China. Journal of Hydrology 475:26-41.

Yang Z, Wang L, Liang T, Huang M. 2015. Nitrogen distribution and ammonia release from the overlying water and sediments of Poyang Lake, China. Environmental Earth Sciences 74(1):771-778.

Yesuf HM, Assen M, Melesse AM, Alamirew T. 2015. Detecting land use/land cover changes in the Lake Hayq (Ethiopia) drainage basin, 1957–2007. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management 20(1):1-18.

Yuan Y, Locke MA, Bingner RL, Rebich RA. 2013. Phosphorus losses from agricultural watersheds in the Mississippi Delta. Journal of environmental management 115:14-20.

Zehrer RF, Burns CW, Flöder S. 2015. Sediment resuspension, salinity and temperature affect the plankton community of a shallow coastal lake. Marine and Freshwater Research 66(4):317-328.

Zhao Y, Wu F, Fang X, Yang Y. 2015. Topsoil C/N ratios in the Qilian Mountains area: Implications for the use of subaqueous sediment C/N ratios in paleo-environmental reconstructions to indicate organic sources. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 426:1-9.

Chapter 2 IMPACTS OF LAND USE CHANGE AND SUMMER MONSOON CLIMATE ON NUTRIENTS AND SEDIMENT EXPORTS IN STREAM WATER QUALITY IN AN AGRICULTURAL CATCHMENT

Kiyong Kim^{1*}, Bomchul Kim², Jaesung Eum², Bumsuk Seo², Christopher L. Shope³, Klaus H. Knorr⁴ and Stefan Peiffer¹

¹ Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, Universitaetsstrasse 30,
95440 Bayreuth, Germany
² Kangwon National University, Chuncheon, 200-701, Gwangwon, Republic of Korea
³ U.S. Geological Survey, Utah Water Science Center, 2329 Orton Circle, Salt Lake City, UT
84119, USA
⁴ University of Muenster, Institute of Landscape Ecology, Ecohydrology and

Biogeochemistry Group, Heisenbergstrasse 2, Muenster, 48149, Germany

*Corresponding author: kiyong122333@gmail.com

2.1 ABSTRACT

Agricultural non-point source (NPS) pollution is a major concern for water quality management in Soyang watershed in South Korea. Nutrients (phosphorus and nitrogen), organic matter, and sediment exports in streams were estimated in an agricultural catchment (Haean catchment) for 2 years. The stream water samples were taken in dry and rainy seasons to evaluate a monsoonal rainfall effect to pollutants exports in the streams. An influence of

land use changes on NPS pollution was assessed by conducting a land use census for 2 years, and comparing the NPS exports characteristic for the 2 years. Total phosphorus (TP), suspended solid (SS), biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), and chemical oxygen demand (COD) increased dramatically in rainy seasons for 2 years. Land uses were changed for the 2 years of study period. Especially, dry fields and rice paddies have been decreased distinctively while orchard (apple, grape, and peach) and ginseng crops have been increased throughout the catchment. The TP and SS loadings decreased in the streams in 2010 compared to the loadings in 2009 while the BOD and NO_3^- have been not changed significantly. In this study, monsoonal driven rainfalls increased exports of agricultural NPS pollutants into streams. Land use change (mostly crop and paddy fields to orchards and ginseng fields) mitigated TP and SS exports into the streams.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Non-point source (NPS) pollution is the main cause of inland water deterioration and a priority issue for present water quality management worldwide (Rhee et al. 2012, Duncan 2014). NPS pollution is more difficult to control and to treat than pollution from point sources (PS) due to the complicated generation and formation (Berka et al. 2001, Shen et al. 2011), and concern for NPS pollution affecting lake water quality has continually increased (Qin et al. 2007, Gantidis et al. 2007). Better understanding nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) transport from agricultural NPS to surface waters is a major focus of scientific research and environmental policy (Hart et al. 2004, Vadas et al. 2005, Park et al. 2015). This is especially prevalent in agricultural areas where high amounts of N and P are the main NPS contamination factors into surface waters (Elçi and Selçuk 2013, Lou et al. 2015), which results in increased algal production and amplifies lake and reservoir eutrophication (Correll 1998, Ma et al. 2011). The NPS pollution contributes to excessive sediment, nutrients, and organic matter in streams

during the summer rainy season under monsoonal climate conditions. Studies conducted in monsoonal climate regions have shown that mountainous areas with intensive highland agriculture induce high nutrient (especially N and P) loading into rivers, particularly during the summer monsoonal conditions (Park et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2011). Soil erosion is enormously induced on high land agricultural area with steep slopes in combination with intense rainfalls during rainy season (Jain 2002). High turbidity surface discharge due to large-scale soil erosion causes environmental deterioration that severely impacts to aquatic ecosystems (Lee et al. 2013). In recent years, studies have focused on finding practical and efficient agricultural practices that reduce agricultural NPS pollutant yields under the moniker of best management practices (BMPs) (Chiang et al. 2012, Dechim and Skhiri 2013). Efforts to identify the ideal BMP are still in progress (Yulianti et al. 1999, Gitau et al. 2008, Liu et al. 2013). Among the ways to manage NPS pollution, land use change is regarded as one of the most efficient factors, by directly influencing hydrologic processes at the catchment-scale (Johnes 1996, Sargaonkar 2006, You et al. 2012, Fučík et al. 2014, Ren et al. 2015). In general, land use change, such as dry field crops to orchard farms, can reduce soil erosion, which decreases fertilizer inputs and minimizes ecological disturbances in critical ecosystems.

In South Korea, the Ministry of Environment (MoE) has established comprehensive NPS pollution management measures for the four major rivers of the Han: the Nakdong, the Geum and the Yeongsan and the Sumjin rivers since 2004. The MoE has also designated the Lake Soyang watershed, which includes our study catchment, as a special management area (Jun 2015). These governmental policies and management directives have attempted to diminish turbidity levels in streams in South Korea. Consistent with these regulatory changes, the patterns in land use have been substantially altered in recent years, with the amount of land use for ginseng and orchard farming that causes less soil deteriorations compared to crop lands (Wang et al. 2001), continuously increasing.

Goal for this study is to scale the extent of NPS pollution in an agricultural catchment. We tried to assess the effect of exports from agricultural NPSs to streams in the catchment and also attempted to evaluate the land use change impact on nutrients and sediment exports by comparing 2 years in which the land use significantly changed in the catchment. To achieve the goals, the stream water qualities of the Haean catchment, located in the Lake Soyang watershed and a hot spot as nutrients, sediments, and organic matter sources into the lake, was monitored for 2 years (2009–2010). Event mean concentrations (EMCs) and biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD), suspended solid (SS), total nitrogen (TN), and total phosphorus (TP) loading were calculated to evaluate the water quality in streams influenced by NPS. Principal component analysis (PCA) was also used to determine the factors contributing to NPS loading in the catchment. Land use re-classification processing along the stream areas (Seo et al. 2014) was conducted to assess land use change effects to NPS exports into the streams in the catchment.

2.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.3.1 Land use map survey

We modified the land use dataset from Seo et al. (2014) to characterize the land use according to each stream basin. A plot-scale land use census was completed throughout the Haean catchment (61.52 km²) in 2009 and 2010, and subsequently digitized into GIS. The investigation yielded more than 3,000 individual land use classifications with regard both to crop and non-crop areas. Land use polygons were classified into a categorical aggregation for simplicity and associated with ecological and physical traits. Ground observations, completed by the Research Institute of Gangwon Province (RIG) during the 2007 crop season, were used for qualitative validation of the 2009 and 2010 land use classification. A total 11 aggregated

land use classifications were used to evaluate the land use change status for each stream watershed.

2.3.2 Study site and sampling description

The study area encompasses the Haean catchment located in Yanggu County, Gangwon Province, South Korea. The catchment is bowl-shaped and locally known as the 'punch-bowl'; Bartsch et al 2013. It encompasses a mountainous headwater portion of the watershed of Lake Soyang, which supplies drinking water for the Seoul metropolitan area since construction in 1973 (Kim et al. 2000). The elevation of the Haean catchment ranges from 339 to 1,320 m and the area is surrounded by high elevation Precambrian Gneiss complex while the low elevation central portion is a highly weather Jurassic biotite granite intrusion (Kwon et al. 1990). The climate has a mean annual air temperature of 8.7°C with winter temperatures as low as -27°C and summer temperatures as high as 33 °C. The average annual precipitation determined by the Korea Meteorological Administration (KMA) is 1,400 mm yr⁻¹ and over seventy percent of the annual precipitation falls during summer monsoon season, June to August, (Bartsch et al. 2013). The catchment is largely forested particularly at high elevation. The remaining area is comprised mostly of dry croplands and rice paddy agriculture (Seo et al. 2014). An important land use in the region is highland agriculture, which cultivates crops (potato, radish, and cabbage) in steep slopes, and the dominant nutrient sources are artificial fertilizers and livestock manure applications to cropland in the Haean catchment (Kettering et al. 2012). Highland agriculture in the Lake Soyang watershed has been shown to cause increases in nutrient loading into streams from non-point sources (NPSs) from sources such as the overuse of organic fertilizers, resulting in turbid water (Jung et al. 2009). The Haean catchment headwaters are one of the most problematic turbid water sources to Lake Soyang.



Figure 2.1 Study area and sites (maps of the Northeast Asia; A, the Korean Peninsula: B, Soyang watershed; C, and Haean catchment including study sites (green circles); D)

Seven streams were selected for water quality monitoring (Fig. 2.1) including: Naedong (Site N), Dunjunggol (Site D), Kunjigol (Site K), Sunghwang (Site S), Wolsan (Site W), Chungryongangol (Site C), which flow to the Mandae stream (Site M), an outlet of the Haean catchment continuing toward Inbuk stream and the Soyang River flowing into Lake Soyang. Water samples were collected at each site during rainfall periods and bi-monthly during dry conditions from June to December in 2009 and monthly in 2010. For 11 individual storm vents (4 times in 2009 and 7 times in 2010, respectively), at least 10 water samples were collected for each rainfall event (Table 2.1). However, samples were not collected at Site D during the 2nd storm event due to inaccessibility as a function of massive mudslides. Surface discharge data were also collected at each of the sites. Hourly precipitation data was obtained from the KMA.

No. of event	Date	Total amount	Intensity	Intensity order
		(mm)	(mm hr ⁻¹)	
1	09' Jul 9 th –10 th	149.0	5.4	3
2	09' Jul 12 th -13 th	118.0	2.7	7
3	09' Jul 14 th –15 th	148.0	6.6	2
4	09' Aug 11 th -12 th	210.0	9.5	1
5	10' May 18 th –19 th	67.5	3.8	4
6	10' May 23 rd –25 th	43.0	1.5	8
7	10' Jul 2 nd -3 rd	36.5	1.3	10
8	10' Jul 16 th –19 th	91.5	1.3	9
9	10' Aug 7 th -8 th	56.5	1.2	11
10	10' Aug 25 th -27 th	117.0	2.7	6
11	10' Sep $2^{nd} - 3^{rd}$	77.5	2.8	5

Table 2.1 Dates, rainfall amounts, and rainfall intensities for each rain event

2.3.3 Laboratory analyses

All water samples were stored in cool conditions (<4° C) and acidified prior to laboratory analysis. Water samples were filtered through Whatman GF/C glass fiber filters (pore size 1.0 μ m) to measure the concentrations of SS and dissolved N and P. Unfiltered water samples were analyzed for TP and TN and were preserved by acidifying with H₂SO₄ to pH < 2. TP was analyzed using the ascorbic acid method after persulfate digestion. Total nitrogen was measured using the cadmium reduction method after digestion with potassium persulfate. BOD was calculated by determining the difference in dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration between in-situ conditions and after 5 days of incubation at 20° C using a DO meter (YSI 58 Dissolved Oxygen Meter, USA, YSI incorporated). The KMnO₄ method was used for COD analysis. Turbidity was measured using a nephelometer (Hach). All of the analysis methods for water samples were completed according to references in Standard Methods 20th Ed. (APHA 2012). We used an electronic flow meter (Flo-MateTM 2000 Flow Meter, USA, Marsh-MacBirney) to

estimate discharge with the velocity-area method, which is commonly used to measure discharge in open channels (Shope et al. 2013). Using this method, the flow velocity and cross sectional area are measured separately for each stream in the catchment (Buchanan and Somers 1968). Stream discharge during both wet and dry conditions were measured at least 10 times at each of the stream monitoring locations and rating curves were developed to describe the relationship between discharge and water level for each stream. When water samples were collected at each monitoring location, discharge was estimated using a stage/discharge rating curve.

Detailed description and equations about flow measurement method are shown below (Equation 2-1 and 2-2).

2.3.4 Calculation for discharges, event mean concentration (EMC), and pollutant loading Surface water discharge

Equation 2-1

$$Q_1 = (H_{i+1} + H_i) \frac{W_i}{2} V_i$$

where W_i is the distance to measurement points along the transect, V_i is stream velocity, H_i is water depth, and i is the subarea dimension, which is typically 20–25 measurements across the stream width.

Equation 2-2

$$Q=\int Q_i=\int A_i V_i$$

where V_i is stream velocity and A_i is the integrated stream area.

EMC (event mean concentration) Pollutant export equations or EMC values are fundamental and effective approaches used in water quality assessment for examining changes in stream chemistry during rainfall events (Lin 2004, Hu and Huang 2014). EMC is the total loading divided by the total discharge volume for a storm event. EMC is defined as;

Equation 2-3

$$EMC = \frac{M}{V} = \frac{\int C(t)Q(t)}{\int Q(t)}$$

where C(t) and Q(t) are the concentration of a solute and runoff measured during a storm event, M is the mass, and V is the discharge volume, respectively. The EMC results in a flowweighted average and does not simply represent a time average of the solute concentration.

Constituent loading Loading of nutrients to receiving waters is estimated by the product of EMC and surface water discharge. The EMC values are expressed as milligrams per liter (mg L^{-1}) and can be used to calculate the pollutant load. Annual mean loading of pollutants was estimated as the total loading multiplied by the ratio of annual rainfall to total rain fall for the storm event. The annual total load of pollutants per area (km²) for each sub-catchment was estimated as the annual total loading divided by area of each catchment.

2.3.5 Principal component analysis (PCA)

PCA analysis was used as multivariate statistical technique to identify the most influential factors that contribute to NPS pollution effects in the catchment. The EMC data of TP, TN, NO₃⁻, BOD, COD, SS, and rainfall related factors (rainfall intensity (RI), amount (RA) and stream discharge) were used for the PCA analysis as explanatory variables. The PCA analysis produces a new variable set including information on the water quality data set. The analysis

provides the principal components as number of parameters used, their eigenvalues, and proportions.

2.4 RESULTS

2.4.1 Precipitation variations

More than half of the annual precipitation is concentrated in the summer season (May to Sep.) based on 10 years of data (2002–2011) within the Haean catchment. In both study years (2009–2010), over 70 % of annual precipitation amount occurred during each of the summer monsoon seasons (73 % in 2009 and 81 % in 2010, respectively; Fig. 2.2). The precipitation volume and rainfall intensity differed among studied rain event periods (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.2). The maximum intensity was 9.5 mm hr⁻¹ during the 4th rain event in 2009 and overall, the intensity was stronger and the volume of rainfall for each event was greater in 2009 relative to 2010 (Table 2.1). In case of the 2nd event in 2009 and the 10th event in 2010, the intensities and the amounts of precipitation between the two events were similar (2.7 mm hr⁻¹ with total 118.0 mm for the 2nd event and 2.7 mm hr⁻¹ with total 117.0 mm for the 10th event, respectively; Table 2.1).



Figure 2.2 Variations of hourly precipitation for 2 years (2009–2010)

2.4.2 Land use changes

For the 2 years between 2009 and 2010, significant land use changes were found in dry fields (mostly white radish and potato), rice paddy fields, orchards (mostly apple, grape, and peach), and ginseng crops throughout the catchment (Table 2.2 and Fig 2.3). Dry and rice paddy fields decreased from 16.97 % (10.67 km²) to 12.65 % (7.95 km²) and from 8.71 % (5.47 km²) to 8.24 % (5.18 km²), respectively. On the other hand, more profitable orchards and ginseng farms increased from 0.32 % (0.20 km²) to 1.51 % (0.95 km²) and from 0.79 % (0.49 km²) to 2.57 % (1.59 km²) %, respectively in the catchment for the same 2 years (Table 2). Semi grid, which includes fallow land, also increased in the catchment from 11.53 % (7.24 km²) to 14.43 % (9.07 km²). Previous studies have shown (Seo et al. 2014) that the spatial footprint of ginseng farming has increased the most from 0.69 % (0.03 km²) to 9.16 % (0.36 km²) of the watershed in the region of Site N, among all of the watersheds of the study streams and that orchards also increased from 0.01 % to 0.82 % in the same watershed (Table 2.2 and Fig.2.4).

Site		Semi	Paddy	Dry	Ginseng	Orchard
М	09'	12.7	9.9	19.1	0.9	0.4
	10'	15.8	9.4	14.4	2.7	1.7
XX 7	09'	9.2	4.2	9.5	0.1	0.0
٧V	10'	12.1	4.2	5.5	2.5	1.0
IZ.	09'	9.7	14.1	15.7	0.7	0.0
ĸ	10'	13.4	12.2	11.2	1.5	1.8
D	09'	22.2	19.3	29.6	1.0	0.0
	10'	26.6	17.9	24.6	4.8	0.1
Ν	09'	18.3	7.1	24.9	0.7	0.0
	10'	21.9	6.8	18.9	9.2	0.8
С	09'	9.8	6.7	21.2	0.0	0.2
	10'	11.5	6.7	18.6	3.5	0.4
S	09'	10.7	10.6	16.7	1.2	0.1
	10'	12.7	10.0	13.4	1.9	2.7
Total	09'	11.5	8.7	17.0	0.8	0.3
	10'	14.4	8.2	12.6	2.5	1.5

Table 2.2 Percentages of main land uses of Haean catchment in 2009 and 2010



Figure 2.3 Land use changes in Haean catchment for 2 years (2009–2010)




Figure 2.4 Land use changes in a watershed of Site N for 2 years (2009-2010)

2.4.3 Variations of water quality parameters

For this study, we sampled each of the stream sites during non-monsoon periods monthly and 11 times during storm events, respectively. During dry (non-monsoon) period, no significant variations of TN, NO_3^- , COD, and BOD were evident in either of the years, whereas TP and

SS varied widely at all of the sampling sites. At Site N, the average values of TN, NO_3^- , and BOD were 5.1 ±0.7 (n=44), 4.5 ±0.6 (n=41) and 1.0 ±0.6 (n=48), respectively while the annual averages of SS and TP were 84.2 ±302.1 (n=48) and 78.1 ±125.2 (n=47) with wider ranges of changes (Fig.2.5).



Figure 2.5 Average concentrations of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD), total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO₃⁻), suspended solid (SS), and total phosphorus (TP) at Site N during dry seasons for 2 years (2009–2010)

Throughout the rainy season, the concentrations of pollutants varied during all of the rainfall events. For the 1st precipitation event in 2009, the average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP at Site M (the outlet of the Haean catchment) were 2,934 (range 288–12,115) mg L⁻¹, 2.8 (range 1.8–3.9) mgN L⁻¹, and 1.2 (range 0.1–3.2) mgP L⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 2.6). The average concentrations of BOD and COD were 1.3 (range 0.1–2.9) mgO₂ L⁻¹ and 15.4 (range 6.2–23.3) mgO₂ L⁻¹, respectively during the same event (Fig. 2.6). Similar variations were found at Site N, in which the average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP were 3,187 (range 400–11,440) mg L⁻¹, 2.9 (range 1.6–4.5) mgN L⁻¹, and 1.4 (range 0.4–3.2) mgP L⁻¹ for the same event,

respectively (Fig. 2.7). The other studied streams showed similar patterns of concentrations for most of the parameters with the exception of TP, which remained below 2 mgP L⁻¹ at the other sites. The average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP at Site D, in which the watershed area is smallest (1.45 km²), were 2,641 (range 81–13,410) mg L⁻¹, 2.7 (range 1.6–5.7) mgN L⁻¹, and 1.0 (range 0.1–2.8) mgP L⁻¹. In Site C, which has the second smallest watershed area (2.01 km²) among all of the study sites, the concentrations were 1,794 (35–6,688) mg L⁻¹, 2.1 (1.7–3.3) mgN L⁻¹, and 1.0 (0.1–3.6) mgP L⁻¹, respectively for the 1st event in 2009.



Figure 2.6 Variations of water quality parameters (turbidity, TN, nitrate, TP, DIP, and precipitation) at Site M during the 1st rain event

1st rainfall event (Site N)



Figure 2.7 Variations of water quality parameters (turbidity, TN, nitrate, TP, DIP, and precipitation) at Site N during the 1st rain event

The maximum concentration of SS at Site K was 18,150 mg L^{-1} for the 1st rain event and was the highest concentration of SS among the measured SS concentrations in all of the study streams in the catchment in 2009. The average TP concentration for the 1st rain event at the Site W was 0.9 mgP L^{-1} , which is the lowest concentration for the event in 2009. For the fourth event in 2009, the average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP peaked in all of the streams, with the exception of Site W. The average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP at the Site W were 2,796 (156–8,155) mg L⁻¹, 2.4 (1.1–3.7) mgN L⁻¹, and 1.3 (0.1–4.6) mgP L⁻¹, respectively. The 5th rainfall event with the most intense precipitation caused the maximum average concentrations of the SS, TN, and TP, as well as BOD and COD at all study sites in 2010. The average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP at Site M were 1,073 (60–3,795) mg L⁻¹, 5.0 (3.3– 7.2) mgN L⁻¹, and 1.3 (0.3–5.2) mgP L⁻¹, respectively. BOD and COD were 9.6 (3.0–16.5) mgO₂ L⁻¹ and 20.6 (2.2–55.2) mgO₂ L⁻¹, respectively during the 5th event. The patterns of variations for the each parameter showed similar variations during storm events between 2009 and 2010. Especially, TP, SS, and Turbidity increased with increasing discharge and steadily decreased after rainfall cessation for both 2009 and 2010 years. However the variation in patterns of N concentrations (TN and NO₃⁻) differed during each event and no consistent patterns were observed for either of the years.

2.4.4 EMC and pollutant loading

EMC (event mean concentration) The EMCs of SS, TN, and TP at Site M were 3,804 mg L⁻¹, 3.4 mgN L⁻¹, and 1.6 mgP L⁻¹, respectively for the 4th rain event in 2009 (Table 2.3). The EMC of SS was higher at each of the study sites during the 4th storm event relative to the other rain events in 2009. At Site K, the highest EMC of SS (8,763 mg L⁻¹) was recorded for the 4th rain event in 2009. At site S, which has a greater watershed area than the other sites, the EMC of SS (2,971 mg L⁻¹) was lower than the smaller streams, in which the EMCs of SS were 3,787 mg L⁻¹ at Site D and 4,872 mg L⁻¹ at Site C, respectively, for the 4th event. The EMCs of TN (2.5 mgN L⁻¹) and TP (1.6 mgP L⁻¹) were lower at Site W than the EMCs of TN and TP at site K (3.5 mgN L⁻¹ and 2.5 mgP L⁻¹, respectively) with similar watershed area for the same event. The EMC of BOD was highest at all study sites for the first rainfall event (5th rain event) in

2010. The EMC of BOD at site M was 9.8 mgO₂ L^{-1} at the same time. Comparing the results of EMCs between all of the stream sites between 2009 and 2010, EMCs of SS and TP remained lower at all sites in 2010 while EMCs of TN and BOD increased over the 2 consecutive years. Of particular importance, an average EMC of SS at all of the streams drastically plunged in 2010, compared to the average EMC of SS in 2009 (Table 2.3).

Event No.	BOD	COD	SS	TN	NO ₃	TP
1	1.0	16.15	2954	2.24	1.67	1.27
2	2.3	16.77	1837	2.08	1.56	1.37
3	2.0	16.56	1587	1.76	1.53	0.81
4	8.7	24.76	3804	3.43	1.37	1.62
5	9.8	20.92	1281	5.08	2.52	1.45
6	4.0	10.97	304	3.90	2.78	0.49
7	4.6	13.19	427	3.77	2.68	0.46
8	5.1	16.40	661	3.54	2.48	0.71
9	2.1	6.36	738	3.04	1.76	0.95
10	3.2	8.96	332	3.16	2.05	0.46
11	2.8	6.80	313	3.25	1.80	0.48

Table 2.3 Event mean concentrations (EMCs) at Site M during rain events (unit: mg L^{-1})

Areal pollutant loading throughout stream watersheds in the catchment Overall, the total areal loads of SS and TP in 2009 were higher relative to 2010 (Table 2.4). The areal loads of SS and TP at Site M were 1,148,377 kg km⁻² and 558 kgP km⁻², respectively in 2009 and 169,526 kg km⁻² and 209 kgP km⁻², respectively in 2010. The total loads of SS and TP at Site D were the lowest among the study sites with total SS and TP loads of 762,641 kg km⁻² and 379 kgP km⁻², respectively, in 2009 and 138,284 kg km⁻² and 157 kgP km⁻², respectively, in 2010. Site K transported the most SS, N, and P into Site M among all of the streams in the catchment. The loads of SS, TN, and TP were lower at Site W than the amount of loads at Site N, although the area of Site W watershed was bigger than the watershed area of Site N. The

calculated annual load per total watershed area, based on the rainfall ratio between the 2 years indicated that loads of all parameters were higher in 2009 than in 2010 (Table 2.4).

	Site		BOD	COD	SS	TN	TP
	М -	09'	1496	8246	1148377	1056	558
		10'	1250	3529	169526	1072	209
	W	09'	1404	7384	901661	643	446
	**	10'	613	2472	103351	566	106
	V	09'	1425	6430	2377372	931	629
	K -	10'	893	3195	153741	968	163
	D	09'	1320	4430	762641	654	379
		10'	701	2269	138284	585	157
	N	09'	1768	6404	2172759	1397	850
	1	10'	981	3055	258560	979	185
	C -	09'	2386	15281	1873577	1170	1100
		10'	1218	3819	233318	1263	238
	s -	09'	1450	4267	481667	580	320
		10'	500	1435	73204	563	96
A	Annual	09'	28219	131568	24380657	16134	10741
loads	10'	19616	63021	3601173	19109	3676	

Table 2.4 Areal loadings of pollutants (BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP) at study sites during rain events (unit: kg km⁻² yr⁻¹)

2.4.5 Statistical analysis - principal components analysis (PCA)

For this study, the first two principal components (PC1 and PC2) showed eigenvalues higher than 1 (2.04 and 1.48, respectively) from the PCA analysis with the data set (Table 2.5). When eigenvalues are higher than 1, the corresponding components are considered as significant. The two components explained more than 70 % of total variance of our data set (Table 2.5). Therefore, PC1 and PC2 were the only datasets used for further interpretation. PC1 was comprised of EMC of SS, COD, and TP as well as rainfall indices (rainfall intensity (RI) and rainfall amount (RA)) while PC2 incorporated contributions from TN, NO₃⁻, and BOD (Fig. 2.8). Therefore, PC 1 can be regarded as a factor representing high loading of TP, SS, and rainfall parameters and PC2 can be defined as the component that represents negative nitrogen

parameters and BOD loadings. The events in 2009 were all located in the upper right section with values higher than the PC1 axis and the events in 2010 were located in the lower left section with values less than 0. The final 3 events (from 9th to 11th event) all located in the upper left quadrant indicating lower values in the PC1 axis and higher values in the PC 2 axis (Fig. 2.8).

Table 2.5 Results of principal component analysis with water quality parameters (SS, TP, TN, NO₃⁻, BOD, COD, rainfall intensity, and rainfall amount)

	PC 1	PC 2
Eigenvalue	2.04	1.48
Proportion	0.46	0.24
Cumulative portion	0.46	0.71
	Loadings	
Parameters	PC 1	PC 2
SS	0.41	0.03
ТР	0.42	-0.19
TN	-0.03	-0.63
NO ₃ ⁻	-0.24	-0.44
BOD	0.26	-0.45
COD	0.36	-0.26





Figure 2.8 Loadings of two principal components from water quality parameters during rain events

2.5 DISCUSSION

2.5.1 Characteristics of agricultural NPS pollution in the catchment

The average concentration of SS and TP of each stream under dry conditions was much lower than during rain events (Table 2.6), suggesting that primary transport processes are rainfall/runoff flushing of terrestrial sources (Su et al. 2016, Cho et al. 2016). In general, the average concentrations of BOD in all of the study streams in the Haean catchment during dry conditions was within the management guidelines as suggested by the Korean MoE (Table 2.7). However, the average concentration of TN in all of the study streams was higher than the criteria of TN for lake water quality (Table 2.6 and 2.7).

Site		BOD	COD	SS	TN	TP
м	avg.	1.4	3.1	22.8	4.9	65.3
IVI	s.d.	0.5	1.9	42.8	0.9	67.2
W	Avg.	0.9	2.9	16.5	2.8	29.9
**	s.d.	0.5	3.3	71.5	0.8	88.3
K	Avg.	1.1	2.5	23.9	4.4	47.2
K	s.d.	0.6	1.8	51.2	0.7	59.2
D	Avg.	1.0	3.0	13.6	4.0	29.1
D	s.d.	0.6	2.5	21.6	0.8	35.9
N	Avg.	1.0	3.0	84.2	5.1	78.1
IN	s.d.	0.6	3.3	302.2	0.7	125.2
C	Avg.	2.0	4.3	19.2	3.3	61.5
C	s.d.	1.4	3.1	67.1	0.9	82.4
S	Avg.	1.2	2.6	36.8	4.4	55.0
8 -	s.d.	0.8	1.7	112.5	1.0	113.8

Table 2.6 Average concentrations (with standard deviations) of BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP during dry seasons

Table 2.7 Classification of water quality levels by Korean standards

Notch	For s	treams	For lakes		
	BOD	SS	TP	TN	
1	≤1	≤ 25	≤ 0.01	≤ 0.2	
2	≤ 3	≤ 25	≤ 0.03	≤ 0.4	
3	≤ 6	≤ 25	≤ 0.05	≤ 0.6	
4	≤ 8	≤ 100	≤ 0.10	≤ 1.0	
5	≤ 10	No trash	≤ 0.15	≤ 1.5	

The fertilizer seemed to cause the high N concentration in the streams as reported in many studies in agricultural areas (Bao et al. 2006, Giri and Qiu 2016). Of particular importance, SS and TP concentrations were much higher (with wider variability) than the Korean water quality standard during dry periods at many locations (Table 2.6 and Table 2.7). It appears that

government-driven treatment facility construction to reduce turbidity in surface water, which is observed since 2009, ironically increased soil disturbance over the catchment. In terms of nutrients and sediment concentrations in stream water during precipitation events, the quality throughout stream sites in the Haean catchment were generally lower than water quality results from previous studies, which were conducted in the other main river systems in Korea and also at the same stream as Site M (Kim et al. 2007a, Jung 2012). Three sites, located in the forest area of Gum River watershed in Korea, displayed lower SS, TN, and TP concentrations than the Haean sites during storm events (Kim et al. 2007a). Two streams located in the Lake Soyang watershed (Jawoon and Naerin streams) displayed lower SS and TP concentrations compared to the monitoring locations of this study, although TN was similar (Jung et al. 2009). The concentration of TP at Site N was higher than the TP concentration at other monitoring locations, which seems the result of the government driven construction in the watershed of Site N. The watershed of Site N was identified as the primary subject area for turbid water control therefore it seemed that attached-P onto soil is exported into streams during the construction period. Site D and C extended over a relatively smaller area of the watershed than the remaining watershed areas in the catchment and showed lower average concentrations of SS, TN, and TP than those in the rest of the monitoring sites during rain events. During the 4th event, which produced the highest volume and intensity of rainfall during the study period, all parameters peaked with the highest concentrations at all steams except for Site N, clearly showing the rainfall impact on pollutant exports (Randall et al. 2001, Delpa et al. 2011). However, the rainfall effect seems mitigated by the land use at Site W, of which the watershed is dominated by forest. The forest land use mitigates the amount of exports from the watershed (Beaulac and Reckhow 1982, Poor and McDonnell 2007).

During all storm events over the 2 years of 2009 and 2010, the average EMCs of SS, TN, TP, and BOD were all the lowest at Site W among the monitoring locations, indicating that forest

land use exports less nutrients and soil into streams during runoff (Zhuang et al. 2015). There was no clear difference among EMCs of pollutants based on the stream watershed sizes but the EMCs of TP and SS remained lower at Site W than the EMCs at Site K, which had a similar watershed area as Site W. These results again indicate that forested land use can potentially mitigate soil erosion and phosphorus exports (Peterjohn et al. 1984, Wang et al. 2014, Yao et al. 2016). Comparing the average EMCs of pollutants at the outlet site (Site M) between 2009 and 2010, the average EMC of TN increased while the average EMCs of TP and SS decreased. We hypothesize that the decreased intensity of rainfall in 2010, reducing soil erosion processes, is one of the possible reasons for the decreased SS and TP, which are usually exported concurrently from agricultural fields (Kim et al. 2014). Additionally, the government-driven construction of new facilities to diminish turbid water generation in the catchment seemed to decrease soil loss from the catchment. However, the extent of SS export is still higher than the export from other stream sites (Table 2.8), therefore consistent soil management protecting erosion, such as reducing soil inverting and mountainous soil disturbance for new crop land, should be implemented (Baumhardt et al. 2015).

Table 2.8 Event mean concentrations (EMCs) of BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP of streams in South Korea (literature

reviews)

Site	Area (km²)	Primary land use (%)	BOD	COD	SS	TN	ТР	Sources
Imsil stream	_	Forest (over	2.7	6.9	75.9	2.7	0.19	Kwak et
Seomjin River		70 %)	2.6	5.1	46.5	2.3	0.13	al. 2008
3 sites in	60.2	Forest	3.11-5.74	3.4-12.7	2.1-30.0	0.9-2.9	0.02-0.13	Dork at al
Seomjin	00.2 8	Paddy	8.2-15.5	15.6-33.4		3.2-7.2	0.2142	2005 Park et al.
River	0	Dry field	4.6-11.8	6.7-17.6		2.3-3.7	0.03-0.44	2005
Sutong	3.38	Forest (99.5)	-	-	-	0.9	0.28	
Sansuchon	2.85	Forest (94.2)	-	-	-	0.9	0.16	
Daegokcho n	4.97	Forest (82.3 %) Crop & rice paddy (14.8 %)	-	-	-	2.1	0.62	Kim et al. 2007
Sinheung	27.3 7	Forest (44.8 %) Rice paddy (35.9 %)	-	-	-	4.9	1.36	
2 sites in	0.47	Paddy and forest (58.6 %)	26.0	-	11.1	-	-	Choi et al.
basin	0.54	Paddy and forest (55.5 %)	22.6	-	17.6	-	-	2011
Up & down streams in	4.29	Forest (100 %)	0.6	1.5	1.7	0.03	0.48	Vang 2006
Kokseong River	30.7 8	Forest (71.9 %) Paddy (12.4 %)	2.9	4.8	63.5	0.18	1.67	1 ang 2000
Jawoon stream	-	Forest (85.6 %) Agricultural area (9.6 %)	1.8		207	3.94	0.27	Jung et al. 2009
Soyang River 2004			1.4	8.9	199	1.6	0.20	
Soyang River 2005	-	Mostly forest	0.8	4.2	303	2.1	0.103	Kim and Jung 2007
Soyang River 2006			1.7	10.1	531	2.4	0.244	
Mandae stream 2004	(Same	e site as the Site M	1.32	11.8	436	2.8	0.363	Juna 2012
Mandae stream 2006	i	in this study)	1.57	8.97	387	2.68	0.338	Jung 2012
Site M 2009		This study	3.5	18.6	2545	2.4	1.27	This start
Site M 2010		I his study	4.5	11.9	579	3.7	0.71	This study

The highest EMCs of BOD in all of the sites during the 5th event can be explained by a "first flush" effect (Kim et al. 2007b, Nguyen et al. 2010). The antecedent non-rainfall period was the longest at that time allowing for accumulation of biodegradable OM sources on the soil (Guggenberger et al. 1998, McLaughlin and Kaplan 2013). Perhaps, the most interesting results were found in the variability of BOD and COD, which display inverse relationships over the studied 2 years. BOD increased in the watershed, which can be interpreted as elevated biodegradable organic matter (i.e. manure) within the catchment (Haynes and Naidu 1998). On the other hand, we hypothesized that non-biodegradable (recalcitrant) organic matter (OM) was

decreased in 2010 relative to 2009, based on the decreased EMC of COD. The results suggest that lower OM is exported from the forest area, which usually consists of forest detritus, leaf litter, and woody debris that containing lignin and cellulose substance, due to less intensive rainfall in 2010. In comparison with EMCs investigated in previous studies in Korea and overseas, the EMCs for SS and TP were much higher than the other localities, regardless of rainfall intensity and land use distribution (Table 2.8 and Table 2.9). The EMC of TP at Site M in this study was much higher compared to streams in other regions, which displayed similar summer monsoonal rainfall characteristics such as rainfall intensity and periods in Korea (Park et al. 2005, Kim et al. 2007, Kwak et al. 2008, Choi et al. 2011, Yang 2006, Jung et al. 2009, Kim and Jung 2007, Jung 2012; Table 2.8). Also comparing to results from locations in other countries, the EMCs were higher (Hu and Huang 2014, Sharma et al. 2012, Gentry et al. 2007, Harper 1998, McKergow et al. 2003; Table 2.9). These results imply that the runoff into streams throughout the Haean catchment transported a significant amount of suspended sediment with attached P into the receiving reservoir, Lake Soyang. The effects of turbid water inflow are well studied in the Soyang reservoir. The turbid water inflow deteriorated water transparency and the high amount of P, which is the primary limiting factor in most inland waters of Korea, also prompted eutrophic conditions in the reservoir (Kim and Jung 2007).

Table 2.9 Event mean concentrations (EMCs) of BOD, COD, SS, TN, and TP in streams in oversea countries (literature reviews)

Site	Watershed area (km ²)		Primary land use (%)	BOD	COD	SS	TN	ТР	Sources
Siheshui watershed	China	131	Agriculture and forest	3.14	5.75	58.3	3.52	0.26	Hu and Huang 2014
River Yamuna	India	Agricultural runoff samples		21.8	73.5	77.6	15.3		Sharma et al. 2012
Embarras River (1997-2003)		481	Agriculture (91 %)					0.14- 0.35	
Lake Fork watershed (1998-2003)	USA	365	Agriculture (91 %)					0.11- 0.21	Gentry et al. 2007
Big Ditch watershed (2001-2003)		101	Agriculture (86 %)					0.19- 0.38	
Florida	USA	Runoff samples	Agriculture	3.8		55.3	2.32	0.34	Harper 1998
North Willyung catchment	Australia	5.9	Cattle			9.9 Med	2.51 Med	0.48 Med	McKerg ow et al. 2003



Figure 2.9 Scatter plots and correlation coefficients among water quality parameters at all study sites during rain events for 2 years (2009–2010)

The relationship in EMCs of TN and NO_3^- at all monitoring locations were relatively well correlated with a correlation coefficient of 0.65 (figure 2.9). However the NO_3^- and TN relationship at Site N was not evident with a lower correlation coefficient (0.37; Figure 2.10) and the patterns showed high temporal variations of TN and NO_3^- in some of the investigated rain events (Figure 2.11). It appears that there was a huge loss of organic N from Site N and the high correlation coefficient between TN and BOD, which also can explain biodegradable organic matter amounts such as manure and organic fertilizer, supports this assumption (Figure 2.10). However, the patterns differed temporally, which can perhaps be attributed to the effect of different time scales of organic fertilizer application.

	2 6 10		5 10 20		1.4 1.8 2.2 2.6	v
Flowrate	-0.21	0.58	0.23	-0.29	-0.71	0.76
۵ - ⁰ ۵ ۵ ۵ ۵ ۵	BOD	0.48	0.73	0.8	-0.035	0.35
0 0 0 00 00 00	°°°°	TSS	0.49	0.058	-0.67	0.92
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	္ ၀ ၀	° 8°°°°	COD	0.74	-0.15	0.55
°°°°°°°°	88°	°°°°°	°°°°°°	TN	0.37	0.086
1.4 2.4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	800 0 800 0	°°°°	°°°°	°°°°	NO3.N	-0.67
	୦ <b>୦</b> ୦୦ ଜୁନ	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		°°°°	TP
1e+05 4e+05		0 2000 5000		2.0 3.0 4.0		0.5 1.5

Figure 2.10 Scatter plots and correlation coefficients among water quality parameters at Site N during rain events for 2 years (2009–2010)





Figure 2.11 Variations of TN and nitrate concentrations at Site N during 8th rain event

## 2.5.2 Monsoonal climate effects on the watershed

Similar results were reported in other monsoonal climate areas (Jain 2002, Wu et al. 2012). Especially, the losses of TP and SS into the streams were influenced most by the rainfall among the water quality parameters (Fraser et al. 1999) and the losses of TP and SS is generated mostly during the summer monsoon season in Korea (Chun et al. 2010, Park et al. 2010). In combination with crop cultivation under high slopes in the area, the effect of monsoonal rainfall is amplified, producing higher annual SS loading relative to other SS loss estimations in Korea and other countries (Montgomery 2007, Arnhold et al. 2014). Comparing the export patterns of EMCs according to differences in the storm event intensities, the exports rates of all of the investigated pollutants were consistent with rainfall intensities that displayed high correlation coefficients (Fig. 2.9). This is commonly observed in studies that focused on agricultural NPS pollution exports, especially in monsoonal climate areas. However, the EMCs of TN and NO₃⁻⁻ were not strongly correlated with the rain factors (Figure 2.9). It appears that the variations of N parameters during storm events depend on a variety of factors, including fertilizer application period, manure production, and N loss to the air through denitrification processes, compared to the other investigated parameters (Jenkinson 2001).

The results of our PCA analysis showed the relationship of monsoonal rainfall on SS and TP exports to streams. The PC1, which explained 46.4% of variance and is positively influenced by TP, SS, and rainfall factors (Table 2.5), displays a positive relationship with the relatively intense rain events (all events in 2009 and also the 5th event in 2010) (Fig 2.8).

### 2.5.3 Land use change effect

To reflect the increase in ginseng farming in the study area, ginseng was most commonly observed in the Naedong watershed (Site N). The fact that a project to reduce stream turbidity has been focused in the area around Naedong stream area explains the increase in ginseng cultivation in this area. Comparing the EMCs of SS and TP between 2009 and 2010, the EMCs drastically decreased at Site N and also at the main outlet stream. More specifically between the second and the 10th rainfall event, in which the amounts and the intensities of rainfalls were similar (Table 2.1), the EMCs of TP and SS at Site N decreased significantly, which suggests that the land use change influenced sediment and P exports in the site (Table 2.10).

Site	BOD	COD	SS	TN	$NO_3^-$	ТР
Μ	+40.5	-46.6	-81.9	+51.7	+31.5	-66.4
W	-12.3	-50.7	-89.8	+26.8	-10.8	-80.2
K	-17.1	-24.3	-94.7	+53.2	+46.5	-76.8
Ν	+6.3	+9.2	-70.3	+5.1	-5.2	-36.6
С	+10.6	-56.5	-79.4	+79.2	+22.3	-63.0
S	-48.9	-37.5	-88.1	+41.6	+32.9	-65.5

Table 2.10 Comparisons with EMCs of pollutants in between the 2nd and the 10th event

We also examined the relationship between areal pollutant exports per rainfall amounts for each year at Site N to identify the land use effects on pollutant export with offsetting the rainfall amount effect between 2 years. BOD was decreased from 755  $\pm$ 488 (n=4) kg km⁻² mm⁻¹ to 374  $\pm$ 57 (n=7) kg km⁻² mm⁻¹ while SS decreased dramatically from 434,954  $\pm$ 260,085 (n=4) km⁻²

 $mm^{-1}$  in 2009 to 32,571 ±31,067 (n=7)  $km^{-2} mm^{-1}$  in 2010 (Fig.2.12). The effect of the land use change over the entire watershed also showed a relationship between each rain event (from the 1st to the 11th events) and areal loadings of SS and TP per rainfall amounts at Site M for 2 years (Fig 2.13). SS and TP clearly decreased in 2010, while the other water quality parameters (BOD, COD, TN and NO₃⁻) showed no clear differentiation between 2009 and 2010. The results imply that mitigating soil disturbance and erosion through land use changes, efficiently reduces P export (Ouyang et al. 2014). However, the EMCs of NO₃⁻ and TN increased minimally, showing that land use change did not mitigate those parameters because these pollutants are less related to soil erosion processes relative to TP and SS.



Figure 2.12 Areal loading averages of BOD and SS per rainfall amounts in 2009 and 2010





Figure 2.13 Variations of areal loadings of BOD and SS per rainfall amounts during rain events for 2 years

#### **2.6 CONCLUSIONS**

The Haean catchment is located in an upstream area of the Lake Soyang watershed that supplies metropolitan drinking water. Following rain events, the Haean catchment discharges turbid water containing elevated nutrient concentrations resulting from non-point sources. The mean concentrations of SS, TN and TP at Site M (the catchment outlet stream) were much higher than observed in other streams in Korea and locations overseas, indicating that the streams in the headwater catchment transport elevated amounts of sediment and nutrient to downstream areas. During the dry season, these headwaters do not appear to impose a substantial impact on water quality; however, monsoonal rainfall events increased the NPS discharge impacts on stream water quality. A government implemented project altered land use in the catchment dramatically since 2000s. As result of this project, many turbid water abatement facilities were constructed and less detrimental land use practices have been recommended, with many of these best management practices (BMP) initiated within the past few years. We compared 2 events (the 2nd and the 10th storm events), in which the rainfall amounts and intensities were similar, to evaluate the land use change impact to pollutant loads in the catchment and the results indicated that the land use change resulted in reduced amounts of sediment and TP transports to the stream sites. However, BOD and TN increased, which can be expected as the parameters are less related to soil erosion than TP and SS. BOD and TN are more related to other management factors, such as the annual spatial changes in manure application over the catchment and the temporal variability of fertilizer applications. In the future, more specific studies on manure and fertilizer applications are suggested to identify the role these processes have on headlands water quality and transport.

#### **2.7 REFERENCES**

American Public Health Association [APHA], American Water Works Association, and Water Environment Federation. 2012. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 22nd ed. Washington (DC).

Arnhold S, Lindner S, Lee B, Martin E, Kettering J, Nguyen TT, Koellner T, Ok YS, Huwe B. 2014. Conventional and organic farming: Soil erosion and conservation potential for row crop cultivation. Geoderma 219:89-105.

Bao X, Watanabe M, Wang Q, Hayashi S, Liu J. 2006. Nitrogen budgets of agricultural fields of the Changjiang River basin from 1980 to 1990. Science of the Total Environment 363(1):136-148.

Bartsch S, Peiffer S, Shope CL, Arnhold S, Jeong J-J, Park J-H, Eum J, Kim B, Fleckenstein JH. 2013. Monsoonaltype climate or land-use management: Understanding their role in the mobilization of nitrate and DOC in a mountainous catchment. Journal of Hydrology 507:149-162.

Baumhardt R, Stewart B, Sainju U. 2015. North American Soil Degradation: Processes, Practices, and Mitigating Strategies. Sustainability 7(3):2936-2960.

Beaulac MN, Reckhow KH. 1982. AN EXAMINATION OF LAND USE-NUTRIENT EXPORT RELATIONSHIPS1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 18(6):1013-1024.

Berka C, Schreier H, Hall K. 2001. Linking water quality with agricultural intensification in a rural watershed. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 127(1-4):389-401.

Buchanan TJ, Somers WP. 1968. Stage measurement at gagging stations.US Government Printing Office.

Chiang L-C, Chaubey I, Hong N-M, Lin Y-P, Huang T. 2012. Implementation of BMP strategies for adaptation to climate change and land use change in a pasture-dominated watershed. International journal of environmental research and public health 9(10):3654-3684.

Cho M, Jang T, Jang JR, Yoon CG. 2016. Development of Agricultural Non-Point Source Pollution Reduction Measures in Korea. Irrigation and Drainage Wiley Online Library.

Choi Y-Y, Jung S-Y, Choi J-W. 2011. Nonpoint pollutants sources characteristics of initial surface runoff on the land use types. Journal of the Environmental Sciences 20(3): 417-426. Korean

Chun JA, Cooke RA, Kang MS, Choi M, Timlin D, Park SW. 2010. Runoff losses of suspended sediment, nitrogen, and phosphorus from a small watershed in Korea. Journal of Environmental Quality 39(3):981-990.

Correll DL. 1998. The role of phosphorus in the eutrophication of receiving waters: A review. Journal of Environmental Quality 27(2):261-266.

Dechmi F, Skhiri A. 2013. Evaluation of best management practices under intensive irrigation using SWAT model. Agricultural Water Management 123:55-64.

Delpla I, Baurès E, Jung A-V, Thomas O. 2011. Impacts of rainfall events on runoff water quality in an agricultural environment in temperate areas. Science of the Total Environment 409(9):1683-1688.

Duncan R. 2014. Regulating agricultural land use to manage water quality: The challenges for science and policy in enforcing limits on non-point source pollution in New Zealand. Land Use Policy 41:378-387.

Elçi Ş, Selçuk P. 2013. Effects of basin activities and land use on water quality trends in Tahtali Basin, Turkey. Environmental Earth Sciences 68(6):1591-1598.

Fraser A, Harrod T, Haygarth P. 1999. The effect of rainfall intensity on soil erosion and particulate phosphorus transfer from arable soils. Water Science and Technology 39(12):41-45.

Fučík P, Novák P, Žížala D. 2014. A combined statistical approach for evaluation of the effects of land use, agricultural and urban activities on stream water chemistry in small tile-drained catchments of south Bohemia, Czech Republic. Environmental Earth Sciences 72(6):2195-2216.

Gantidis N, Pervolarakis M, Fytianos K. 2007. Assessment of the quality characteristics of two lakes (Koronia and Volvi) of N. Greece. Environmental monitoring and assessment 125(1-3):175-181.

Gentry L, David M, Royer T, Mitchell C, Starks K. 2007. Phosphorus transport pathways to streams in tile-drained agricultural watersheds. Journal of Environmental Quality 36(2):408-415.

Giri S, Qiu Z. 2016. Understanding the relationship of land uses and water quality in Twenty First Century: A review. Journal of environmental management 173:41-48.

Gitau M, Gburek W, Bishop P. 2008. Use of the SWAT model to quantify water quality effects of agricultural BMPs at the farm-scale level. Transactions of the Asabe 51(6):1925-1936.

Guggenberger G, Kaiser K, Zech W. 1998. Mobilization and immobilization of dissolved organic matter in forest soils. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde 161(4):401-408.

Harper HH. 1998. Stormwater chemistry and water quality.

Hart MR, Quin BF, Nguyen M. 2004. Phosphorus runoff from agricultural land and direct fertilizer effects. Journal of Environmental Quality 33(6):1954-1972.

Haynes R, Naidu R. 1998. Influence of lime, fertilizer and manure applications on soil organic matter content and soil physical conditions: a review. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems 51(2):123-137.

Hu H, Huang G. 2014. Monitoring of Non-Point Source Pollutions from an Agriculture Watershed in South China. Water:3828-3840.

Jain C. 2002. A hydro-chemical study of a mountainous watershed: the Ganga, India. Water Research 36(5):1262-1274.

Jenkinson D. 2001. The impact of humans on the nitrogen cycle, with focus on temperate arable agriculture. Plant and Soil 228(1):3-15.

Johnes PJ. 1996. Evaluation and management of the impact of land use change on the nitrogen and phosphorus load delivered to surface waters: the export coefficient modelling approach. Journal of Hydrology 183(3):323-349.

Jun M-S. 2015. An institutional plan to manage areas in Gangwon province that are vulnerable to nonpoint source pollution. Research Institute for Gangwon. Korean

Jung S-M. 2012. Characteristics of nonpoint source pollution in the Han River and effects of turbid water on aquatic ecosystem [PhD dissertation].Kangwon National University. Korean

Jung S, Jang C, Kim J-J, Kim B. 2009. Characteristics of water quality by storm runoffs from intensive highland agriculture area in the upstream of Han River basin. Journal of Korean Society on Water Quality 25(1):102-11. Korean

Kettering J, Park J-H, Lindner S, Lee B, Tenhunen J, Kuzyakov Y. 2012. N fluxes in an agricultural catchment under monsoon climate: a budget approach at different scales. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 161:101-111.

Kim B, Choi K, Kim C, Lee U-H, Kim Y-H. 2000. Effects of the summer monsoon on the distribution and loading of organic carbon in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang, Korea. Water Research 34(14):3495-3504.

Kim B, Jung S. 2007. Turbid storm runoff in Lake Soyang and their environmental effect. J Korean Soc Environ Eng. 29:1185–1190. Korean

Kim G, Chung S, Lee C. 2007a. Water quality of runoff from agricultural-forestry watersheds in the Geum River Basin, Korea. Environmental monitoring and assessment 134(1-3):441-452.

Kim G, Yur J, Kim J. 2007b. Diffuse pollution loading from urban stormwater runoff in Daejeon city, Korea. Journal of environmental management 85(1):9-16.

Kim S-W, Park J-S, Kim D, Oh J-M. 2014. Runoff characteristics of non-point pollutants caused by different land uses and a spatial overlay analysis with spatial distribution of industrial cluster: a case study of the Lake Sihwa watershed. Environmental Earth Sciences 71(1):483-496.

[KMA] Korean Meteorological Administration [Internet] http://www.kma.go.kr/

Kwak D-H, Yoo S-J, Kim J-H, Lim I-H, Kwon J-Y and Paul-Gene C. 2008. Characteristics of non-point pollutant discharges from upper watershed of Seomjin Dam during rainy season. Journal of Korean Society of Water and Wastewater 22(1):39-48, Korean

Kwon Y-S, Lee H-Y, Han J, Youm S-J. 1990. Terrain analysis of Haean Basin in terms of earth science. Journal of Korea Earth Science Society 11:236–241

Lee J-Y, Kim J-K, Owen JS, Choi Y, Shin K, Jung S, Kim B. 2013. Variation in carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in POM and zooplankton in a deep reservoir and relationship to hydrological characteristics. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 28(1):47-62.

Lin JP. 2004. Review of published export coefficient and event mean concentration (EMC) data. DTIC Document.

Liu R, Zhang P, Wang X, Chen Y, Shen Z. 2013. Assessment of effects of best management practices on agricultural non-point source pollution in Xiangxi River watershed. Agricultural Water Management 117:9-18.

Lou H, Yang S, Zhao C, Zhou Q, Bai J, Hao F, Wu L. 2015. Phosphorus risk in an intensive agricultural area in a mid-high latitude region of China. Catena 127:46-55.

Ma X, Li Y, Zhang M, Zheng F, Du S. 2011. Assessment and analysis of non-point source nitrogen and phosphorus loads in the Three Gorges Reservoir Area of Hubei Province, China. Science of the Total Environment 412:154-161.

McKergow LA, Weaver DM, Prosser IP, Grayson RB, Reed AE. 2003. Before and after riparian management: sediment and nutrient exports from a small agricultural catchment, Western Australia. Journal of Hydrology 270(3):253-272.

McLaughlin C, Kaplan LA. 2013. Biological lability of dissolved organic carbon in stream water and contributing terrestrial sources. Freshwater Science 32(4):1219-1230

Montgomery DR. 2007. Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104(33):13268-13272.

Nguyen HV-M, Hur J, Shin H-S. 2010. Changes in spectroscopic and molecular weight characteristics of dissolved organic matter in a river during a storm event. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 212(1-4):395-406.

Ouyang W, Song K, Wang X, Hao F. 2014. Non-point source pollution dynamics under long-term agricultural development and relationship with landscape dynamics. Ecological Indicators 45:579-589.

Park J-H, Duan L, Kim B, Mitchell MJ, Shibata H. 2010. Potential effects of climate change and variability on watershed biogeochemical processes and water quality in Northeast Asia. Environment International 36(2):212-225.

Park S-C, Oh C-R, Jin Y-H and Kim D-S. 2005. Study on runoff characteristics of non-point source in rural area of Seomjin watershed. Journal of the Environmental Sciences 14(11):1057-1062, Korean

Park YS, Lim KJ, Yang JE, Kim K-S. 2015. Modelling of Best Management Practices in Agricultural Areas. Modelling of Best Management Practices in Agricultural Areas

Peterjohn WT, Correll DL. 1984. Nutrient dynamics in an agricultural watershed: observations on the role of a riparian forest. Ecology 65(5):1466-1475.

Poor CJ, McDonnell JJ. 2007. The effects of land use on stream nitrate dynamics. Journal of Hydrology 332(1):54-68.

Qin B, Xu P, Wu Q, Luo L, Zhang Y. 2007. Environmental issues of lake Taihu, China. Hydrobiologia 581(1):3-14.

Randall GW, Mulla DJ. 2001. Nitrate nitrogen in surface waters as influenced by climatic conditions and agricultural practices. Journal of Environmental Quality 30(2):337-344.

Ren C, Wang L, Zheng B, Holbach A. 2015. Total Nitrogen Sources of the Three Gorges Reservoir—A Spatio-Temporal Approach. PLoS One 10(10):e0141458.

Rhee H-P, Yoon C-G, Lee S-J, Choi J-H, Son Y-K. 2012. Analysis of nonpoint source pollution runoff from urban land uses in South Korea. Environmental Engineering Research 17(1):47-56.

Sargaonkar A. 2006. Estimation of land use specific runoff and pollutant concentration for Tapi river basin in India. Environmental monitoring and assessment 117(1-3):491-503.

Seo B, Bogner C, Poppenborg P, Martin E, Hoffmeister M, Jun M, Koellner T, Reineking B, Shope C, Tenhunen J. 2014. Deriving a per-field land use and land cover map in an agricultural mosaic catchment. Earth System Science Data 6(2):339-352.

Sharma D, Gupta R, Singh RK, Kansal A. 2012. Characteristics of the event mean concentration (EMCs) from rainfall runoff on mixed agricultural land use in the shoreline zone of the Yamuna River in Delhi, India. Applied Water Science 2(1):55-62.

Shen Z, Hong Q, Chu Z, Gong Y. 2011. A framework for priority non-point source area identification and load estimation integrated with APPI and PLOAD model in Fujiang Watershed, China. Agricultural Water Management 98(6):977-989.

Shope CL, Bartsch S, Kim K, Kim B, Tenhunen J, Peiffer S, Park J-H, Ok YS, Fleckenstein J, Koellner T. 2013. A weighted, multi-method approach for accurate basin-wide streamflow estimation in an ungauged watershed. Journal of Hydrology 494:72-82.

Su J, Du X, Li X, Wang X, Li W, Zhang W, Wang H, Wu Z, Zheng B. 2016. Development and application of watershed-scale indicator to quantify non-point source P losses in semi-humid and semi-arid watershed, China. Ecological Indicators 63:374-385.

Vadas P, Kleinman P, Sharpley A, Turner B. 2005. Relating soil phosphorus to dissolved phosphorus in runoff. Journal of Environmental Quality 34(2):572-580.

Wang J, Fu B, Qiu Y, Chen L. 2001. Soil nutrients in relation to land use and landscape position in the semi-arid small catchment on the loess plateau in China. Journal of Arid Environments 48(4):537-550

Wang X, Hao F, Cheng H, Yang S, Zhang X, Bu Q. 2011. Estimating non-point source pollutant loads for the large-scale basin of the Yangtze River in China. Environmental Earth Sciences 63(5):1079-1092.

Wang Y, Li Y, Liu X, Liu F, Li Y, Song L, Li H, Ma Q, Wu J. 2014. Relating land use patterns to stream nutrient levels in red soil agricultural catchments in subtropical central China. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 21(17):10481-10492.

Wu L, Long T-y, Liu X, Guo J-s. 2012. Impacts of climate and land-use changes on the migration of non-point source nitrogen and phosphorus during rainfall-runoff in the Jialing River Watershed, China. Journal of Hydrology 475:26-41.

Yang H. 2006. Runoff characteristics of non-point source pollutants in storm event - Case study on the upstream and downstream of Kokseong River, Korea. The Korean Geographical Society 41(4):418-434. Korean

Yao X, Yu J, Jiang H, Sun W, Li Z. 2016. Roles of soil erodibility, rainfall erosivity and land use in affecting soil erosion at the basin scale. Agricultural Water Management.

You Y, Jin W, Xiong Q, Xue L, Ai T, Li B. 2012. Simulation and validation of non-point source nitrogen and phosphorus loads under different land uses in Sihu Basin, Hubei Province, China. Procedia Environmental Sciences 13:1781-1797.

Yulianti J, Lence B, Johnson G, Takyi A. 1999. Non-point source water quality management under input information uncertainty. Journal of environmental management 55(3):199-217.

Zhuang Y, Hong S, Zhan FB, Zhang L. 2015. Influencing factor analysis of phosphorus loads from non-point source: a case study in central China. Environmental monitoring and assessment 187(11):1-11.

# Chapter 3 POTENTIAL EFFECTS OF SEDIMENT PROCESSES ON WATER QUALITY OF AN ARTIFICIAL RESERVOIR IN THE ASIAN MONSOON REGION

Kiyong Kim¹, Bomchul Kim^{2*}, Klaus H. Knorr³, Jaesung Eum², Youngsoon Choi², Sungmin Jung², and Stefan Peiffer¹

¹ Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, Bayreuth, Germany

² Department of Environmental Science, Kangwon National University, Gwangwon,

Republic of Korea

³ Ecohydrology and Biogeochemistry Group, University of Muenster, Nordrhein-Westfalen, Germany

* Corresponding author: bkim@kangwon.ac.kr

## **3.1 Abstract**

Sediment processes in lakes may affect water chemistry through the internal loading of phosphorus, ammonia, and sulfides released under anoxic conditions. Lake Soyang is a deep warm monomictic reservoir with a dendritic shape, located in the Asian summer monsoon region, South Korea. During summer, the lake is stratified and receives a large nutrient input via storm runoff, which forms a turbid intermediate layer with high concentrations of suspended particles. The lake water, the main inflowing stream (the Soyang River), bottom sediment, and porewater of the lake sediments were studied over a 2-year period (2012–2013). After intensive monsoon rain events, particulate organic carbon (POC), total phosphorus (TP),

and turbidity were high in the inflowing water (C: 1.21 mg  $L^{-1}$  in June 2013) and in the metalimnion (2.8 mg  $L^{-1}$ , 17.6 µg  $L^{-1}$ , and 58.5 NTU, respectively in July 2013). Higher concentrations of iron (Fe) and manganese (Mn) were also associated with the turbid intermediate layer (37 and 8 µg  $L^{-1}$ , respectively in July 2013). During the summer stratification period, oxygen started to deplete in the hypoliminion (down to 0.5 mg  $L^{-1}$  in September 2013), and sediment became anoxic, showing negative oxidation redox potential (ORP) in core samples. Diffusion of dissolved inorganic P and ammonia from sediment to the water column can be substantial, considering the concentration difference between the porewater and hypolimnetic water. Fe and Mn were abundant in the sediment porewater at the dam site, implying inorganic nutrients and minerals are well transported along the 60 km long lake axis by the density current of storm runoff. Sulfate and reduced sulfur were larger in the porewater of the top sediment than in the lower layer of the sediment core (below 10 cm). The results show that substantial amounts of inorganic nutrients and minerals are supplied to the lake by storm runoffs during monsoon and distributed through the lake by a density current, controlling the material cycle and flux at the sediment surface.

## Key words: artificial reservoir, Lake Soyang, monsoon, porewater, sediment

#### **3.2 INTRODUCTION**

Lake sediments are frequently studied to understand and determine changes of water quality and internal processes occurring within lakes (De Boer 1994, Marce et al. 2006, Mushtaq et al. 2015). Lake sediments are used to derive historic changes of catchment processes such as previous changes in land use and agricultural activities (Morellón et al. 2011, Giguet-Covex et al. 2014) and also impact on water quality through internal loads of nutrients and toxic materials (Perkins and Underwood 2001, Liu et al. 2013). Artificial lakes are increasingly created for agricultural and hydroelectric purposes worldwide, especially in many Asian countries (WCD 2000, Gupta et al. 2012), including South Korea in the monsoon climate area (An and Jones 2000, Bae et al. 2008).

Reservoirs constructed in the middle reach of a river system generally have a higher ratio of watershed area to reservoir surface area than natural lakes of comparable size, resulting in relatively larger inputs of carbon and nutrients (Knoll et al. 2013). Nutrients and eroded soils from agricultural non-point sources are major problems for impounded water quality management in many places (Heathcote et al. 2013, Michalak et al. 2013). Typically non-point source pollution increases when intensive cultivation is combined with monsoon rainfall events, resulting in large amounts of pollutants transported by heavy runoff to receiving water bodies (Hu and Huang 2014).

Phosphorus (P) is typically limiting nutrient in freshwater and causes eutrophication by promoting massive algal growth (Correll 1999, Wetzel 2001, Xu et al. 2015). P is easily adsorbed onto soil particles in the watershed and mobilized through soil erosion and enters lakes or reservoirs via storm runoffs or inflowing streams (Ekholm and Lehtoranta 2012). After entering lakes, P can be released from the sediment to the water column, especially under anoxic conditions, enhancing eutrophication in lakes (Søndergaard et al. 2003, Kangura et al. 2013, Martins et al. 2014, Nikolai and Dzialowski 2014, Kowalczewska-Madura et al. 2015, Tang et al. 2015). Additionally, toxic materials such as ammonia (NH₄⁺) and dissolved sulfides (S²) are released under anoxic conditions, depending on the concentrations of nitrogen (N), sulfur (S), and decomposable organic matter (Besser et al. 1998, Holmer and Storkholm 2001), and can harm the aquatic ecosystem (Wang and Chapman 1999). Thus, the internal load from lake sediment processes is considered an important factor in lake water quality management. Previous Lake Soyang studies investigated its trophic state, phytoplankton–zooplankton successions, and C dynamics (Kim et al. 1985, 2000, 2001, Lee et al. 2013), but we found no

study that focused on the interaction between lake water quality and sediment processes in artificial reservoir systems located in the monsoon climate. In this study, the effects of internal sediment processes on the water quality was studied in a deep, stratified reservoir (Lake Soyang, South Korea) by measuring the vertical and horizontal distribution of nutrient contents in the sediment along the main axis from the dam site to the tributary inlet site. We also assessed the external input of nutrients via monsoon runoff of the main inflowing river. The objectives of this study were to (1) assess the effects of inorganic nutrient input from intensive rainfalls on the lake sediment process, and (2) evaluate the potential effects of sediment processes by determining the distribution of elements in the bottom sediment and porewater of the lake sediments.

#### **3.3 STUDY SITE**

Lake Soyang was constructed in 1973 on the North Han River system for electrical power generation and flood control and today serves as an important drinking water resource for the Seoul metropolitan area (Jo and Park 2010, Bartsch et al. 2014). It is the largest and deepest reservoir in South Korea, with a maximum depth of 120 m, a main axis length of 60 km (Kim et al. 2001), a mean width of the lake of only 0.5 km, and a typical dendritic shape (Fig. 3.1). The watershed (total area 2,703 km²; WAMIS 2003) of Lake Soyang is scarcely populated, mostly covered by forest (>85% of the watershed). It also includes small areas of cropland with increasingly intensive agricultural activities (Jung et al. 2012), and agricultural soil erosion has become a major source of suspended solids the lake (Shope et al. 2013). The Soyang River is the main inflowing stream to Lake Soyang, and most of the nutrients and organic matter are exported from the watershed during the summer monsoon season (May–Aug). The mean annual precipitation in the watershed is 1100 mm (WAMIS 2003), more than half of which occurs in summer, a season of episodic heavy rains (Hwang et al. 2003, Park et al. 2010). The

trophic state of Lake Soyang has varied over time. Although it was oligotrophic at the beginning of impoundment, it has become eutrophic following the input of nutrients from fish farming (Kim et al. 2001). The water quality and trophic state are currently improving, however (Seo et al. 2014), presumably due to the removal of fish farms.



Figure 3.1 Lake Soyang watershed in South Korea (up) and study sites (down)

## **3.4 METHODS**

Five sampling sites (St. 1–5 (yellow circles); Fig. 3.1) were selected along the main axis from the dam site (St. 1) to the upstream inlet site (St. 5) for collecting water and sediment. Lake
water samples were collected once a month in 2012 and 2013 at St. 1 at depths of 0, 2, and 5 m, and at 10 m intervals below 10 m to the bottom. Water samples were also collected in the Soyang River on a monthly basis (inflow; Fig. 3.1). Core or grab-type sediment samples were collected with a gravity corer (UWITEC, Mondsee, Austria) and a grab sampler (Wild Co., USA) at each site before and after the summer monsoon period in both 2012 and 2013. Porewater samples were extracted by centrifugation from the sliced sediment core samples. Dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature, and turbidity were measured on site with a portable multi parameter probe (Hydrolab Quanta, Loveland, USA). On 2 additional occasions, vertical profiles of these parameters were measured at a 1 m depth resolution for detailed information. Water samples were filtered with glass fiber filters (Whatmann GF/F) for dissolved total P, organic carbon, nitrate  $(NO_3)$ , sulfate  $(SO_4)^2$ , and other major and trace elements. Before filtration, total P (TP) of water samples was analyzed by the ascorbic method after persulfate digestion (APHA 2012). Filtered water samples were used to measure dissolved organic carbon (DOC) using a TOC analyzer (Shimadzu TOC 5000, Kyoto, Japan). Particulate organic C (POC) was measured by combusting the dried glass fiber filters using a Yanaco MT-5 CHN analyzer.  $NO_3^{-}$ ,  $SO_4^{2-}$ , and chloride ion (Cl⁻) concentrations in the porewater samples were determined by the ion chromatography method (Metrohm modular IC system 762, Herisau, Switzerland). Iron (Fe) and manganese (Mn) concentrations in water samples were measured by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES, Optima 3200XL, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA).

Sediment core samples were sliced with a customized core cutter device at 1, 2, or 5 cm intervals according to the visual identification of layers. Sliced samples were freeze-dried, and the contents of TP, Fe, total reduced inorganic sulfur (TRIS), and other elements, including aluminum (Al), calcium (Ca), potassium (K), and sulfur (S) were determined. Fe was analyzed after HCL extraction using the phenanthroline assay (Tamura et al. 1974) to differentiate ferric

 $(Fe^{3+})$  and ferrous  $(Fe^{2+})$  iron in the sediment samples. TRIS species  $(S_2^{2-}, S^{2-}, and S^0)$  were extracted from sediment samples following chromium reduction (Canfield et al. 1986) and trapped as H₂S in NaOH solution. Reduced S concentration was measured by the methylene blue assay method (Williams 1979) using a UV-VIS-photometer. Further elements in the sediment samples were measured by ICP-OES method after 1 N HCl extraction.

## **3.5 RESULTS**

# 3.5.1 Seasonal changes in water quality parameters of lake and inflowing stream

**Vertical stratification** The vertical variations of temperature, DO, and turbidity were measured on a monthly basis at the dam site (St. 1) in 2012 and 2013. The temperature varied between 5 and 30 °C, typical for a warm monomictic lake. The profiles of temperature in summer clearly showed a stable stratification in both years. DO was depleted at the hypolimnion, and the metalimnetic oxygen minimum was observed occasionally between 10 and 20 m depth during the stratification period. DO (as O₂) decreased to <4 mg L⁻¹ in the bottom layer after the onset of stratification for both years. The DO depletion lasted until the end of September, with DO values <2.5 mg L⁻¹ in 2012 and 2013 (Fig. 3.2 and 3.3).

Lake Soyang 2012 Temp. (°C) 10 15 20 25 30 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 Le c ł Р Г Г Г Г ¢ ¢ ¢ Jan.  $\oplus \square$ Feb. ¢п Mar. Apr. ₩ B fi Depth (m) Ć L ⊡ May  $\square$ July Aug. June Г Dec. Oct. Sep. 10 4 pН 10 12 0 10 12 0 10 12 0 8 10 12 Dissolved Oxygen (mg L⁴)

Figure 3.2 Vertical variations of temperature, DO, and pH in the Lake Soyang in 2012



Figure 3.3 Vertical variations of temperature, DO, and pH in the Lake Soyang in 2013

The thermocline disappeared in winter, and the lake water was entirely mixed until the next stratification period. Turbidities were higher in the metalimnion (20–50 m depth) than in the other water layers in both summer monsoon seasons (Fig. 3.4). Based on average turbidity values, however, the turbidity of water in the metalimnion was different between the 2 survey years; the mean turbidity was only  $1.1 \pm 0.3$  NTU in 2012 but was  $15.9 \pm 11.7$  NTU in 2013. The maximum turbidity of 58.5 NTU was observed at 30 m depth in July 2013 following intensive rainfalls. Turbidity varied in the same pattern as POC and TP (Fig. 3.4 and 3.5).



Month (2012-2013)

Figure 3.4 Records of daily precipitation in Lake Soyang watershed and seasonal variations of DOC, POC, turbidity, TN, and TP in a metalimnion (20–50m) of the lake for 2 study years (2012–2013)



Figure 3.5 Scatter plots with correlation coefficient values among water quality parameters in the metalimnion in 2012–2013

Water chemistry During our study period, the median POC in the inflowing water was 0.5 mg L⁻¹. The maximum concentration of POC in the Soyang River reached 2.1 mg L⁻¹ after heavy rainfall in 2012. POC remained <1.0 mg L⁻¹ in most other monthly observations (range 0.04–0.96 mg L⁻¹) but was notably higher during the monsoon season (2.1 and 1.2 mg L⁻¹ in Jul 2012 and 2013, respectively). Two different forms of organic C were also measured in the lake at St. 1 on a monthly basis during the study period. POC and DOC were uniform in the whole lake water and at all depths except during the summer season, when they reached a metalimnetic maximum, as did turbidity. The POC profile showed the highest value at the hypolimnion (4.0 mg L⁻¹), but it also showed a peak at the metalimnion (2.8 mg L⁻¹) in July

after heavy precipitation of >430 mm within 8 days (8–15 Jul 2013; Fig. 3.4; Korean Meteorological Administration website; <u>www.kma.go.kr</u>). DOC, however, showed a smaller seasonal variation varying between 1.1 and 1.9 mg  $L^{-1}$ .

TP variation was associated with the variation of turbidity in both years. The annual averages of TP and TN were similar in both years (P:  $7.7 \pm 2.7$  and  $7.5 \pm 2.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ ; N:  $1.6 \pm 0.2$  and  $1.8 \pm 0.5 \ mg \ L^{-1}$  in 2012 and 2013, respectively). TP in the metalimnion was much higher than in the other layers after monsoon rainfalls in July and August 2013 (17.6  $\mu g \ L^{-1}$  at 30 m water depth; 19.5  $\mu g \ L^{-1}$  at 40 m water depth, respectively; Fig. 3.4).

Fe and Mn of the inflow stream and reservoir water were determined for summer season in 2013. Concentrations of Fe and Mn in the inflowing water were >20 and 2  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively. Fe and Mn concentrations showed 2 peaks, one in the metalimnion (17 ± 14 and 5 ± 3  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively) and another in the hypolimnion (197 and 8585  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively) in July 2013 after heavy rainfall (Fig. 3.6). The concentrations of Fe and Mn were highest in the hypolimnion during the oxygen depletion phase after the onset of stratification (Fig. 3.3 and 3.6).



Figure 3.6 Distributions of Fe and Mn in Lake Soyang water during monsoon season in 2013

#### 3.5.2 Porewater and sediment analysis

**Porewater chemistry** Oxidation redox potential (ORP) and pH and were measured with electrodes in core sediment samples at St. 1 in May and St. 5 in June. The pH remained virtually constant over depth, varying between 6.4 and 6.7 at St. 1 and 6.6 and 6.9 at St. 5; sediment pH was similar to the bottom water (6.6 and 6.9, respectively; data not shown). ORP indicated completely anaerobic conditions in the sediment samples. ORP decreased toward the bottom of sediment and was lower than -100 mV below 10 cm depth in both core samples (St. 1 and 5; data not shown). Dissolved inorganic phosphorus (DIP) and NH₄⁺ concentrations of the porewater were measured at 2 cm resolution to determine the distribution of mobile forms of P and N. Both P and N showed an almost identical depth profile, with a maximum at 4 cm

depth (23.0 and 251.5  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively) and decreased at the sediment surface (15.9 and 150.6  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively, at 2 cm depth). P and N increased again, however, deeper in the core (19.5 ± 5.0 and 201.1 ± 71.3  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively; Fig. 3.7). Concurrently, the P and N concentrations of DIP and NH₄⁺ in the lake bottom water were 0.9 and 16  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively (data not shown), much lower than the uppermost porewater of the sediment. Hence, large concentration gradients exist between the sediment porewater and the overlying bottom water. NO₃-N⁻ was depleted in all sediment samples from St. 1 to St. 5 (<0.2 mg L⁻¹; Fig. 3.8). Concentrations of SO₄²⁻ showed sharp gradients between 0 and 4 cm depth, with S ranging from 3.3 to 0.7 mg L⁻¹ and remaining constantly low in deeper zones. Furthermore, the concentrations of SO₄²⁻ were lower (2.2 ± 1.2 to 1.1 ± 0.6 mg L⁻¹) in the top sediment porewater (below 3 cm) at St. 1 after the monsoon than concentrations before the monsoon period. Chloride concentrations were on average 3.7 ± 0.8 and 3.0 ± 0.3 mg L⁻¹ in the samples before and after the monsoon period, respectively. Dissolved concentrations of Fe and Mn were higher below 20 cm depth compared to the concentrations in the other depths in porewater of St. 1 sediment (Fig. 3.9).



Figure 3.7 Distributions of DIP and ammonia in porewater samples of the core at St. 1 in 2013

# Ion concentrations (mg L⁻¹)



Figure 3.8 Distributions of chloride, nitrate, and sulfate ions in porewater of sediments samples at St. 1 and St. 5 in 2012



Figure 3.9 Vertical profiles of Fe and Mn in porewater at St. 1 before and after monsoon season in 2012

Sediment chemistry The average TP for all depths in the sediment core at St. 1 was  $1.6 \pm 0.1$  mg g⁻¹. The amount of P decreased from the top to the bottom layers of the sediment. A strong gradient of TRIS existed between the top surface of the sediment and 4 cm depth, with concentrations decreasing sharply from 23.0 to 3.6 mmol g⁻¹. Below 4 cm, TRIS concentrations further decreased and leveled off at an average concentration of  $1.0 \pm 0.1$  mmol g⁻¹ below 8 cm. TRIS exceeded 20 mmol g⁻¹ in the top sediment samples at St. 1 before and after the monsoon in 2012. TRIS in the deeper layers, especially below 10 cm, of the sediments was <5 mmol g⁻¹ (Fig. 3.10). The vertical distributions of TRIS in the sediment from St. 2 to St. 5 were

different from St. 1 (Fig. 3.10); the concentrations of TRIS were  $<5 \text{ mmol g}^{-1}$  over the entire depth down to 30 cm.

Solid phase Fe was determined as 2 forms ( $Fe^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$ ) in sediment cores from St. 1 to St. 5 in 2012 (Fig. 3.11). St. 1 had the highest Fe contents of the 5 sampling sites, and the concentrations continuously decreased along the lake axis from the dam (St. 1) toward the upstream site (St. 5). More than 80% of Fe was in the ferric form at all depths and at all sites. Accordingly, the ratio of Fe2+ to Fe3+ was approximately constant from St. 1 to St. 5, despite substantial concentrations of TRIS and the differences in TRIS observed between the sites.



Figure 3.10 Vertical profiles of TRIS in sediment samples from St.1 to St. 5 before and after monsoon season in 2012



Figure 3.11 Fractions and amounts of  $Fe^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$  in sediments samples from St. 1 to St. 5 in 2012

#### **3.6 DISCUSSION**

#### 3.6.1 Material input from the watershed during the summer monsoon season

The median value of POC in the inflowing stream was much lower than the worldwide median value of POC in rivers (2.0 mg L⁻¹); however, the highest POC values emerged after heavy rainfall in each year, stressing the relevance of POC loading during high flow. The ratio of DOC to POC was <1:1 in the metalimnion of the lake, much lower than data collected from other eutrophic lakes (6:1; Wetzel 2001). This low value indicates that intensive summer rainfalls cause a large amount of particulate organic matter to enter the lake via storm runoffs, which leads to higher POC concentrations in the lake, as reported earlier in Lake Soyang (Kim et al. 2000, 2009) and other reservoirs (Aryal et al. 2014). Moreover, a high amount of coarse woody debris (CWD), which is not included in POC measurements because of its large size (>2 mm), was observed floating on the surface of the lake during filed surveys after monsoon rainfalls. CWD may provide a high contribution to the C load of the lake water and of the sediment over the long term (Wipfli et al. 2007, Seo et al. 2008); therefore, also quantifying CWD input to the lake water body would be useful. Nevertheless, the observed POC concentrations compared well with previous measurements made at St. 1 (highest concentrations 2.4 mg L⁻¹ in 1996: Kim et al. 2000; and ~3 mg L⁻¹ in 2008; Kim et al. 2009),

and the seasonal and vertical variations coincided with the results of previous studies on POC distribution in this particular reservoir (Kim et al. 2000, 2009). We therefore calculated a C sedimentation rate based on the annual average of POC concentration in this study and a previously reported C settling velocity in the same reservoir (POC 0.9 m  $d^{-1}$  in 2009; Kim 2009, unpublished data), yielding a POC sedimentation of 453 mg m⁻² d⁻¹. This result is similar to the C sedimentation rates in the other reservoirs but higher than in natural lakes (Teodoru et al. 2013, Clow et al. 2015).

The ratios of DOC to POC varied over depths and seasons, possibly because of changes in stratification. High input of POC and TP caused by intensive rainfalls is a regular annual occurrence during the monsoon period in Lake Soyang (Kim et al. 1995, 2000). A previous study investigated the annual variation of input TP load into Lake Soyang for 16 years (1991-2006), and the P load was highest (~1200 t yr⁻¹) in 2006 during an intensive rainfall of the summer monsoon season (Kim and Jung 2007). This input is presumably amplified by the disturbances in forested areas and agricultural practices of overusing P fertilizer and frequent soil disturbances (Park et al. 2010). Consequently, a high load of P is deposited into the sediment in reservoir systems (Tang et al. 2015), a common occurrence in lake waters surrounded by intensively managed agricultural regions like Lake Soyang (Carpenter 2005). Interestingly, Fe and Mn concentrations were also high in the metalimnion during the summer monsoon, caused by an inflow of high amounts of Fe and Mn (137 and 25  $\mu$ g L⁻¹, respectively), as already observed at an adjacent site during the summer monsoon in a previous study (Hong et al. 1989). Previous studies have attributed these high amounts of Fe, Mn, and S to input of particulate matter from the watershed, along with high amounts of P adsorbed to these particles (Stewart and Tiessen 1987, Gleyzes et al. 2002); therefore, The observed high concentrations of Fe and Mn in the hypolimnion seem to have resulted from diffusive fluxes from the sediment under anoxic condition (Graham et al. 2012).

# 3.6.2 Stratification and formation of anoxia

The metalimnetic DO depletion (3.8 mg  $L^{-1}$  at 14 m in Sep 2013) observed in this study was presumably driven by the density current induced by flooding from the monsoon rainfall (Kim and Cho 1989, Lee et al. 2013), which supplied a large amount of labile C from the watershed. A hypolimnetic anoxia was formed after the eutrophication period in the 1980s in Lake Soyang (Kim and Cho 1989), and, accordingly, the ORP in sediment cores from St. 1 were negative for the entire depth, comparable to values in anoxic sediments in Japanese lakes (Bibi et al. 2007). Under these conditions, oxidized Fe, Mn, and S phases can be favorable electron acceptors (Gambrell et al. 1983). Sulfate reduction is an important respiratory pathway in anoxic sediments (D'Hondt et al. 2002), which explains the observed high concentrations of TRIS in the upper layers of Lake Soyang sediment cores. We therefore presume that anoxic conditions happen frequently, but significant amounts of unreduced Fe oxides seem to be present that may thus still trap P to some extent.

## 3.6.3 Processes in the sediment

The mean TP in the sediment at St. 1 was higher than in other shallower reservoirs of South Korea (Kim et al. 2003) and in other eutrophic lakes of China (Zhang et al. 2008). The higher concentrations of DIP and  $NH_4^+$  in porewater than in bottom water can result in internal loading by diffusion, as proposed earlier in a hypereutrophic lake and reservoirs (Reddy et al. 1996, Wang and Liang 2015, Yang et al. 2015). A substantial amount of  $NH_4^+$  seems to be released from the sediment into the overlying lake water, evidenced by the highest  $NH_4^+$  concentration just above the sediment. But rapid decrease of  $NH_4^+$  concentration toward upper layer of the hypolimnion implies rapid oxidation of  $NH_4^+$  in oxic conditions.  $NO_3^-$  showed the opposite distribution of  $NH_4^+$ , decreasing drastically under oxygen depletion (hypolimnetic DO of 1.9 mg  $L^{-1}$ ) just below the boundary of the oxic and anoxic layers (e.g., Sep 2012; Fig. 3.12).



Figure 3.12 Vertical profiles of DO, nitrate, and ammonia in water columns in September 2012

Despite the high concentrations of DIP and  $NH_4^+$  in the bottom water layer during stratification, however, the average concentration of DIP and  $NH_4^+$  remained constantly low after the monsoon season (Sep 2012 to Dec 2013), when the onset of strong oxygen depletion was observed in the hypolimnion. DIP concentration in the epilimnion was  $1.8 \pm 1.2 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ , and the  $NH_4^+$  concentration was  $0.018 \pm 0.008 \ mg \ L^{-1}$ , which is significantly lower than in the hypolimnion. We therefore assume that DIP and  $NH_4^+$  do not reach the epilimnion after being released from the bottom sediment. The maximum lake depth of 120 m could be mainly responsible; in other words, DIP can be resettled and  $NH_4^+$  can be oxidized when they enter the oxic layer on the way to the epilimnion. Although not measured in this study, turbulence energy in Lake Soyang is thought to be low because it is located in the midst of a high, mountainous area and well sheltered from wind action at the lake surface. Additionally, the removal of nutrients by the intermediate density current discharged from the dam through the outlet at the middle depth of the dam could also explain why nutrients from the sediment cannot easily reach the epilimnion (Fig. 3.2 and 3.3). The major transport mechanism of nutrients from the sediment to the epilimnion is thought to be the winter turnover circulation in January and February.

The high abundance of Fe and Mn was considered to be delivered by input from the lake watershed (especially agricultural areas) after monsoon rainfall, based on the high concentrations of Fe and Mn in the metalimnion of the lake after precipitation (Fig. 3.5). Previous studies noted that Fe, Mn, and Al can originate from soil particles, which also carry high amounts of P (SanClements et al. 2009). A horizontal concentration gradient of Fe was observed from the inlet to the outlet, which implies that finer particles can be transported far to the dam area, and an especially high amount of Fe and P is included in this fine particle fraction compared to coarse particles more associated with Mg and K (Delfino et al. 1969, Zan et al. 2011). High amounts of Fe in the sediment commonly act as P traps through strong adsorption (Wang et al. 2005, Doncheva 2010).

The Fe²⁺ to Fe³⁺ ratio was interestingly similar over the whole sediment depth, but the underlying reasons could not be elucidated in this study. We hypothesized, however, that the presence of a sulfate reduction reaction of sulfide with Fe oxide surfaces may lead to a passivation, impeding further reduction. Sulfate in the porewater sharply decreased in the top sediment, and TRIS concentrations were higher in the same depth. This finding supports the occurrence of SO₄²⁻ reduction in the sediment, leading to high amounts of reduced S trapping available cations as insoluble sulfides (Wersin et al. 1991, Burton et al. 2006, Yu et al. 2015). In the case of Lake Soyang, formation of Fe sulfides is likely due to a constant and high supply of Fe by inflow from the watershed (Hong et al. 1989). Additionally, a previous study revealed that TRIS in lake sediments mostly consisted of FeS and FeS₂ (Canfield et al. 1986). To form

Fe sulfides, ferric Fe becomes reduced by sulfide (Wan et al. 2014). After formation of sulfides their interaction with Fe and other metals controls and modifies mobilization of phosphate  $(PO_4^{3^-})$ ,  $NH_4^+$ , and hydrogen sulfide. Internal loads from sediments seem to be driven by not only anoxic conditions, but also by sedimentations of Fe, Mn, S, and C (Gächter and Müller 2003).



Figure 3.13 Seasonal changes of processes in the Soyang Reservoir under summer monsoon climate

Based on our findings, we established a conceptual model of the hypothesized seasonal variation of biogeochemical and hydrological processes in the Soyang reservoir located in the monsoon area (Fig. 3.13). In the pre-monsoon season (Fig. 3.13a), the reservoir begins to stratify and receives only low amounts of C, N, and P from the watershed because of low precipitation and few agricultural activities in the watershed. DO is thus still available for decomposition in the hypolimnion. During the monsoon season (Fig. 3.13b), a significant

amount of suspended materials carrying substantial amounts of labile C, N, P, and other biogeochemically important elements (Fe, Mn) are added to the water body by intensive rain events and concomitant mobilization in the watershed. A turbidity layer establishes at a depth of 30–50 m. After the monsoon season (Fig. 3.13c), decomposition of the large pulse of allochthonous organic matter, especially in its particulate form, starts and leads to strong oxygen depletion. Under these conditions,  $PO_4^{3-}$  is released upon dissolution of solid phase electron acceptors (Fe (III), Mn (IV)) to which  $PO_4^{3-}$  is bound in the sediment. Finally, during the winter season, the reservoir water is mixed entirely, and ferrous Fe and Mn reoxidize, reestablishing conditions for sequestration of  $PO_4^{3-}$  at the sediment–water interface (Fig. 3.13d). The situation may differ under conditions of high discharge when a much larger fraction of the suspended material becomes dissipated in the entire water body, releasing a pulse of biogeochemically reactive substances into the entire water body. Nevertheless, we assume that our conceptual model represents many big artificial reservoirs located in the summer monsoon region (An and Park 2002, Wang et al. 2012).

Overall, heavy rainfalls caused acute increases of C, P, Fe, and Mn in the lake via turbid density currents during monsoon seasons. This increased availability of easily decomposable organic matter controlled the internal loads of  $PO_4^{3-}$ ,  $NH_4^+$ , and reduced S released from the sediment because electron acceptors are consumed under anoxic conditions in the sediment. Our study has implications for reservoir management in monsoon climate regions. Sediment processes and internal loads must be constantly checked while monitoring inflowing water quality for effective reservoir management because the input of the nutrients with eroded soil from the agricultural watershed is consistently high from overuse of fertilizer and frequent soil disturbance.

# **3.7** ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out in the framework of the International Research Training Group TERRECO (GRK 1565/2), funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) at the University of Bayreuth (Germany) and the Korean Research Foundation (KRF) at Kangwon National University (South Korea).

#### **3.8 REFERENCES**

An K-G, Jones JR. 2000. Temporal and spatial patterns in salinity and suspended solids in a reservoir influenced by the Asian monsoon. Hydrobiologia. 436:179–189.

An K-G, Park SS. 2002. Indirect influence of the summer monsoon on chlorophyll–total phosphorus models in reservoirs: a case study. Ecological Model. 152:191–203.

[APHA] American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, and Water Environment Federation. 2012. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 22nd ed. Washington (DC).

Aryal R, Grinham A, Beecham S. 2014. Tracking inflows in Lake Wivenhoe during a major flood using optical spectroscopy. Water. 6:2339–2352.

Bae DH, Jung IW, Chang H. 2008. Long-term trend of precipitation and runoff in Korean river basins. Hydrol Process. 22:2644–2656.

Bartsch S, Frei S, Ruidisch M, Shope CL, Peiffer S, Kim B, Fleckenstein JH. 2014. River-aquifer exchange fluxes under monsoonal climate conditions. J Hydrol. 509:601–614.

Besser JM, Ingersoll CG, Leonard EN, Mount DR. 1998. Effect of zeolite on toxicity of ammonia in freshwater sediments: implications for toxicity identification evaluation procedures. Environ Toxicol Chem. 17:2310–2317.

Bibi MH, Ahmed F, Ishiga H. 2007. Assessment of metal concentrations in lake sediments of southwest Japan based on sediment quality guidelines. Environ Geol. 52:625–639.

Burton ED, Bush RT, Sullivan LA. 2006. Elemental sulfur in drain sediments associated with acid sulfate soils. Appl Geochem. 21:1240–1247.

Canfield DE, Raiswell R, Westrich JT, Reaves CM, Berner RA. 1986. The use of chromium reduction in the analysis of reduced inorganic sulfur in sediments and shales. Chem Geol. 54:149–155.

Carpenter SR. 2005. Eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems: bistability and soil phosphorus. P Natl Acad Sci-USA. 102:10002–10005.

Clow DW, Stackpoole SM, Verdin KL, Butman DE, Zhu Z, Krabbenhoft DP, Striegl RG. 2015. Organic carbon burial in lakes and reservoirs of the conterminous United States. Environ Sci Technol. 49:7614–7622.

Correll D. 1999. Phosphorus: a rate limiting nutrient in surface waters. Poultry Sci. 78:674-682.

De Boer DH. 1994. Lake sediments as indicators of recent erosional events in an agricultural basin on the Canadian prairies. In: Loughran RJ, Kesby JA, editors. Variability in stream eerosion and sediment transport. Proceedings of the Canberra Symposium, International Association of Hydrological Sciences. IAHS Publications. 224:125–132.

D'Hondt S, Rutherford S, Spivack AJ. 2002. Metabolic activity of subsurface life in deep-sea sediments. Science. 295:2067–2070.

Delfino JJ, Bortleson GC, Lee GF. 1969. Distribution of manganese, iron, phosphorus, magnesium, potassium, sodium, and calcium in the surface sediments of Lake Mendota, Wisconsin. Environ Sci Technol. 3:1189–1192.

Doncheva V. 2010. Nutrients in pore water from surface sediment layer along the eutrophication gradient (Varna Lake–Varna Bay case study). Cr Acad Bulg Sci. 63:547–554.

Ekholm P, Lehtoranta J. 2012. Does control of soil erosion inhibit aquatic eutrophication? J Environ Manage. 93:140–146.

Gächter R, Müller B. 2003. Why the phosphorus retention of lakes does not necessarily depend on the oxygen supply to their sediment surface. Limnol Oceanogr. 48:929–933.

Gambrell R, Reddy C, Khalid R. 1983. Characterization of trace and toxic materials in sediments of a lake being restored. J Water Pollut Control Fed. 55: 1271–1279.

Giguet-Covex C, Pansu J, Arnaud F, Rey P-J, Griggo C, Gielly L, Domaizon I, Coissac E, David F, Choler P. 2014. Long livestock farming history and human landscape shaping revealed by lake sediment DNA. Nature Comm. doi:10.1038/ncomms4211

Gleyzes C, Tellier S, Astruc M. 2002. Fractionation studies of trace elements in contaminated soils and sediments: a review of sequential extraction procedures. Trac-Trend Anal Chem. 21:451–467.

Graham MC, Gavin KG, Kirika A, Farmer JG. 2012. Processes controlling manganese distributions and associations in organic-rich freshwater aquatic systems: the example of Loch Bradan, Scotland. Sci Total Environ. 424:239–250.

Gupta H, Kao S-J, Dai M. 2012. The role of mega dams in reducing sediment fluxes: a case study of large Asian rivers. J Hydrol. 464:447–458.

Heathcote AJ, Filstrup CT, Downing JA. 2013. Watershed sediment losses to lakes accelerating despite agricultural soil conservation efforts. PLoS One. 8:e53554.

Holmer M, Storkholm P. 2001. Sulphate reduction and sulphur cycling in lake sediments: a review. Freshwater Biol. 46:431–451.

Hong GH, Kim SH, Kim KT. 1989. Watershed geochemistry of Lake Soyang, Korea. Korean J Limnol. 22:245–260.

Hu H, Huang G. 2014. monitoring of non-point source pollutions from an agriculture watershed in south China. Water. 6:3828–3840.

Hwang S-J, Kwun S-K, Yoon C-G. 2003. Water quality and limnology of Korean reservoirs. Paddy and Water Environ. 1:43–52.

Jo K-W, Park J-H. 2010. Rapid release and changing sources of Pb in a mountainous watershed during extreme rainfall events. Environ Sci Technol. 44:9324–9329.

Jung B-J, Lee H-J, Jeong J-J, Owen J, Kim B, Meusburger K, Alewell C, Gebauer G, Shope C, Park J-H. 2012. Storm pulses and varying sources of hydrologic carbon export from a mountainous watershed. J Hydrol. 440:90– 101.

Kangura M, Puuseppa L, Buhvestovab O, Haldnab M, Kangurb K. 2013. Spatio-temporal variability of surface sediment phosphorus fractions and water phosphorus concentration in Lake Peipsi (Estonia/Russia). Est J Earth Sci. 62:171–180.

Kim B-C, Cho K-S. 1989. The hypolimnetic anoxic zone and the metalimnetic oxygen minimum layer in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang. Korean J Limnol. 22:159–166

Kim B, Choi K, Kim C, Lee U-H, Kim Y-H. 2000. Effects of the summer monsoon on the distribution and loading of organic carbon in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang, Korea. Water Res. 34:3495–3504.

Kim B-C, Heo W-M, Hwang G-S, Kim D-S, Choi K-S. 1995. The distribution of phosphorus fractions in Lake Soyang. Korean J Limnol. 28:151–157. Korean

Kim B, Jung S. 2007. Turbid storm runoff in Lake Soyang and their environmental effect. J Korean Soc Environ Eng. 29:1185–1190. Korean

Kim B, Park J-H, Hwang G, Jun M-S, Choi K. 2001. Eutrophication of reservoirs in South Korea. Limnology. 2:223–229.

Kim B-C, Shim JH, Cho K-S. 1985. Temporal and spatial variation of chlorophyll a concentration in Lake Soyang. J Korean Soc Water Qual. 1:18–23.

Kim K, Kim B, Eom J, Choi Y, Jang C, Park H-K. 2009. The distribution of POC and DOC in four reservoirs on the North Han River and the relationship with algal density. J Korean Soc Water Qual. 25:840–848. Korean

Kim L-H, Choi E, Stenstrom MK. 2003. Sediment characteristics, phosphorus types and phosphorus release rates between river and lake sediments. Chemosphere. 50:53–61.

Knoll LB, Vanni MJ, Renwick WH, Dittman EK, Gephart JA. 2013. Temperate reservoirs are large carbon sinks and small CO2 sources: results from high-resolution carbon budgets. Global Biogeochem Cy. 27:52–64.

[KMA] Korean Meteorological Administration [Internet]. http://www.kma.go.kr/

Kowalczewska-Madura K, Gołdyn R, Dera M. 2015. Spatial and seasonal changes of phosphorus internal loading in two lakes with different trophy. Ecol Eng. 74:187–195.

Lee J-Y, Kim J-K, Owen JS, Choi Y, Shin K, Jung S, Kim B. 2013. Variation in carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in POM and zooplankton in a deep reservoir and relationship to hydrological characteristics. J Freshwater Ecol. 28:47–62.

Liu E, Shen J, Yuan H, Zhang E, Du C. 2013. The spatio-temporal variations of sedimentary phosphorus in Taihu Lake and the implications for internal loading change and recent eutrophication. Hydrobiologia. 711:87–98.

Marce R, Martínez EN, Armengol J, Caputo L, López P. 2006. Elemental ratios in sediments as indicators of ecological processes in Spanish reservoirs. Limnetica. 25:499–512.

Martins G, Peixoto L, Brito AG, Nogueira R. 2014. Phosphorus–iron interaction in sediments: can an electrode minimize phosphorus release from sediments? Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol. 13:265–275.

Michalak AM, Anderson EJ, Beletsky D, Boland S, Bosch NS, Bridgeman TB, Chaffin JD, Cho K, Confesor R, Daloğlu I. 2013. Record-setting algal bloom in Lake Erie caused by agricultural and meteorological trends consistent with expected future conditions. P Natl Acad Sci. 110:6448–6452.

Morellón M, Valero-Garcés B, González-Sampériz P, Vegas-Vilarrúbia T, Rubio E, Rieradevall M, Delgado-Huertas A, Mata P, Romero O, Engstrom DR. 2011. Climate changes and human activities recorded in the sediments of Lake Estanya (NE Spain) during the Medieval Warm Period and Little Ice Age. J Paleolimnol. 46:423–452.

Mushtaq B, Raina R, Yousuf A, Wanganeo A, Shafi N, Manhas A. 2015. Chemical characteristics of bottom sediments of Dal Lake Srinagar, Kashmir. Development. 1:1–7.

Nikolai SJ, Dzialowski AR. 2014. Effects of internal phosphorus loading on nutrient limitation in a eutrophic reservoir. Limnologica. 49:33–41.

Park J-H, Duan L, Kim B, Mitchell MJ, Shibata H. 2010. Potential effects of climate change and variability on watershed biogeochemical processes and water quality in Northeast Asia. Environ Int. 36:212–225.

Perkins R, Underwood G. 2001. The potential for phosphorus release across the sediment–water interface in an eutrophic reservoir dosed with ferric sulphate. Water Res. 35:1399–1406.

Reddy K, Fisher M, Ivanoff D. 1996. Resuspension and diffusive flux of nitrogen and phosphorus in a hypereutrophic lake. J Environ Qual. 25:363–371.

SanClements MD, Fernandez IJ, Norton SA. 2009. Soil and sediment phosphorus fractions in a forested watershed at Acadia National Park, ME, USA. Forest Ecol Manage. 258:2318–2325.

Seo A, Lee K, Kim B, Choung Y. 2014. Classifying plant species indicators of eutrophication in Korean lakes. Paddy Water Environ. 12:29–40. Seo JI, Nakamura F, Nakano D, Ichiyanagi H, Chun KW. 2008. Factors controlling the fluvial export of large woody debris, and its contribution to organic carbon budgets at watershed scales. Water Resour Res. 44. doi:10.1029/2008WR007165

Shope CL, Bartsch S, Kim K, Kim B, Tenhunen J, Peiffer S, Park J-H, Ok YS, Fleckenstein J, Koellner T. 2013. A weighted, multi-method approach for accurate basin-wide streamflow estimation in an ungauged watershed. J Hydrol. 494:72–82.

Søndergaard M, Jensen JP, Jeppesen E. 2003. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. Hydrobiologia. 506:135–145.

Stewart J, Tiessen H. 1987. Dynamics of soil organic phosphorus. Biogeochemistry. 4:41-60.

Tamura H, Goto K, Yotsuyanagi T, Nagayama M. 1974. Spectrophotometric determination of iron (II) with 1, 10-phenanthroline in the presence of large amounts of iron (III). Talanta. 21:314–318.

Tang W, Zhang H, Zhang W, Shan B, Zhu X, Song Z. 2015. Dynamics of heavy metals and phosphorus in the pore water of estuarine sediments following agricultural intensification in Chao Lake Valley. Environ Sci Pollut Res. 22:7948–7953.

Teodoru CR, Del Giorgio PA, Prairie YT, St-Pierre A. 2013. Depositional fluxes and sources of particulate carbon and nitrogen in natural lakes and a young boreal reservoir in Northern Québec. Biogeochemistry. 113:323–339.

Wan M, Shchukarev A, Lohmayer R, Planer-Friedrich B, Peiffer S. 2014. Occurrence of surface polysulfides during the interaction between ferric (hydr) oxides and aqueous sulfide. Environ Sci Technol. 48:5076–5084.

Wang F, Chapman PM. 1999. Biological implications of sulfide in sediment—a review focusing on sediment toxicity. Environ Toxicol Chem. 18:2526–2532.

Wang L, Liang T. 2015. Distribution characteristics of phosphorus in the sediments and overlying water of Poyang Lake. PLoS One 10:e0125859.

Wang S, Jin X, Pang Y, Zhao H, Zhou X, Wu F. 2005. Phosphorus fractions and phosphate sorption characteristics in relation to the sediment compositions of shallow lakes in the middle and lower reaches of Yangtze River region, China. J Colloid Interface Sci. 289:339–346. Wang S, Qian X, Han B-P, Luo L-C, Hamilton DP. 2012. Effects of local climate and hydrological conditions on the thermal regime of a reservoir at Tropic of Cancer, in southern China. Water Res. 46:2591–2604.

[WAMIS] Water Management Information System [Internet]. http://www.wamis.go.kr/

Wersin P, Höhener P, Giovanoli R, Stumm W. 1991. Early diagenetic influences on iron transformations in a freshwater lake sediment. Chem Geol. 90:233–252.

Wetzel RG. 2001. Limnology: lake and river ecosystems. 3rd ed. San Diego (CA): Academic Press.

Williams WJ. 1979. Handbook of anion determination. Oxford (UK): Butterworth-Heinemann.

Wipfli MS, Richardson JS, Naiman RJ. 2007. Ecological linkages between headwaters and downstream ecosystems: transport of organic matter, invertebrates, and wood down headwater channels. Wiley Online Library.

[WCD] World Commission on Dams. 2000. Dams and development: a new framework for decision-making. London (UK): Earthscan.

Xu Y, Schroth AW, Isles PD, Rizzo DM. 2015. Quantile regression improves models of lake eutrophication with implications for ecosystem-specific management. Freshwater Biol. 60:1841–1853.

Yang Z, Wang L, Liang T, Huang M. 2015. Nitrogen distribution and ammonia release from the overlying water and sediments of Poyang Lake, China. Environ Earth Sci. 47: 771–778.

Yu F, Zou J, Hua Y, Zhang S, Liu G, Zhu D. 2015. Transformation of external sulphate and its effect on phosphorus mobilization in Lake Moshui, Wuhan, China. Chemosphere. 138:398–404.

Zan F, Huo S, Xi B, Su J, Li X, Zhang J, Yeager KM. 2011. A 100 year sedimentary record of heavy metal pollution in a shallow eutrophic lake, Lake Chaohu, China. J Environ Monit. 13:2788–2797.

Zhang R, Wu F, Liu C, Fu P, Li W, Wang L, Liao H, Guo J. 2008. Characteristics of organic phosphorus fractions in different trophic sediments of lakes from the middle and lower reaches of Yangtze River region and Southwestern Plateau, China. Environ Pollut. 152:366–372.

# Chapter 4 REFLECTED CHANGES OF WATERSHED ACTIVITIES IN SEDIMENT COMPOSTION OF RESERVOIR SYSTEM UNDER MONSOON CLIMATE

Kiyong Kim¹, Klaus H. Knorr², Bomchul Kim³, Manfred Freichen⁴, and Stefan Peiffer^{1*}

¹ Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, Universitaetsstrasse 30,
95440 Bayreuth, Germany

² University of Muenster, Institute of Landscape Ecology, Ecohydrology and

Biogeochemistry Group, Heisenbergstrasse 2, Muenster, 48149, Germany

³ Kangwon National University, Chuncheon, 200-701, Gwangwon, Republic of Korea

⁴ Leibniz Institute for Applied Geophysics, Stilleweg, Hannover, 30655, Germany

*Corresponding author: s.peiffer@uni-bayreuth.de

# 4.1 ABSTRACT

Reservoirs are located in watersheds as experiencing a variety of activity changes, such as land use changes, soil disturbance for agricultural purposes, and deforestation, within the watersheds. In order to reconstruct the effects of changes in land use for reservoir water quality under monsoon climate, the chemical composition of sediments (carbon (C), nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), sulfur (S), and isotopes of C and N) and water quality parameters (suspended solid (SS), chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*), and Secchi disk (SD) depth) were studied. Sediment cores were taken along a transect from the inlet to the dam of Soyang Reservoir and water samples were collected in the deepest part of the reservoir. Additionally,

water quality data from previous studies were used to track historical water quality changes of the reservoir water. The changes of a trophic state and of an activity in the watershed were well preserved in bottom sediment cores in the Soyang Reservoir. Until the late 1990s, C and N deposition was mainly autochthonous along with eutrophication driven by fish farming. The terrestrial input has clearly increased after fish-farm business was terminated as indicated by an increase in soil-borne elements (Fe, Mn, S, and P) as well as terrestrial C. Such increase coincides with an increase in loads of nutrients and SS following changes in land use in parts of the upper catchment (agricultural land expansion and application of external soils for improving crop land quality). Recently, the increased agricultural activity in the Soyang Reservoir watershed has the greatest effect on the water quality of the Soyang Reservoir under monsoon climate and the effect was well preserved in the bottom sediment of the reservoir.

#### **4.2 INTRODUCTION**

Artificial reservoirs have been constructed for multiple reasons (agriculture, hydroelectric power generations) worldwide, and also in many Asian countries (WCD 2000, An and Jones 2000, Gupta et al. 2012). Reservoirs commonly receive higher amounts of sediment and nutrients from their watershed since the reservoirs interact with a much larger watershed area than natural lakes (Thornton 1990, Kennedy 2001). Reservoirs were often constructed in rivers and the run-on-the-river reservoirs contact a much larger area of terrestrial watershed compared to natural lakes because of the long, narrow, and dendrictic shape (Chapman 1996). Additionally, many reservoirs lack of well fostered wetland area, which filters runoffs from watersheds, due to frequent fluctuations in water levels (Wetzel 2001). Therefore, water quality in reservoirs is more sensitive to watershed activity such as land use change. Rainfall increased the potential effect of watershed activity to reservoir by flushing process. In monsoon climate

countries, the monsoonal rainfall can be a main factor for the exports of pollutants to the downstream water body (Kim et al. 2000, Park et al. 2010). Bottom sediment in reservoirs contains important information when assessing aquatic environments and record chronological information regarding changes of environmental factors, anthropogenic activities, and trophic states in watersheds (Szarlowicz and Kubica 2014). The Bottom sediments in reservoirs mostly provide a higher temporal resolution compared to sediments of natural lakes due to higher sedimentation rates (Wetzel 2001). Based on many existing studies, the ²¹⁰Pb dating technique is currently considered as a reliable indicator to estimate sediments ages in lacustrine systems (Arnaud et al. 2006, Tošić et al. 2012). However, reservoirs are spatiotemporally more dynamic compared to similar sized natural lakes (cf. irregular outflow, high water level fluctuations and relatively short residence times depending on the reservoir management) (Filstrup et al. 2009, Tang et al. 2014). The ²¹⁰Pb dating technique is thus commonly applied to natural lakes but much less to artificial reservoirs and here additional analyses to support sediment age estimations may be necessary to obtain precise paleolimnological reconstructions. Carbon (C) stable isotopes have thereby been recognized as a powerful tool to trace organic matter (OM) sources in many environments because the  $\delta^{13}$ C ratio varies distinctively for various C sources, phytoplankton, C3, C4 plants, and soils (Deines 1980, Kendall et al. 2001, Ogrinc et al. 2005). Nitrogen (N) stable isotopes can further serve as indicator to reflect processes in the watershed, such as land use change, (Filstrup et al. 2010). Moreover, the C/N ratio can help to distinguish sources of OM, i.e. from terrestrial soils or lacustrine sediments, also in combination with C and N stable isotopes (Usui et al. 2006, Tue et al. 2011, Zhao et al. 2015).

In this study, we have therefore studied the bottom sediments of a reservoir located in the monsoon climate zone of South Korea and receiving water from a catchment that is partially heavily used for agricultural purposes. We hypothesized sediment incorporates the chronological information of land use changes and trophic states variations.

# 4.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.3.1 Study site



Figure 4.1 Study sites. (A: South Korea (Blue colored) in North East Asia B: Soyang watershed (Blue colored) in Korea Peninsula, C: Land uses in Soyang watershed, and D: Sampling points in Soyang reservoir)

Soyang Reservoir is the largest and the deepest artificial reservoir in South Korea with a maximum depth of 120 m and a capacity of water of 2.9 billion cubic meters (Water Management Information System website; <u>www.wamis.go.kr</u>). The mean residence time is about 275 days (Kim et al. 2001). The reservoir was constructed for multiple purposes, such as water supply in the dry season, flood control, and power generation, in 1973 on the North Han River system located in central region of the Korean peninsula (Fig. 4.1). The main inflowing river, Soyang River, contributes 90 % of the water supply (Kim et al. 2000). The reservoir is warm-monomictic, and has a vertical mixing period in the winter season. However, the area of an inflow inlet is frozen due to its shallower depth (less than 20 m) compared to its depth in front of dam. The reservoir has a typical dendritic shape with a mean width of 750 m and a length of main stem of about 60 km, which limits horizontal water mixing by wind, (Kim et al.

2000). The area of the watershed is 2,703 km² (www.wamis.go.kr) and most of the watershed is covered by forest (about 90 %). The watershed also includes small areas of cropland (about 5 %) where agricultural activities have increased and intensified recently (Fig. 4.1, Park et al. 2010, Jung et al. 2012, Kim et al. 2014). The watershed of Soyang Reservoir is scarcely populated and soil erosion by the agricultural expansion is a major source of SS to the reservoir water (Shope et al. 2013) causing a turbid density current in the middle layer of the reservoir (Kim and Kim 2006). The mean annual precipitation in the watershed is 1,100 mm (www.wamis.go.kr) and more than half of it falls during the summer monsoon season (June to Aug.), including frequent and intensive rain events (Hwang et al. 2003, Park et al. 2010, Kettering et al. 2012). In certain years (cf. in 1999 and 2006), typhoons or strong winds accompanying intensive rainfalls induced large amounts of woody debris and SS from the watershed into the reservoir (Kim et al. 2000, Jung 2012). The trophic state of Soyang Reservoir varied over time. The reservoir had been in an oligotrophic state at the beginning of impoundment but it has turned to a meso-/eutrophic state following the input of nutrients from fish farming and from agricultural areas after monsoon rainfalls (Cho et al. 1991, Kim et al. 2001). However, the water quality and trophic state are currently improving (Seo et al. 2014), presumably due to the cessation of fish farming. The reservoir plays an important role as a supply of drinking water for the Seoul metropolitan area (Jo et al. 2010, Bartsch et al. 2014).

#### 4.3.2 Methods

**Procedures for field works** A site adjacent to the dam, which is the deepest part of the reservoir (St. D; Fig. 4.1) was chosen for water samples to determine SS, Chl. *a*, and SD. Water samples were collected by a horizontal Van Dorn water sampler (KC, Silkeborg, Denmark) from the several depths (0, 2, 5, 10, and 10 m intervals to the bottom). Collected samples were

stored below 4°C before Chl. *a* and SS analyses. SD depth was measured monthly in two consecutive years from a boat using a standard Secchi disk (diameter 30 cm). Sediment samples were collected using a gravity corer (UWITEC, Mondsee, Austria) along distance transect from the dam site to the area the main inflow. Initially five sampling sites (St. 1 to 5; Fig. 4.1) were selected for the sediment samples in 2012 and 2013 and additional sediment samples were collected from a former fish farm area (St. F) in 2013 (Fig. 4.1). Sediment traps, constructed of stainless material, were deployed 5 times from July to October in 2013 at St. D near the dam (Fig. 4.1) and were installed at 3 depths (20, 50, and 80 m depth) at the site. Sedimentation rates of C and N in the water columns of the reservoir were calculated based on the trap experiment data.

**Procedures for pre-treatment and analyses** Water samples were filtrated through GF/C filters and the filters were subsequently stored frozen until analysis of Chl. *a* by the Lorenzen method (APHA 2012). SS amounts in water samples were calculated by measuring the differences in weight of GF/F filters before filtration and dried filter paper (1hr, 105 °C) after filtration of water samples (APHA 2012). Sediment core samples were segmented using a customized core cutter device at 1, 2, or 5 cm intervals according to visual identification of layers. Grain size distributions of the sediments were analyzed using a Mastersizer 2000 (Malvern, UK) after sonication. Grain size distributions are displayed as D 10 (size of 10th % diameter), D 50 (size of 50th % diameter) and D 90 (size of 90th % diameter) values representing the cumulative percentile value of the particles in the sediment sample that are finer than the corresponding D grain size. C, N,  $\delta^{13}$ C and,  $\delta^{15}$ N were analyzed in sediment samples after freeze-drying. Relative C and N isotope abundances were measured with an elemental analyzer in dual-element analysis mode (Carlo Erba 1108, Milano, Italy) coupled to an isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta S Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany) thorough a ConFlo III open-

split interface (Finnigan MAT). Relative isotope abundances are denoted using the common  $\delta$  notation, calculated as follows:

Equation 4-1

$$\delta^{13}$$
C or  $\delta^{15}$ N =  $\left(\frac{\mathbf{R}_{sample}}{\mathbf{R}_{standard}} - 1\right) \times 1000 \%$ 

in which  $R_{sample}$  and  $R_{standard}$  are the ratios of the heavy isotope to the light isotope of the samples and the respective standards. Standard gases (N and CO₂, respectively) were calibrated against international standards (N in air and Pee Dee Belemnite (PDB), respectively) by use of the reference substances N1 and N2 for the nitrogen isotopes and Australian National University (ANU) sucrose and NBS 19 for the C isotopes. The further elemental composition (P, S, Fe, Mn, Ca, Cd, Cu, and Pb) were detected by energy-dispersive X-ray fluorescence (XRF) spectrometry (ZSX Primus II, Rigaku, Japan), mixing 0.5 g of milled sediment powder with 50 mg of XRF pelleting agent (Licowax 21 C, APC Solutions SA). This mixture was pressed to a 13 mm pellet for subsequent analysis. One sediment core (obtained at St. 1 in Sep. 2012) was used for sediment dating using ²¹⁰Pb. We applied the constant rate of supply (CRS) model to the measured ²¹⁰Pb activity, which assumes a constant unsupported ²¹⁰Pb flux to the sediment allowing for temporal variation of the deposition rate. The sediment accumulation rate was then calculated (Appleby and Oldfield, 1978) as follows:

Equation 4-2

$$t = \lambda^{-1} \times \ln(\frac{A_{\infty}}{A_{x}})$$

where t is the time in years,  $\lambda$  is the ²¹⁰Pb decay rate constant (0.031 yr⁻¹), and A_∞ is the integrated value for ²¹⁰Pb activity from bottom to surface, A_x is the integrated activity from bottom to depth x.

## 4.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 4.4.1 Sediment age

The ²¹⁰Pb activity in the core taken at St.1 decreased from the top sediment until a depth of 12 cm (Fig. 4.2) below which the activity reached a constant value with some fluctuations with depth (40.3  $\pm$ 13.3 Bq kg⁻¹, n=10). Estimation of the sediment age using Equation 4.2 predicts that the dam construction in 1973 is located at a depth of 8 cm (dotted-line; Fig. 4.2) and the calculated average sedimentation rate was 0.2 cm yr⁻¹ with a range of 0.15 to 0.22 cm yr⁻¹ in different depths.



Figure 4.2 Profile of ²¹⁰Pb activity in a core at St. 1 (dotted-line indicates the temporal point of dam construction in 1973 calculated by the constant rate of supply (CRS) model)
The estimated sedimentation rate was much lower than observed in other reservoirs (e. g. 6 cm  $yr^{-1}$  in the Danube Iron Gate Dam; Vukovic et al. 2014, 4 cm  $yr^{-1}$  in the Partoon Reservoir; Arnason and Fletcher 2003, between 2 to 7 cm  $yr^{-1}$  in the Conowingo reservoir; McLean et al. 1991) and seems to be similar to natural lakes (e. g. ranging from 0.01 to 0.32 cm  $yr^{-1}$  in Lake Superior; Evans et al. 1981). It also contrasts a previous estimate of 1.0 cm  $yr^{-1}$  for the downstream part of Lake Soyang (Cheong and Jung 2006), which was calculated based on the discrimination of sediment features such as water content, lithologic structure, and organic matter contents. Similar discrepancies between ²¹⁰Pb dating technique observations and sediment stratigraphy were made in other reservoirs and were attributed to sediment disturbance by frequent water fluctuations and the relatively younger ages compared to natural lakes (Shotbolt et al. 2005, Filstrup et al. 2010, Winston et al. 2014). We therefore attempted to independently estimate sediment age from our sediment composition data.

The C/N ratios in the top sediment layers (0-10 cm) were constant with an average ratio of 9.4  $\pm 0.7$  (n=10) at St. 1 (Fig. 4.3). The ratios increased at a depth of 14 cm below which they remained constant with an average ratio of 40.1  $\pm 1.4$  (n=10). This value is characteristic for land-derived plants (Meyers 1994, Meyers and Ishiwatari 1993). Inversely, the low C/N ratios observed in the upper part are common in lacustrine sediments (average 8.9; Murase and Sakamoto 2000, approximately 10; Koszelnik et al. 2008).



Figure 4.3 Vertical profiles of C/N ratios in cores from St. 1 to 5 and St. F.

This pattern is reflected also by the vertical distribution of the C contents at St.1 which is identical to the C/N ratio (Fig. 4.3 and 4.4). The C contents were constant down to a depth of 10 cm with a mean value of  $2.7 \pm 0.4 \%$  (n=10) and sharply increased to a constant value of  $14.8 \pm 1.4 \%$  (n=10) below 14 cm depth. The C content decreased again slightly below 20 cm.



Figure 4.4 Vertical profiles of C contents in cores from St. 1 to 5 and St. F

Similar trends were observed in the vertical distribution of the C isotope signature (Fig. 4.5).  $\delta^{13}$ C values displayed some variation from the surface to 12 cm depth ranging between –26.3 and –23.7 ‰. Below the 12 cm depth, the  $\delta^{13}$ C values remained constant with an average value of –25.0 ±0.1 ‰ (n=10). The values of  $\delta^{15}$ N were distinctly higher above a depth of 12 cm than below that depth with much more variability between 4.7 ‰ at the top surface and 6.5 ‰ at 12 cm depth (Fig. 4.6). A strong decrease in  $\delta^{15}$ N values occurred in the bottom part below 12 cm depth to values of 4.0 ‰ at 28 cm depth (Fig. 4.6).

The vertical distributions of P, S, Fe, and Mn showed much variability above a depth of 13 cm while the concentrations leveled off to constant values below that depth with average concentrations of 1,101  $\pm$ 31.4 mgP kg⁻¹ (n=11), 897  $\pm$ 38.6 mgS kg⁻¹ (n=11), 1,258  $\pm$ 43.8 mgMn kg⁻¹ (n=11), and 51  $\pm$ 0.3 gFe kg⁻¹ (n=11), respectively (Fig. 4.7).



Figure 4.5 Vertical profiles of  $\delta^{13}$ C in cores from St. 1 to 5 and St. F



Figure 4.6 Vertical profiles of  $\delta^{15}$ N in cores from St. 1 to 5 and St. F



Figure 4.7 Vertical profiles of P, S, Fe, Mn, C/N ratio, C, N, and its isotopes in core at St. 1 (dotted-lines indicates presumed dam construction point (lower line) and an assumed boundary line between before and after agricultural lands expansion starting point (upper line))

A similar splitting of the sediment as indicated by the biogeochemical signatures is displayed by the vertical grain size distribution (Fig. 4.8). The D 90 value at St. 1 had a minimum of 15  $\mu$ m above 12 cm which increased again towards the sediment-water interface. Below 12 cm, the D 90 value matched a grain size corresponding to the sand fraction (>63  $\mu$ m). Such a splitting in grain-size distribution of Soyang Reservoir sediments has already been described earlier to distinguish between the pre- and post construction phase (Khim et al. 2005, Cheong and Jung 2006).

Considering the features of the vertical distributions of all these parameters, a clear boundary line can be identified at a depth of 13 cm in the core from St. 1, which we attribute to the starting point of flooding of the reservoir in 1973 after the dam construction with an adjusted average sedimentation rate of  $0.3 \text{ cm yr}^{-1}$  (lower dotted line; Fig. 4.8).



Figure 4.8 Vertical profiles of D 10, D 50, and D 90 values of grain size distributions from cores at St.1 to 5

#### 4.4.2 Lateral differences in Sediment composition

The grain sizes at St. 1 and St. 2 had a similar depth distribution (Fig. 4.8). However, the increase of the D 90 value with depth that is also slightly visible for the D 50 value is shifted towards a greater depth at St.2 (about 18 cm; Fig. 4.8) and disappeared at St.3 to 5. D90 values at St.5 are uniform and generally higher compared to depths below 2 cm at St. 1 and 2. We therefore interpret this shift in grain size to be due to higher sedimentation rates closer to the inlet of the reservoir which is a common phenomenon in run-of-the-river reservoirs and has also been described in a previous study in Soyang Reservoir (Khim et al. 2005, Thothong et al. 2011). Cheong and Jung in 2006 found that the sedimentation rate near St. 5 was about 20

times higher than close to the dam in the Soyang Reservoir (Cheong and Jung 2006). The increase of the D 90 values at the top layers of St. 1 and St. 2 presumably reflects a recent change in the deposition pattern and will be discussed below.

C contents are displaying a gradient reversal from St. 1 to St. 5 (Fig. 4.4). A strong gradient existed at St. 1 with low values (3%) at the top 10 cm that increased to 15 % below 16 cm depth. C contents were vertically uniform at St. 2 to St.4 with averages of  $4.8 \pm 0.5$  % (n=6),  $4.2 \pm 1.3$  % (n=6), and  $3.9 \pm 1.0$  % (n=7), respectively, while a sharp decrease was observed at St. 5 at a depth of 10 cm from 7.6  $\pm 0.5$  % (n=4) to  $2.1 \pm 0.9$  % (n=8) (Fig. 4.4). Apparently, C contents in the top sediment layers decreased from St. 5 to St. 1 (Fig. 4.4). Hence not only sedimentation rates seem to increase towards the inlet of the reservoir but also the amount of deposited carbon changes. Grain size distributions suggest that coarser material was deposited at the inlet area (St.5) containing a high amount of C while finer material carrying a relatively smaller amount of C traveled along the reservoir water to become deposited further downstream (Fig. 4.8).

Surprisingly, the top sediment layers at St. 1 and 2 are enriched in larger particles, which seems contradictory to a particle-size fractionation effect along the reservoir. However, in the last years a turbid current has developed in the reservoirs following heavy rainfalls along with changes in land use in the upper catchment. The turbidity current is known as significant source of allochthonous carbon (Kim and Jung 2007, Lee et al. 2012), nutrients (Jung 2012), and other elements such as Fe and Mn (Hong et al. 1989) transferred from the watershed to the reservoir water. We assume that the materials were deposited closer to the outlet of the dam.

It has been demonstrated that C export from the watershed significantly contributes to the total C input to the Soyang Reservoir during the monsoon period (Namkung et al. 2001, Kim et al. 2000, Jung 2012). C export from the mountainous area in the watershed has even increased recently following a process of agricultural land expansion in the mountainous area (Kim and

Jung 2007). This trend is reflected by the observation that sedimentation rates of both PON and POC were highest in all lake depths after heavy rainfall in the summer season (311 mgN m⁻²  $d^{-1}$ , 3,446 mgC m⁻²  $d^{-1}$  in the trap at 20 m depth, 536 mgN m⁻²  $d^{-1}$ , 5,010 mgC m⁻²  $d^{-1}$  in the trap at 50 m depth, and 380 mgN m⁻²  $d^{-1}$ , 3,841 mgC m⁻²  $d^{-1}$  in 80 m depth, respectively; Table 4.1). The increase in C contents in the sediment core at St. 5 (Fig. 4.4) suggests that C exports have increased lately which we attribute to a change in land use since the 2000s. Such land-use change increase is reported to drive soil erosion and to increase loads of SS in the inflowing stream (Kim and Jung 2007, Seo et al. 2013).

C/N ratios in the top sediment layers (above 8 cm) were decreasing from the inlet (>40) to the dam area (<10) indicating a shift from a terrestrial to a limnetic carbon source with increasing distance from the inlet. This observation is supported by the average value of  $\delta^{13}$ C in the top sediment (0–8 cm) at St. 5 (–25.7 ±0.1 ‰ (n=4), Fig. 4.5) which is similar to the  $\delta^{13}$ C values of topsoil in Soyang watershed (Table 4.2). Similar  $\delta^{13}$ C values were determined in the top sediment at St. 1 as shown above. Contrary to site 5, these values could be only found in a few centimeters of the core surface due to the lower sedimentation rate at St. 1 compared to St. 5.

Table 4.1 Sedimentation rates of PON and POC in three layers of Soyang Reservoir (PON: mgN  $m^{-2} d^{-1}$ , POC: mgC  $m^{-2} d^{-1}$ )

Times (dates)	At 20 m		At 50 m		At 80 m	
	PON	POC	PON	POC	PON	POC
$\frac{1^{\text{st}}}{(\text{July 4}^{\text{th}}-16^{\text{th}})}$	88	920	38	344	72	593
2 nd (July 16 th -26 th )	311	3446	536	5010	380	3841
3 rd (July 26 th –Aug. 2 nd )	36	320	136	1150	113	957
4 th (Aug. 22 nd –Sep. 23 rd )	20	165	72	586	66	546
5 th (Sep. 23 rd –Oct. 17 th )	-	-	50	355	51	368

Table 4.2 Average values of  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N in various sources in Soyang reservoir and the watershed environment – literature reviews and referring personal data (s.d.: standard deviation)

source	year	$\delta^{13}C$	s.d.	$\delta^{15}N$	s.d.	references
soil	2007	-23.4	0.8			Lee et al. 2012
leaf litter	2007	-24.9	1.5			Lee et al. 2012
phytoplankton (diatom)	2007-2009	-32.0	2.5			Lee et al. 2012
phytoplankton (blue green algae)	2007-2009	-22.6	1.7			Lee et al. 2012
zooplankton (pre monsoon)	2007-2009			6.6	2	Lee et al. 2012
zooplankton (post monsoon)	2007-2009			4.3	1.5	Lee et al. 2012
watershed topsoil	2012	-26.4	0.9			Jung's data (n=81) unpublished
watershed topsoil	2012			3.2	1.5	Jung's data (n=81) unpublished

# 4.4.3 Sediments matching changes in Soyang Reservoir water quality

From a limnological point of view the Soyang reservoir history can be divided into 4 periods according to changes in the trophic state of the reservoir, which is well documented by variations of water quality parameters, i.e. Secchi disk (SD) depth, Chl. *a*, and SS (Table 4.3).

Table 4.3 History of trophic state changes and important events in Soyang Reservoir since the dam construction in 1976 - literature reviews

Period	Trophic state	Year	Events (ref.)
1 st	Oligo-	1973- 1985	Dam construction completed (1973) Onset of Fish farms setup (1980) Emerging turbid water in entire depth caused by intensive monsoon rainfall (1984)(Kim et al. 1989)
2 nd	Eutro-	1986- 1999	Fish farm expansion, The first advert of bluegreen algae (Anabena spp. in 1986; Cho et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1998) Blue green algal bloom during late summer (Sep.) in 1986-1989 (Kim et al. 1989) Hypolimnetic oxygen deficit since 1987 (Hong et al. 1989, Kim et al. 1989) Massive bluegreen algae growth with SD only 0.7 m in 1990 (Jung 2012, Kim and Jung 2007) Most C loads in 1990 in 15 years, 1986-2000, (42421 tC y ⁻¹ ; Namgung et al. 2001) Cyanobacterial bloom in 1992, 1995 (Pack et al. 1998) Meso-eutrophic state based of TSI (trophic state index ) in 1993 (Kim et al. 2001) Increased turbid water input with allochthonous C from the reservoir watershed in 1996 (Kim et al. 2000) Fish farm eliminations since 1998 and anabaena cells decreased in 3 year, 1996-1998 (Kim et al. 1999) Massive turbid water entered after intensive rainfall in summer in1999
3 rd	Meso/ Oligo-	2000- 2005	Phytoplankton species change (cyanobacteria to dinoflagellates and chrysophytes) Oligotrophication sign based on nutrient concentrations, phytoplankton species and transparency data. Increase in P load since 2000 from watershed (Kim and Jung 2007, Jung 2012)
4 th	Meso/ Eutro-	2006- 2012	After typhoon, Turbid water out released from the dam to the downstream for over 6 months in 2006 (Kim and Jung 2007) Frequent turbid water inflow from watershed after monsoon climate summer rainfall

The dam construction had been completed in 1973 and the reservoir has been impounded after the construction. The reservoir had remained in an oligotrophic state during the 1st period (1973–1985) before fish-farm business had started. The reservoir had then experienced eutrophication with frequent blue green algal blooms and the lowest SD values after summer rainfall in the 1980s and early 1990s (SD was as low as 0.7 m in 1989 during an algal bloom; Kim et al. 1989, Kim et al. 2001, Jung 2012). The trophic state has changed into meso/eutrophic conditions during the 3rd period (2000-2005) after the fish-farm business was banned in the reservoir followed by an increase in transparency of reservoir water. SDs were  $5.1 \pm 1.8$  m (n=12) in 2012 and  $4.5 \pm 2.2$  m (n=12) in 2013 respectively (data not shown).

The reservoir history is also reflected by the distributions of elements in the sediment. As outlined above clear changes in element composition followed the dam construction. However, the element composition does not match the periods distinguished by the history of water quality data (Fig. 4.7). Rather, a remarkable increase in the concentrations of all studied elements occurs in the top sediment layers above 4 cm depth (upper dotted-line; Fig. 4.7), where P, S, Fe, and Mn even reached their maximum values. This concentration increase seems to reflect the increased export of soil material from the watershed following an expansion of agricultural activity since the 2000s (Kim and Jung 2007). Soil disturbances by an increasing use of agricultural machinery since the late 1990s as well as the practice to apply external soil material to improve soil quality in the upper catchments facilitated soil erosion along with the expansion of agriculturally used areas in this watershed (Park et al. 2010, Jung 2012, Jun 2015).  $\delta^{13}$ C values (– 25.9 to –26.3 ‰) as well as  $\delta^{15}$ N values (4.7 to 5.2 ‰) are corresponding to values measured in top soils in the watershed ( $\delta^{13}$ C = –26.4 ±0.9 ‰ (n=81); Jung, unpublished data,  $\delta^{15}$ N = 3.2 ±1.5 ‰ (n=81); Meusburger et al. 2013 in Table 4.2).

The change in the composition of the youngest sediment layers is also reflected by a recent change in reservoir water quality data, which severely deteriorated since 2006 along with massive inflow of turbid water (Kim and Jung 2007, Park et al. 2010, Jung 2012). In both of the years studied, the SS concentration increased in the metalimnion after heavy rainfalls following turbid current inflow and it remained high in the hypolimnion after the monsoon season in 2013 reaching the maximum SS concentration within the 2 years (49.1 mg L⁻¹ in July; Fig. 4.9).



Figure 4.9 Variations of precipitation amounts in Soyang Reservoir watershed (Chuncheon Si) and suspended solids (SS) distributions of Soyang Reservoir for 2 years

Development of a dense population of cyanobacteria during the autumn season (Aug.-Sep.) became an annual characteristic in the reservoir (Kim et al. 1999, Choi et al. 2001, Srivastava et al. 2015). It is regarded to be fuelled by the inflowing turbid water from the watershed contributing to nutrient supply to phytoplankton before becoming released from the reservoir or deposited in the bottom sediment (Lee et al. 2012). However, based on its average Chl *a* concentrations in the epilimnion for 2012 and 2013 ( $3.4 \pm 2.3 \mu g L^{-1}$  (n=60) in 2012 and 2.8

 $\pm 2.6 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$  (n=60) in 2013, respectively) the trophic state of the reservoir would be regarded to be oligotrophic (Wetzel 2001). Surprisingly, The Chl *a* concentrations in the lake water has drastically decreased compared to the concentrations in the 1990s implying less contribution of autochthonous organic matter relative to allochthonous organic matter to deposition of the bottom sediment.

In contrast to St. 1, signals of autochthonous eutrophication are clearly visible in the sediment core from Station F, which reflects a fjord isolated from the main inflow and being strongly affected by fish farming. Therefore, the biogeochemical signals in the core strongly differ from those in the main body of the reservoir. Similar to the core from St. 1 a strong gradient in C content was visible increasing from  $3.0 \pm 0.4 \%$  (n=7) in the top layers to  $10.9 \pm 2.5 \%$  (n=11) below 14 cm (Fig. 4.4). It appears that only autochthonous carbon contributed to the bottom sediment at St. F compared to St. 1 even though the distance between two sites is only about 3 km (Fig. 4.1). In contrast to St. 1 also the N content in the sediment from station F increased below 14 cm (Fig. 4.10) making the vertical distributions of C/N ratios remarkably constant and indicative of algal sources. This assumption is supported by the vertical C and N isotope distributions which were completely different between the two sites (Fig. 4.5 and 4.6).  $\delta^{13}$ C values at St. F drastically decreased with depth from -25.6 to -40.1 ‰ below 26 cm showing an opposite trend compared to St. 1. Massive algal blooms had been frequently observed during the period of fish farming (Lee et al. 1998) which resulted in the deposition of phytoplankton depleted in  $\delta^{13}$ C compared to terrestrial plants (Hamilton and Lewis Jr. 1992, De Junet et al. 2009).  $\delta^{15}$ N signals increased gradually downward from the surface (5.7 ‰) to the bottom (11.2 ‰) of the core from St. F (Fig. 4.6), Such an an increase has been attributed to eutrophication in reservoirs and lakes (Filstrup et al. 2009, Winston et al. 2014). Indeed, the values of  $\delta^{15}N$ found in bottom sediment at St. F were similar with the value of  $\delta^{15}N$  from fertilizer sources (10-25; Teranes and Bernasconi 2000).



Figure 4.10 Vertical profiles of N contents in cores from St. 1 to 5 and St. F

# 4.4.4 Indicators for a growing influence of external watershed-based processes on sediment composition and future water quality.

Our data are clearly demonstrating the influence of the catchment on sediment composition and sediment quality in Soyang Reservoir. As a consequence, changes in agricultural activity in the watershed starting in the early 2000s have severely affected the chemical composition of the sediments as reflected by an increase in concentration of catchment borne elements in the top sediment layers. The change in agricultural activity in the Soyang watershed consists mostly of cultivation of former forested slope toes in the agriculturally heavily used upstream catchment (Haean catchment). The catchment is known as a hot spot of agricultural non-point pollution (Kettering et al. 2012, Shope et al. 2013). The steep slopes in the catchment promote loss of soil material and fertilizers during rainy seasons (Lee 2008) which is amplified by an increase in heavy storm events in South Korea (about 90 mm / decade for 30 years, 1973-2007; Choi et al. 2008). In the receiving Soyang river, which is the main inflowing stream to Soyang Reservoir concentrations of nutrients, C, Fe, Mn, and turbidity have therefore increased compared to the period before 1995 (Hong et al. 1989, Kim and Jung 2007, Park et al. 2010,

Jung 2012). Nutrient concentrations are showing a trend of increasing concentrations in an inflowing river of the reservoir since 1995 (Fig. 4.11).



Figure 4.11 Annual variations of TN and TP concentrations in a main inflow stream to Soyang Reservoir (Soyang River) since 1996 (source: www.water.nier.go.kr)

Recently studies focusing on bottom sediment have been conducted with diverse aspects. **Schroeder et al. 2016** looked into diatom assemblages in a core to match the assemblages to chronological history of the watershed and **Cardoso-Silva et al. 2016** studied vertical distributions of heavy metals in cores of a reservoir in Brazil to assess the heavy metal pollution by anthropogenic sources in the watershed. In some studies, Pb contamination was also evaluated by analyzing the vertical profiles of Pb concentrations in sediment cores at reservoirs in China (Zhang et al. 2016) and in South Korea (Lee et al. 2013). In a similar way with this study, some studies have used sediment cores to reconstruct the trophic state change (Fontana et al. 2014) and agricultural intensification (Ni et al. 2015), however it seems that studies, which related in reservoir water process (by water quality monitoring) and watershed activity concurrently, are still limited.

To date, the effect of altered land use in the upper catchment on water quality is only partially visible and future changes are to be expected. The accumulation of redox active substances (Fe, S) in the sediment may impact on nutrient mobility as well as formation of more reduced hypolimnetic water composition during stratification (e. g. sulphide formation). Moreover, already now the accumulation of carbon in the sediments close to the inlet appears to trigger methanogenesis and ebullition of methane. All together, our data are suggesting that Soyang Reservoir is undergoing a regime shift following a change in watershed activities.

#### **4.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

This study was carried out in the framework of the International Research Training Group TERRECO (GRK 1565/2), funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) at the University of Bayreuth (Germany) and the Korean Research Foundation (KRF) at Kangwon National University (South Korea). We would like to express special thanks to Dr. Gilfedder. (University of Bayreuth) for the productive discussion and also sincerely thank to Prof. Gebauer (University of Bayreuth) for stable isotopes analyses of carbon and nitrogen.

#### **4.6 REFERENCES**

An K-G, Jones JR. 2000. Temporal and spatial patterns in salinity and suspended solids in a reservoir influenced by the Asian monsoon. Hydrobiologia 436(1-3):179-189.

American Public Health Association [APHA], American Water Works Association, and Water Environment Federation. 2012. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 22nd ed. Washington (DC).

Appleby P, Oldfield F. 1978. The calculation of lead-210 dates assuming a constant rate of supply of unsupported 210 Pb to the sediment. Catena 5(1):1-8.

Arnason JG, Fletcher BA. 2003. A 40+ year record of Cd, Hg, Pb, and U deposition in sediments of Patroon Reservoir, Albany County, NY, USA. Environmental Pollution 123(3):383-391.

Arnaud F, Magand O, Chapron E, Bertrand S, Boës X, Charlet F, Mélières M-A. 2006. Radionuclide dating (210 Pb, 137 Cs, 241 Am) of recent lake sediments in a highly active geodynamic setting (Lakes Puyehue and Icalma— Chilean Lake District). Science of the Total Environment 366(2):837-850.

Bartsch S, Frei S, Ruidisch M, Shope CL, Peiffer S, Kim B, Fleckenstein JH. 2014. River-aquifer exchange fluxes under monsoonal climate conditions. Journal of Hydrology 509:601-614.

Cardoso-Silva S, de Lima Ferreira PA, Moschini-Carlos V, Figueira RCL, Pompêo M. 2016. Temporal and spatial accumulation of heavy metals in the sediments at Paiva Castro Reservoir (São Paulo, Brazil). Environmental Earth Sciences 75(1):1-16

Chapman, Deborah. 1996. Water Quality Assessments - A Guide to Use of Biota, Sediments and Water in Environmental Monitoring. Third Edti. edited by Deborah Chapman. London: E&FN Spon (on behalf of WHO)

Cheong D, Jung HM. 2006. Change fo sedimentary facies of the Soyang Lake sediment and its effects on the environmental sedimentology sicne the construction of the Soyang River Dam. Journal of the Geological Society of Korea 42(2):199-234, Korean

Cho K-S, Kim B-C, Heo W-M, Kim D-S. 1991. EUTROPHICATION OF THE MAJOR RESERVOIRS IN KOREA. Rep. Suwa, Hydrobiol. 7:21-29

Choi G, Kwon W-T, Boo K-O, Cha Y-M. 2008. Recent spatial and temporal changes in means and extreme events of temperature and precipitation across the Republic of Korea. Journal of the Korean Geographical Society 43(5):681-700.

Deines P.1980. The isotopic composition of reduced organic carbon, In "Handbook of Environmental Isotope Geochemistry.1, The Terrestrial Environment, Part A (P. Fritz and J. Fontes, Eds.), pp. 329-406. Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, New York

De Junet A, Abril G, Guérin F, Billy I, De Wit R. 2009. A multi-tracers analysis of sources and transfers of particulate organic matter in a tropical reservoir (Petit Saut, French Guiana). River research and applications 25(3):253-271.

Evans JE, Johnson TC, Alexander E, Lively RS, Eisenreich SJ. 1981. Sedimentation rates and depositional processes in Lake Superior from 210 Pb geochronology. Journal of Great Lakes Research 7(3):299-310.

Filstrup CT, Scott JT, Lind OT. 2009. Allochthonous organic matter supplements and sediment transport in a polymictic reservoir determined using elemental and isotopic ratios. Biogeochemistry 96(1-3):87-100.

Filstrup CT, Thad Scott J, White JD, Lind OT. 2010. Use of sediment elemental and isotopic compositions to record the eutrophication of a polymictic reservoir in central Texas, USA. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management 15(1):25-39.

Fontana L, Albuquerque ALS, Brenner M, Bonotto DM, Sabaris TP, Pires MA, Cotrim ME, Bicudo DC. 2014. The eutrophication history of a tropical water supply reservoir in Brazil. Journal of Paleolimnology 51(1):29-43.

Gupta H, Kao S-J, Dai M. 2012. The role of mega dams in reducing sediment fluxes: A case study of large Asian rivers. Journal of Hydrology 464:447-458.

Hamilton S, Lewis W. 1992. Stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes in algae and detritus from the Orinoco River floodplain, Venezuela. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 56(12):4237-4246.

Hong G-H, Cho S-L, Park S-Q. 1989. Nutrients and particulate organic matters in Lake Soyang during the thermally stratified period. Journal of Korean Society for Water Quality 5(1):1035-1046

Hwang S-J, Kwun S-K, Yoon C-G. 2003. Water quality and limnology of Korean reservoirs. Paddy and Water Environment 1(1):43-52.

Jo K-W, Park J-H. 2010. Rapid release and changing sources of Pb in a mountainous watershed during extreme rainfall events. Environmental science & technology 44(24):9324-9329.

Jun M-S. 2015. An institutional plan to manage areas in Gangwon province that are vulnerable to nonpoint source pollution. Research Institute for Gangwon. Korean

Jung B-J, Lee H-J, Jeong J-J, Owen J, Kim B, Meusburger K, Alewell C, Gebauer G, Shope C, Park J-H. 2012. Storm pulses and varying sources of hydrologic carbon export from a mountainous watershed. Journal of Hydrology 440:90-101.

Jung S-M. 2012. Characteristics of nonpoint source pollution in the Han River and effects of turbid water on aquatic ecosystem [PhD dissertation].Kangwon National University. Korean

Kendall C, Silva SR, Kelly VJ. 2001. Carbon and nitrogen isotopic compositions of particulate organic matter in four large river systems across the United States. Hydrological processes 15(7):1301-1346.

Kennedy, Robert H. 2001. Considerations for Establishing Nutrient Criteria for Reservoirs. Lake and Reservoir Management 17(3):175–87.

Kettering J, Park J-H, Lindner S, Lee B, Tenhunen J, Kuzyakov Y. 2012. N fluxes in an agricultural catchment under monsoon climate: a budget approach at different scales. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 161:101-111.

Kim B-C, Cho K-S, Heo W-M, Kim D-S. 1989. The Eutrophication of Lake Soyang. Korean Journal of Limnology 22(3):151-158, Korean

Khim B-K, Jung HM, Cheong D. 2005. Recent variations in sediment organic carbon content in Lake Soyang (Korea). Limnology 6(1):61-66.

Kim B, Choi K, Kim C, Lee U-H, Kim Y-H. 2000. Effects of the summer monsoon on the distribution and loading of organic carbon in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang, Korea. Water Research 34(14):3495-3504.

Kim B, Jung S. 2007. Turbid storm runoff in Lake Soyang and their environmental effect. Korean Society of Environmental Engineers Special Feature: 1185-1190. Korean

Kim B, Kim J-O, Jun M-S, Hwang S-J. 1999. Seasonal Dynamics of Phytoplankton and Zooplankton Community in Lake Soyang. Korean Journal of Limnology 32(2):127-134, Korean

Kim B, Park J-H, Hwang G, Jun M-S, Choi K. 2001. Eutrophication of reservoirs in South Korean Limnology 2(3):223-229.

Kim I, Le QB, Park SJ, Tenhunen J, Koellner T. 2014. Driving Forces in Archetypical Land-Use Changes in a Mountainous Watershed in East Asia. Land 3(3):957-980.

Kim Y, Kim B. 2006. Application of a 2-dimensional water quality model (CE-QUAL-W2) to the turbidity interflow in a deep reservoir (Lake Soyang, Korea). Lake and Reservoir Management 22(3):213-222.

Koszelnik P, Tomaszek J, Gruca-Rokosz R. 2008. Carbon and nitrogen and their elemental and isotopic ratios in the bottom sediment of the Solina-Myczkowce complex of reservoirs. Oceanological and Hydrobiological Studies 37(3):71-78.

Lee E-J, Kim B-C, Cho K-S. 1998. Patterns of phytoplankton community structure at inlet site (Sanggul-Ri) in Lake Soyang from 1984 to 1997. Korean Journal of Limnology 31(2):119-128. Korean

Lee J-Y. 2008. A Hydrological Analysis of Current Status of Turbid Water in Soyang River and Its Mitigation. Journal of Soil & Groundwater Env 13(6):85-92, Korean

Lee J-Y, Kim J-K, Owen JS, Choi Y, Shin K, Jung S, Kim B. 2012. Variation in carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in POM and zooplankton in a deep reservoir and relationship to hydrological characteristics. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 28(1):47-62.

Lee P-K, Jo HY, Chi S-J, Park S-W. 2013. Metal contamination and solid phase partitioning of metals in the stream and bottom sediments in a reservoir receiving mine drainage. Applied Geochemistry 28:80-90.

McLean R, Summers J, Olsen C, Domotor S, Larsen I, Wilson H. 1991. Sediment accumulation rates in Conowingo Reservoir as determined by man-made and natural radionuclides. Estuaries 14(2):148-156.

Meusburger K, Mabit L, Park J, Sandor T, Alewell C. 2013. Combined use of stable isotopes and fallout radionuclides as soil erosion indicators in a forested mountain site, South Korea. Biogeosciences 10(8):5627-5638.

Meyers PA. 1994. Preservation of elemental and isotopic source identification of sedimentary organic matter. Chemical Geology 114(3-4):289-302.

Meyers PA, Ishiwatari R. 1993. Lacustrine organic geochemistry—an overview of indicators of organic matter sources and diagenesis in lake sediments. Organic geochemistry 20(7):867-900.

Murase J, Sakamoto M. 2000. Horizontal distribution of carbon and nitrogen and their isotopic compositions in the surface sediment of Lake Biwa. Limnology 1(3):177-184.

Namkung H, Kim B, Hwang G, Choi K, Kim C. 2001. Organic matter sources in a reservoir (Lake Soyang); Primary production of phytoplankton and DOC, and external loading. Korean Journal of Limnology 34(3):166-174. Korean

Ni Z, Wang S, Chu Z, Jin X. 2015. Historical accumulation of N and P and sources of organic matter and N in sediment in an agricultural reservoir in Northern China. Environmental Science and Pollution Research:1-14.

Ogrinc N, Fontolan G, Faganeli J, Covelli S. 2005. Carbon and nitrogen isotope compositions of organic matter in coastal marine sediments (the Gulf of Trieste, N Adriatic Sea): indicators of sources and preservation. Marine Chemistry 95(3):163-181.

Park H-D, Kim B, Kim E, Okino T. 1998. Hepatotoxic microcystins and neurotoxic anatoxin-a in cyanobacterial blooms from Korean lakes. Environmental Toxicology and Water Quality 13(3):225-234.

Park J-H, Duan L, Kim B, Mitchell MJ, Shibata H. 2010. Potential effects of climate change and variability on watershed biogeochemical processes and water quality in Northeast Asia. Environment International 36(2):212-225.

Schroeder LA, Martin SC, Kerns GJ, McLean CE. 2016. Diatom assemblages in a reservoir sediment core track land-use changes in the watershed. Journal of Paleolimnology 55(1):17-33.

Seo A, Lee K, Kim B, Choung Y. 2014. Classifying plant species indicators of eutrophication in Korean lakes. Paddy and Water Environment 12(1):29-40.

Seo B, Bogner C, Poppenborg P, Martin E, Hoffmeister M, Jun M, Koellner T, Reineking B, Shope C, Tenhunen J. 2014. Deriving a per-field land use and land cover map in an agricultural mosaic catchment. Earth System Science Data 6(2):339-352.

Shope CL, Bartsch S, Kim K, Kim B, Tenhunen J, Peiffer S, Park J-H, Ok YS, Fleckenstein J, Koellner T. 2013. A weighted, multi-method approach for accurate basin-wide streamflow estimation in an ungauged watershed. Journal of Hydrology 494:72-82.

Shotbolt LA, Thomas AD, Hutchinson SM. 2005. The use of reservoir sediments as environmental archives of catchment inputs and atmospheric pollution. Progress in physical geography 29(3):337-361.

Srivastava A, Ahn C-Y, Asthana RK, Lee H-G, Oh H-M. 2015. Status, alert system, and prediction of cyanobacterial bloom in South Korea. BioMed research international 2015.

Szarlowicz K, Kubica B. 2014. 137Cs and 210Pb radionuclides in open and closed water ecosystems. Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry 299(3):1321-1328.

Tang Q, Bao Y, He X, Zhou H, Cao Z, Gao P, Zhong R, Hu Y, Zhang X. 2014. Sedimentation and associated trace metal enrichment in the riparian zone of the Three Gorges Reservoir, China. Science of the Total Environment 479:258-266.

Teranes JL, Bernasconi SM. 2000. The record of nitrate utilization and productivity limitation provided by δ15N values in lake organic matter—A study of sediment trap and core sediments from Baldeggersee, Switzerland. Limnology and Oceanography 45(4):801-813.

Thornton, Kent W., Bruce L. Kimmel, and Forrest E. Payne. 1990. Reservoir Limnology: Ecological Perspectives. John Wiley & Sons.

Thothong W, Huon S, Janeau J-L, Boonsaner A, De Rouw A, Planchon O, Bardoux G, Parkpian P. 2011. Impact of land use change and rainfall on sediment and carbon accumulation in a water reservoir of North Thailand. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 140(3):521-533.

Tošić R, Todorović DJ, Dragićević SS, Bikit IS, Forkapić S, Blagojević B. 2012. Radioactivity and measurements of sediment deposition rate of the Drenova reservoir (B&H). Nuclear Technology and Radiation Protection 27(1):52-56.

Tue NT, Hamaoka H, Sogabe A, Quy TD, Nhuan MT, Omori K. 2011. The application of δ13C and C/N ratios as indicators of organic carbon sources and paleoenvironmental change of the mangrove ecosystem from Ba Lat Estuary, Red River, Vietnam. Environmental Earth Sciences 64(5):1475-1486.

Usui T, Nagao S, Yamamoto M, Suzuki K, Kudo I, Montani S, Noda A, Minagawa M. 2006. Distribution and sources of organic matter in surficial sediments on the shelf and slope off Tokachi, western North Pacific, inferred from C and N stable isotopes and C/N ratios. Marine Chemistry 98(2):241-259.

Vukovic D, Vukovic Z, Stankovic S. 2014. The impact of the Danube Iron Gate Dam on heavy metal storage and sediment flux within the reservoir. Catena 113:18-23.

[WAMIS] Water Management Information System [Internet]. http://www.wamis.go.kr/

[WCD] Dams WCo. 2000. Dams and development: a new framework for decision-making. Earthscan ^ eLondon London.

Wetzel RG. 2001. Limnology: lake and river ecosystems. Gulf Professional Publishing.

Winston B, Hausmann S, Escobar J, Kenney WF. 2014. A sediment record of trophic state change in an Arkansas (USA) reservoir. Journal of Paleolimnology 51(3):393-403.

Zhang R, Guan M, Shu Y, Shen L, Chen X, Zhang F, Li T, Jiang T. 2016. Reconstruction of historical lead contamination and sources in Lake Hailing, Eastern China: a Pb isotope study. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 23(9):9183-9191.

Zhao Y, Wu F, Fang X, Yang Y. 2015. Topsoil C/N ratios in the Qilian Mountains area: Implications for the use of subaqueous sediment C/N ratios in paleo-environmental reconstructions to indicate organic sources. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 426:1-9.

# **Contribution to the studies**

## Manuscript 1 (Chapter 2)

Authors: Kiyong Kim, Bomchul Kim, Jaesung Eum, Bumsuk Seo, Christopher L. Shope, Klaus H. Knorr and Stefan Peiffer

**Title**: Impacts of land use change and summer monsoon climate on nutrients and sediment exports to stream water quality in an agricultural catchment

Journal: Water Research

Status: ready to submit

Own and author contributions statement:

**Own contribution**: concept and study design 50%, data acquisition 50%, analyses of samples 50%, data analyses and figures 90%, discussion of results 70%, manuscript writing 70%

K. Kim, B. Kim, S. Peiffer, and C. L. Shope designed the research

K. Kim, J. Eum, and B. Seo performed the field research and analyzed the data.

Samples were analyzed in the Kangwon National University, South Korea

K. Kim, C. L. Shope, B. Seo, S. Peiffer, and B. Kim interpreted and discussed results.

Figures and tables were created by K. Kim

**K.** Kim wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

The manuscript was revised and finished by K. Kim, C. L. Shope, S. Peiffer, and B. Kim

# Manuscript 2 (Chapter 3)

Authors: Kiyong Kim, Bomchul Kim, Klaus H. Knorr, Jaesung Eum, Youngsoon Choi, Sungmin Jung, and Stefan Peiffer

**Title**: Potential effects of sediment processes on water quality of an artificial reservoir in the Asian monsoon region

Journal: Inland Waters

**Status**: accepted (31st December 2015)

# Own and author contributions statement:

**Own contribution**: concept and study design 60%, data acquisition 70%, analyses of samples 70%, data analyses and figures 80%, discussion of results 60%, manuscript writing 70%

K. Kim, B. Kim, K. H. Knorr, and S. Peiffer designed the research

**K. Kim, J. Eum, Y. Choi, and S. Jung** performed the field research and analyzed the data. Samples were analyzed at the **Hydrology department in University of Bayreuth**, Germany and in the **Kangwon National University**, South Korea

K. Kim, B. Kim, K. H. Knorr, and S. Peiffer interpreted and discussed results.

Figures and tables were created by K. Kim and S. Peiffer

K. Kim wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

The manuscript was revised and finished by K. Kim, B. Kim, K. H. Knorr, and S. Peiffer

# Manuscript 3 (Chapter 4)

Authors: Kiyong Kim, Klaus H. Knorr, Bomchul Kim, Manfred Freichen, and Stefan Peiffer

**Title**: Reflected Changes of watershed activities in sediment composition of reservoir system under monsoon climate

Journal: Journal of Soils and Sediments

Status: ready to submit

# Own and author contributions statement:

**Own contribution**: concept and study design 60%, data acquisition 70%, analyses of samples 60%, data analyses and figures 80%, discussion of results 60%, manuscript writing 60%

K. Kim, B. Kim, K. H. Knorr, and S. Peiffer designed the research

K. Kim performed the field research and K. Kim and M. Freichen analyzed the data.

Samples were analyzed at the Hydrology department in University of Bayreuth, Germany,

Leibniz Institute for Applied Geophysics, Germany, and in the Kangwon National University, South Korea

K. Kim, B. Kim, K. H. Knorr, and S. Peiffer interpreted and discussed results.

Figures and tables were created by K. Kim

K. Kim wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

The manuscript was revised and finished by K. Kim, B. Kim, K. H. Knorr, and S. Peiffer

# (Eidesstattliche) Versicherungen and Erklärungen

## (§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 6 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich mich damit einverstanden, dass die elektronische Fassung meiner Dissertation unter Wahrung meiner Urheberrechte und des Datenschutzes einer gesonderten Ü berprüfung hinsichtlich der eigenständigen Anfertigung der Dissertation unterzogen werden kann.

## (§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 8 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich eidesstattlich, dass ich die Dissertation selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

#### (§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 9 PromO)

Ich habe die Dissertation nicht bereits zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades anderweitig eingereicht und habe auch nicht bereits diese oder eine gleichartige Doktorprüfung endgültig nicht bestanden.

### (§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 10 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich keine Hilfe von gewerbliche Promotionsberatern bzw. -vermittlern in Anspruch genommen habe und auch künftig nicht nehmen werde.

Ort, Datum, Unterschrift